University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

2000

Domestic violence and the state: Abused women's perspectives on the "new" integrated services approach.

Sharron Lynne. Jarvis University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Jarvis, Sharron Lynne., "Domestic violence and the state: Abused women's perspectives on the "new" integrated services approach." (2000). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1778. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/1778

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

Bell & Howell Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UM®

Domestic Violence and the State: Abused Women's Perspectives on the "New" Integrated Services Approach

by

Sharron Lynne Jarvis

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research through the Department of Sociology and Anthropology in Partial Fuifillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Masters of Sociology at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wetlington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file. Votre réference

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-52578-3

Canadä

© 2000 Sharon Jarvis

ABSTRACT

The aim of this thesis is to hear abused women's perspectives on the new integrated approach to domestic violence and to analyze how the state addresses feminist demands on domestic violence. Three patterns emerged from a literature review on how the state has dealt with feminist demands in the past. Boyd's and Snider's concepts about social change were utilized to examine these three patterns. The three patterns were then compared to the way the state has dealt with feminist demands within Using an active interview approach ten the criminal justice system. abused women were asked if they felt empowered or victimized by the new integrated approach to domestic violence. The women were also asked their thoughts and feelings about having their injuries photographed and about making a video taped statement for the police. Overall, the women felt empowered by the Sexual Assault Treatment Center. They felt both empowered and victimized by the police and felt completely victimized by the court system. It is concluded that until the social and ideological inequalities in our society are changed social policies such as the new integrated approach might be beneficial to women on some level but that simply changing policies to include women will not necessarily benefit women in the long run.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to the ten courageous women who took part in this study and spoke out about the domestic violence they endured. Their strength and resilience will always be remembered.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is with great pleasure and honor that I acknowledge the people who have helped and supported me in obtaining this degree. Without the significant contribution of family, friends, and colleagues this degree would never have been completed.

First and foremost I would like to thank my committee members. My advisor Dr. Lynne Phillips who patiently guided me through the process of writing this thesis. It is through Lynne's excellent editing skills that my words and ideas came together in the written words within these pages. Dr. Alan Sears for his insightful suggestions and constructive ideas and to Dr. Charlene Senn for her useful comments and recommendations.

Besides my committee members I'd like to thank the other members of the sociology and anthropology department for their support throughout my academic career. A special thanks to all of the other sociology professors and sessional instructors for sharing their academic knowledge and resources with me.

Two other professors who deserve special consideration are Dr. Barbara Thomas from the Nursing Department for offering me her friendship through the past few years and a tutorial assistance position this past year. Also thanks to Dr. Shuraydi from sociology who continually encouraged me to apply to the Masters Program.

Thanks to the other graduate students in my class especially Lauretta 'Rosie' Loong who continually offered her support and numerous helpful suggestions for my research, Bonnie McKinnon for the loan of her tape recorder when mine conked out, and Tom Grainger who could relate to the complexities of student life as a mature student. A notable thanks to Arshia Zaidi for sharing her wisdom and knowledge with me for the past three years.

Thanks to the staff at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center and the Victim Witness Program for their assistance in locating women who were willing to be active participants in the research interviews. I am indebted to the 10 courageous women who came forward to be interviewed by me. I will always remember their strength and resilience to speak out about such a personal and difficult subject.

A heart filled thanks to four special friends. To Fran MacKinnon and Margaret Marshall, thank you for all the hours of support and laughter. At times when I doubted myself you two were always there to pick me up and encourage me to go on. At times when I became too full of myself the two of you were always there to pull me back to earth, kick me in the rear and remind me just who I was. This thesis belongs to you as much as it does to me. Thank you for being my friends. Thanks also to Pat Garant and Marilyn Stanciu for the emotional support throughout the past few years.

Also, I am very grateful to Edward and Kathy Pringle for all their assistance with my many computer problems.

An extra special thanks to my two grandchildren Caleb and Grace Jean who every Saturday morning took my thoughts from the academic world and let me see the world through the innocent wondrous eyes of children. Thank you to my daughter Wendy for listening to me vent my frustrations but never doubting that I would finish this project. Thanks to my son-in-law Harry Jean whose wonderful sense of humor reminded me not to take life too seriously. Thanks to my son Wayne for cooking all those wonderful meals while I was busy formulating my thoughts at the computer. Special thanks to my sister-in-law June Clarke who encouraged me to reach for my goal.

Thank you to my mother Donna Irene Pembleton who taught me by her actions that women can do anything they put their mind to. To my brother Bryan Pembleton, thank you, for showing me what real courage is when you bravely and without complaint faced the biggest challenge of your life. To my other brother Alan Pembleton thank you for being my brother and my friend, the deck is always open and the wine is always chilled.

I would like to thank my brother Terry Pembleton who died two years ago. A colleague once told me that with every death there is a gift, all you have to do is look for it. Terry's final gift to me was the realization that I needed to fulfill my dreams before it was too late. He was 51 years old when he died the same age I am today. It was through his death that I realized that if I wanted to fulfill my dream of obtaining a Masters Degree I needed to do it soon because time is too short and precious not to try to reach our dreams and goals.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my husband David Jarvis, my friend and lover for over the past 30 years. Thank you for always being there for me, believing in me, and trusting that I could do this, and no, I am not applying to a PhD program (this year).

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	iv
DEDICATION	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
1. INTRODUCTION: The "New" Integrated Approach	1
2. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK: Understanding the System from a Feminist Perspective.	8
A. How has the state dealt with feminist demands in the past?	11
1. Women's Work and Family Responsibilities	13
i. Maternity/Paternity Benefits ii. Daycare Benefits iii. Pay Equity	13 15 16
2. Reproductive Rights	19
3. Ideology of Motherhood and Traditional Values	22
B. Feminist Demands and the Criminal Justice System	27
1. Mandatory Arrest Policy	28
2. Battered Women's Shelter Movement	32
3. "No Drop" Policies	34
4. Battered Woman's Syndrome	37
C. Conclusion	40
3. METHODOLOGY	44
A. Obtaining the Sample	52
B. Demographics	59

C. Limitations of the Study	61
D. The Interviews	62
4. WOMEN SPEAK OUT	64
A. Empowerment or Victimization?	65
 i. The Sexual Assault Treatment Center ii. The Police iii. The Court System 	65 70 78
B. Gender Inequalities	86
C. Ideological Inequalities	92
D. Conclusion	96
5. WOMEN'S EXPERIENCES: Three Narrative Accounts	97
A. Pam's Experience	97
B. Brenda's Experience	101
C. Abby's Experience	104
D. Reflections on the Interview Process	107
E. Conclusion	111
6. ANALYZING THE "NEW" INYEGRATED SYSTEM	115
A. The Court System	116
B. The Police	127
C. The Sexual Assault Treatment Center	134
D. Conclusion	141
7. BEYOND THE NEW INTEGRATED SYSYEM	144
A. Gender	145
B. Compassion/Consistency	149

C. Economic Security	151
D. Concern for Children	155
E. Women's Safety	160
F. Conclusion	165
8. CONCLUSION: Policy Recommendations and Social Change	169
APPENDICES	175
BIBLIOGRAPHY	187
	193

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION: A "New" Approach to Domestic Violence

This study examines the "new" integrated approach to domestic violence¹ in a mid-sized city in Ontario. The aim of this project is both to hear women's views on the new integrated system and, more generally, to analyze how the state addresses feminist demands related to domestic violence. In May of 1997 the Ontario Government announced an additional allocation of \$27 million over a four year period to help eradicate violence against women. At that time, Dianne Cunningham (Minister Responsible for Women's Issues) stated that she looked forward to the day when violence against women is unacceptable to each and everyone of us (Government of Ontario, 1997). An Agenda for Action² was established with the aim of safety, prevention, and justice for victims of domestic violence. These aims were to be accomplished by streamlining and coordinating services related to domestic violence. An enhancement

¹ The term domestic violence can have many meanings and in some studies may be gender neutral, however for the purpose of this study, the term domestic violence refers to any physical incident inflicted on a woman by an intimate male partner with whom she is or has cohabited in the past three years.

and streamlining of services would mean that services which did not work together in the past would start to do so (Government of Ontario, 1997). Under the new integrated approach to domestic violence, shelters, hospital services, police services and the court system would work together for the betterment of victims of domestic violence.

The streamlining and coordination of services related to domestic violence and the beginning of the Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center (SATC) was fueled by the public outcry surrounding the death of Arlene May on March 8, 1996. Ms. May was murdered by her ex-partner Randy lles who was out of jail on a \$200 bail bond awaiting a court appearance for uttering death threats to Ms. May (Globe & Mail, July 3, 1998: A1). Mr. Iles had a long history of violence towards Ms. May. A police officer reported that Mr. Iles had been in court 14 times between November 1995 and March 8, 1996, and all of these court appearances involved violence against Ms. May (Globe & Mail, July 3, 1998: A1). Due to Ms. May's murder and the inconsistency that it pointed to within the criminal justice system in regards to domestic violence, a public outcry began that called for changes in the system. A coroner's jury inquest into the death of Ms. May made 209 recommendations to assist in the prevention, safety and justice for victims of domestic violence (Globe & Mail, July 3, 1998: A1). A Joint Commission on Domestic Violence was established to look into these recommendations and suggest changes where necessary.

Recently in Ontario the government has implemented two new procedures within the criminal justice system to improve the conviction rate of men who abuse their partners. Part of the new integrated approach to domestic violence includes the Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center (SATC) documenting and taking photographs of an abused woman's injuries, while she is in the emergency room. Just before the new integrated approach to domestic violence was announced the police started video taping abused women's statements against their abusive partners. Before these two procedures were in place the police would, at times, photograph injuries of victims of domestic violence. Also, in court abusive men often did not get convicted for the abuse they inflicted on their intimate partner or did not receive a severe sentence when they were found guilty. It was thought that this new way of documenting physical injuries of the abused woman would strengthen the conviction rate of abusive men. As of January 9, 1999 the Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center reported 100% success rate in convictions of men who assaulted their intimate partners when women went through this program. (Mandal, 1999: A1). However, the question needs to be asked: how successful are these programs from the women's perception and experience?

The Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center has been set up to assist women who are injured due to a domestic violent dispute. If a woman is assaulted and goes to the hospital a nurse trained in the

gathering of forensic evidence documents the injuries in writing and photographs. The woman signs releases of information and the information is passed on to the police and Crown Attorney's office if she so desires. Also, the police now video tape a woman's statement about the abusive incident in which she has been involved so that the physical injuries, as well as the emotional injuries are documented. Gathering evidence in this way is thought to strengthen the woman's case in court. The judge will believe the woman, and the abusive man will be given the maximum sentence.

This new system has been deemed successful in terms of the conviction rate but there is little research on how women think and feel about this new integrated way of gathering and documenting evidence for court. It was hoped by feminists, the government, and advocates working in the field of domestic violence, that this new way of documenting injuries would hold abusive men more accountable for their behavior and empower judges to convict and sentence abusive men. As part of a system to integrate services related to domestic violence, this new integrated system is seen by the government as not only an assistance to women in domestic violent situations but also a more efficient way of managing domestic violent cases (Government of Ontario, 1997).

The enhancement of the Sexual Assault Treatment Center to a mandate that includes wife assault is a new service set up by the Ontario Ministry of Health. It is important to examine this service from a feminist

perspective because, in the past, the services that have been set up to assist abused women have not always met their needs. Since this is a new service for victims of domestic violence, it is important to hear what women who use this service think and feel about it so that, if this service is not meeting the needs of abused women, changes can be implemented.

The two programs that this project will examine are the Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center and the Police Services to see what women who use these services think and feel about these two new procedures in relationship to the outcome their abusive partner receives in court. For this thesis, it is important to determine how women who use this new integrated approach to domestic violence feel about this new system. A feminist analysis is conducted here, focusing on women's thoughts and feelings as they went through the process at the SATC, with the police, while testifying in court, and finally, about the court cutcome. Were women empowered or victimized by these processes? An active interview approach (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995) is utilized to get at the heart of the woman's experience.

This new way of approaching domestic violence within the criminal justice system raises many questions. In the past the police, the court, and the hospital system has not always listened to or believed an abused woman when she has tried to seek help. Fischer and Rose (1995: 416-417) found that an abused woman felt empowered when someone believed her and tried to help her. Will this new approach to domestic

violence be an ally to women or just be another way the state has to control and monitor women's behavior? Is the state finally meeting feminist demands to listen to abused women's voices after years of silencing the voices of abused women? Does this new way of approaching domestic violence signal that domestic violence will be dealt with differently than in the past? Do these two new programs make a difference to the way women are treated and dealt with in the criminal justice system? Are women empowered by this process or do they feel victimized by it? What do women think and feel about the Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center? By asking women what they think and feel about this new system it will help us to understand the state's new role in resolving or managing domestic violence.

Since the beginning of the second wave of feminism in the late 1960s feminists have demanded and won changes within the criminal justice system for victims of domestic violence. These changes appear to give women more options than ever before. In this thesis, I examine the extent to which the policies and procedures that have been put in place help or hinder women in their quest for social justice. In this sense, this study will also address the broader question of the relationship between feminist demands and the state.

The remainder of this thesis is divided into seven chapters. The following chapter explains two theoretical views on women and social change and examines how the state has dealt with feminist demands in

the past. In this chapter, three themes emerge from the general literature on state policies and procedures. These three themes are then compared to policies and procedures that the state has implemented within the criminal justice system. Chapter three is the methodology chapter which explains the concept of active interviewing, why a feminist approach was chosen, and the details of how this research project was accomplished. In chapter four I present the women who participated in this project and their thoughts and feelings while going through the new integrated approach to domestic violence. Due to the fact that chapter four is organized around the women's comments, in chapter five three narrative accounts are presented to provide specific insight into the experience of the system as a whole which cannot be grasped through the examination of specific themes. Chapter six is an analysis of the women's comments on the new integrated approach to domestic violence. Chapter seven goes beyond the new integrated approach and examines five themes that were found in the women's comments on the new integrated system and analyzes these comments to determine if the new integrated approach meets women's own identified needs. Finally chapter eight discusses policy recommendations and social changes that need to occur for women to be safe in our society.

CHAPTER TWO

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK: Understanding

the System from a Feminist Perspective

The questions posed in chapter one indicate a need to understand how the state has previously dealt with feminist demands in general. Several feminist theorists discuss the inherent contradictions that can be found in government institutions and how these contradictions can be utilized to create changes that could benefit women (Brophy & Smart, 1985; Snider, 1997; Boyd, 1997; Chunn, 1997). Two theories on the concept of social change that are beneficial to this project are those of Snider (1997) and Boyd (1997). Although there are similarities in these theories there are also differences in how they believe feminists should work towards social change.

Snider (1997: 239) states we must not give more power to the criminal justice system because investing in it means increasing control in women's lives. Snider (1997: 239) believes that this power should be kept in feminist hands because the state has its own agenda which is not consistent with feminist demands and goals. The state's agenda is to increase social control over certain segments of the population that are seen as problematic (i.e. women, children, poor, ethnic or other radical groups). From Snider's perspective, when feminists use the criminal justice system to meet the needs of women they play into the state's hands and allow the state more invisible and unmonitored control over women's

lives. Therefore the state is not a reliable ally to women and it is theoretically, practicably, and morally wrong for feminists to rely on state power to meet their needs (Snider, 1997: 239).

Nevertheless, Snider (1997: 255-57) does state that when feminists place demands on the criminal justice system it will respond to change. However, once the pressure for change is lessened, deflected, or removed to other issues, the criminal justice system will reaffirm itself and go back to the normal pattern of maintaining and servicing its own interests. Snider (1997: 267) concludes that in order to meet feminist demands for equality the present social and economic patterns in society would have to change. She believes that the goal of feminism should be to fight for structural and ideological changes of our society and this goal can only be accomplished through feminists exerting external pressure on the state for change.

Boyd (1997: 20) agrees with Snider that we must be cautious of state action that, often, does little to improve the circumstances of women's lives. However, Boyd believes that the contradictions within the state contains spaces for resistance by social movements. She also states that since hegemony is not static it must be continually renewed and reenacted (Boyd, 1997: 21-22). Consequently, the use of law by progressive social movements represents an important form of resistance to oppression, even if these movements are participating in a process that often reinforces these or other hegemonic forces, (Boyd, 1997: 22) such

as patriarchy and capitalism. We must analyze social policies and laws in combination with other struggles to determine the weak and usable points of these social policies and laws because the exact outcome of a particular struggle is not predictable (Boyd, 1997: 22). Chunn (1997: 79-80) has a similar viewpoint, in that feminists must analyze and exploit the contradictions, within and outside state institutions, which create space for struggle and change.

In summary, on the one hand, Snider thinks that although the state can assist feminists when they demand social change she sees the need for feminists to continually exert external pressure so that changes are enforced. Snider believes that the main goal for feminists should be to change the structure and ideology of society so that equality can be obtained. On the other hand, Boyd believes that feminists should work within the state to create change because the contradictions within the state enable feminists to act upon these contradictions so that change can occur. These ideas will be utilized in this thesis to detect similar patterns in how the state has dealt with past feminist demands and also how the state has dealt with feminist demands within the criminal justice system.

In this chapter how feminist demands for equality have been dealt with by the state in the past will be examined to determine if patterns emerge that could benefit this study. Chunn (1997: 77) states that by looking at past struggles feminists can learn and build upon these struggles. What follows is an examination of the state's responses to

women's past demands in the area of the family and work; women's reproductive capacities, and the court system. This overview is undertaken to seek patterns and themes that could be useful when compared to how women's demands within the criminal justice system, with regards to domestic violence, have been managed. This investigation into feminist past demands and how the state has dealt with them raises the question: will this new approach to domestic violence follow the same pattern as past demands that feminists have made for equality?

The common thread throughout this research is that women's ideas, rights and voices are most often silenced or distorted in our society. This silencing and distortion support structural inequalities through which women are oppressed and exploited. The key issue in the review of past policies is: how does the silencing or distortion of feminist demands occur and what role does the state play in silencing feminist demands for equality?

A. How has the state dealt with feminist demands in the past?

Since the second wave of the feminist movement in the late1960s and the early 1970s feminists have challenged the Canadian state to change existing laws and policies that have discriminated against or made certain assumptions about women. Consequently, many new laws and policies have been developed and implemented due to feminist demands for equality. Feminists sought intervention from the state due to the inequalities that existed in the family and the workplace, inequalities that

heightened the distinctions between the public and private domains of society. Feminists demanded changes in all areas of women's lives--work, family and health.

In response to feminist demands for equality, the state has implemented nation-wide policies. However, in practice universal policies get translated differently for different groups of individuals, thereby marginalizing and disadvantaging individuals due to gender, class, race and ethnicity. Thus the impact of universal policies, laws and regulations affects everyone differently. Moreover, as Smart and Brophy (1985) point out, laws may appear to be gender neutral but the effects of the law are not. This is because legal statutes are not simply "read" but are enforced by (historically) patriarchal agents of the law, such as the police, lawyers and judges.

A review of the literature reveals three major patterns of how feminist demands have been dealt with by the state. The first pattern is that, while on the surface many policies appear to be meeting the needs of women, in actuality they often mask stark gender and class inequalities. The second pattern is that policies and laws that the state enacts in the name of helping women at times render women powerless and under state control. The final pattern that is found in the literature on state regulation is that state policies often reinforce the ideology of motherhood and traditional gender values, thereby emphasizing traditional inequalities between the private and public domains. How state regulation has

affected women's lives becomes clear in research and case studies on the following areas of feminist concerns: maternity/paternity benefits, day care benefits, pay equity, reproductive rights, and child custody issues.

1. Women's work and family responsibilities

i. Maternity/Paternity benefits

An examination of how the state has regulated women's work and family responsibilities illustrates how on the surface many policies appear to be universal and gender neutral but in actuality often mask gender and class inequalities. This is the case for maternity benefits, day care policies, and pay equity legislation. As women entered the labor force in greater numbers they demanded to be paid when they were off work due to childbirth, and to have job security when they returned to the labor force. They also demanded the same compensation for the father of the child. An example of this can be found in lyer's (1997) study of maternity/paternity benefits.

On the surface, maternity benefits appear to be universally applicable to all women. However upon closer examination this is not the case. In the maternity plan, women who work at least 700 hours within a specific 52 week period can collect 55% of their wages (lyer, 1997: 172). Thus earnings are directly tied to a woman's wages, and women with higher earnings get a larger percentage of benefits. If a woman does not meet these requirements, she will not receive any benefits even though she has been employed and has paid into them (lyer, 1997: 176).

Women who receive maternity benefits tend to be in heterosexual relationships, in the middle or upper class, have a high school or post secondary education, and to be over the age of 25 (lyer, 1997: 177). Since women must work a required number of hours to qualify for benefits this plan disadvantages and marginalizes those women who have paid into it but are ineligible to collect because of insufficient hours worked.

Paternity benefits were established to give women the opportunity to return to the work force, and to increase the father's bonding experience with the child (lyer, 1997: 180-82). However, if a father decides to take paternity leave there is a two week waiting period , whereas if the mother decides to take an extended maternity leave there is no waiting period (lyer, 1997: 180-2). This policy is neither gender nor class neutral considering both the fact that women earn less than men and the differential ramifications for low income families if they were to lose two weeks' wages.

Another problem with paternity benefits is that it reinforces heterosexual relationships and does not support individuals in alternative relationships. Maternity benefits can be collected by any birth mother regardless of sexual orientation (lyer, 1997: 171). However, paternity benefits can only be collected by parents. Since lesbians and gay men are still not able to adopt their partner's children they can never qualify for this program (lyer, 1997: 171). This means that couples in homosexual

relationships are disadvantaged because they do not have the same options for paternity leave as individuals in heterosexual relationships.

ii. Daycare benefits

Upon returning to work after maternity leave, one of the issues that women face is that of adequate daycare for their children. Therefore, feminists have been demanding both from the Ontario government and the federal government a universal daycare plan for all women who worked outside the home. By 1993 two thirds of mothers with children under the age of sixteen were in the labor force (Armstrong, 1997: 41). In spite of the fact that both the federal and provincial governments of the last 15 years have promised to establish a fully funded child care plan, they have not followed through, citing economic conditions as the reason. (Teghtsoonian, 1997: 114). At the taxpayers' expense, committees were formed, policy and legislation has been written, but to date no universal day care system is in place.

Since most women are in the work force day care is a societal problem but, by not establishing a universal day care system, the government makes a societal problem an individual responsibility for families who need this service. Also by not establishing a day care program it becomes more difficult for women who are in the work force to take full time jobs or establish a career. Women today often end up in part time, seasonal, temporary or casual employment because of the high cost and difficulty in finding good quality day care. In 1990 women working full

time were paid only 72% of the wages of men (Armstrong, 1997: 47). Since women earn less than men, if the family is to lose a wage earner it is usually the woman who stays home with the children. This pattern reinforces the ideology of the nuclear family with traditional morals and values.

Although the state does not provide a universal daycare it does provide subsided daycare for families with low income, single mothers, or women on social assistance. This is because low income families, single mothers and women on social assistance are encouraged to be in paid employment rather than caring for their children at home full time and being a financial burden to the state (Teghtsoonian, 1997: 118). By making day care available for some people and not others, and by paying women less than men this reinforces the class and gender inequality in our society which disenfranchises some individuals.

iii. Pay Equity

Upon entering the labor force many women soon realized that they were paid considerably less than men for doing the same or similar work. Feminists started to demand that pay equity policies be established and enforced. Since 1951 the Ontario government has had legislation in place mandating equal pay for equal work (Burt, 1993: 220-223). For the past four decades women have battled with the state to have pay equity policies enforced. Although some strides have been gained by women in the public sector and policies such as affirmative action legislation have

been accomplished, many women today still are not paid the same wages as men for the same work. The programs to change the imbalance in the labor force have not been effective because the legislation was weak or the policies were poorly written (Burt, 1993: 220-223).

Today women are demanding that the government be accountable for the pay equity legislation that it has drawn up on behalf of women. When one considers the time, effort, and money that has been spent on pay equity legislation, the question becomes: why has it been so poorly written and not enforced? By not enforcing pay equity legislation the state is keeping women in low paying jobs or in the home and out of the public sphere. Although the state has made some progress in helping women attain pay equity, it does not assist all working women to receive the same wages as men. On the surface it appears that the state has addressed the issue of pay equity, however in actuality many women are still not paid the same wage as men for work of equal value. This disadvantages women in the work force causing gender inequalities in our society.

There is no doubt that maternity/paternity benefits, daycare programs and pay equity legislation have improved women's working conditions both inside and outside the home. Some women enjoy the freedom to work outside the home, have their children cared for adequately while they work, and are paid the same as a man for doing the same or similar work. However, these programs were set up to assist all working women and that is not the case. Some women do not qualify for

maternity benefits; some families cannot afford to take paternity leave; and adequate daycare is not always available or affordable. Therefore a certain segment of the population cannot take advantage of these benefits. The programs that are thought to be universal end up disadvantaging and marginalizing certain groups of women. It is important to consider the possibility of this pattern in the present study to determine if the new integrated approach to domestic violence will assist all women in abusive relationships, or will it also disenfranchise certain groups of women.

The examination of maternity benefits, daycare benefits and pay equity legislation stresses the gender and class inequalities that occur within universal policies. Snider's idea is beneficial here because feminists outside of the institutions are able to see and point out the inequalities in universal policies. Universal policies try to fit everyone into the policies but society is not homogenous and not everyone fits neatly into the categories established by universal policies. Moreover, these policies often mask stark gender and class inequalities. In order to ensure that universal policies do not marginalize some groups of individuals feminists must continue to challenge the state about these issues. As Snider points out once feminists lessen the pressure for changes to occur the state goes back to reaffirming its own agenda of reinforcing the status quo. Therefore, although at times the state meets the demands and goals of feminists external pressure needs to be constantly applied for changes to be maintained and continue to occur.

2. Reproductive Rights

An examination of the literature on women and reproductive rights shows policies and laws that the state enacts in the name of helping women in this respect often render women powerless and under state control. A second pattern emerges when I examined at state responses to feminist demands for control over women's bodies. Birth control was illegal in the 1960s, though most women had access to some form of it. By purchasing birth control methods women sent a clear message to the government that they wanted control over their bodies. Finally in 1969 birth control and abortion were taken out of the Canadian Criminal Code making contraceptive devices and abortion permissible under specific conditions (McLaren and McLaren, 1986: 139). Although women won the right to control their own contraceptive usage, research, development, and technology surrounding women's reproduction abilities are managed and controlled by the government, the scientific community, the medical profession, and the pharmaceutical industry (McLaren and McLaren, 1986: 142). In this sense, women still do not have total control over their own fertility.

Another area where women still do not have control over their bodies is that of childbirth. Women now have children in hospitals, whereas in the first half of the twentieth century it was the norm to give birth at home with other females and a midwife in attendance (Andersen, 1988: 207-217). However with the rise of industrialization, medicine

progressed into a profession with specialties and new scientific techniques that took the pain out of child labor. With the development of obstetrics women started to rely more on doctors than on midwives. Hospital births took childbirth out of the home and the hands of women, putting it in the control of men and medical science (Andersen, 1988: 211). Rather than being viewed as part of a normal process, pregnancy and childbirth became defined as a medical event that took place in hospitals, with the use of drugs, instruments, and cesarean sections.

During the second wave of feminism the women's health movement took root. Women started to object to the medical model of health and started to take back control of their bodies. Women started opting for natural childbirth and recently midwives have been licensed in Ontario (Armstrong & Armstrong, 1996: 43-44). Although the midwives' knowledge comes from a scientific base it is women centered and family oriented with a team approach that stresses a community of care focusing on normal childbirth and health promotion (Armstrong & Armstrong, 1996: 44). However, since the medical profession is dominated by men and the medical model of medicine is still being practiced, the midwife orientation is marginalized and women still do not have complete control over childbirth.

What these examples demonstrate is how feminists have been challenging the state for the right to control their own bodies. The women's health movement developed and highlighted areas of concern within the medical community that were sexist and biased towards women,

not only in areas of reproduction, but also in other areas (McBride, 1993: 315). It was also recognized that women's health is greatly affected by the role they play in society. Since our society is male dominated, women's health has been constrained in a number of ways: females have frequently not been included as subjects in health care research; sociocultural/environmental factors have been ignored; women have experienced sex bias in treatment choices; health has been construed so that male behavior is regarded as normative; and a number of women's health concerns have not been taken seriously (McBride, 1993). Although strides have been made in these areas and some of these concerns have been addressed, women are still not in positions of authority within the medical profession. Since men are in the leadership and decision making roles women's health concerns are still in men's hands.

Even though the state has control over medical science, women today have more options available for when and where to have children due to demands made by feminism. By limiting and spacing their children women can now plan for careers. Also, the women's health movement has done much to heighten the visibility of women's lives and their health concerns. The women's health movement clearly illustrates Boyd's idea of how a progressive social movement can successfully challenge the state, even if this movement participates within hegemonic forces.

Throughout the discussion on reproductive rights and the women's health movement I have showed that women today still do not have total

control over their bodies, often at times this renders women powerless. However, as previously mentioned, women have made great gains in both areas. In these examples, I see both Snider's and Boyd's theories working together to complement each other. During the second wave of feminism much pressure was placed on the external state to meet the needs of women, and feminists working within the health movement pointed out contradictions within the system that created a space for change to occur.

3. Ideology of Motherhood and Traditional Values

A third pattern that emerges after an examination of the literature is that state policies reinforce the ideology of motherhood and traditional values. The ideology of motherhood is based on the idea that women who work outside the home (especially if they have young children) are not good mothers (lyer, 1997: 177). Traditional values refer to women doing women's work in the home, taking care of the household and child care responsibilities while men are considered the heads of the household, the major breadwinners and are privileged in the public sector. The obstacles of returning to work such as low wages, the high cost of child care and working a double day intensify the possibility that some women may not return full time to the work force.

Pay equity, maternity benefits and daycare policies are insidious because on the surface it appears that they are trying to assist women to remain in the work force when in reality they are reinforcing a gendered

labor force, class inequalities, and the ideology of motherhood and the nuclear family.

A good case of how the family and work for women get interwoven to reinforce the ideology of motherhood and traditional values is that of child custody laws. Just as pay equity policies, maternity/paternity benefits, and day care policies appear to be gender neutral so do child custody laws. During the second wave of feminism women's roles were changing both inside and outside the home. The liberalization of the divorce act in 1968 afforded many women the opportunity to leave unhappy marriages (Morton, 1990: 212). When parents separate or divorce child custody becomes an issue. The courts look at the best interests of the child to decide which parent will receive custody. Consequently, the gender of the parents should not be an issue. However, the ideology of motherhood seems to be subtly reinforced in child custody access and decisions (Boyd, 1997: 254).

Today, most women work outside the home, but in child custody cases women who are employed are constructed as selfish and putting their own interests first. For example, Judy Tyabji a woman in the British Columbia legislature lost custody of her three children in 1994 (Boyd, 1997: 253). Despite the fact that two court appointed experts recommended that she retain custody of her children and the trial judge stated that he was satisfied that both parents offered a more than satisfactory level of love, guidance, and security to the children, the mother

lost custody to the father (Boyd, 1997: 258-59). When the judge rationalized his decision to grant custody to the father Ms. Tyabji's career and ambitions were brought to bear on the case (Boyd, 1997: 259). Ms. Tyabji was seen as having a more aggressive career-oriented lifestyle than her ex-husband who lived in a rural area and worked in a grocery store. Ms. Tyabji's public life was seen as hindering her private life of being a mother to her children (Boyd, 1997: 253). This example clearly illustrates that when women fall outside the stereotype of what a mother should be they are handicapped by society's view of them.

Not only are heterosexual working mothers being discriminated against in child custody cases, but so are lesbian women when they try to gain custody of their children. The court room is a very public place and a lesbian's lifestyle is often portrayed as dangerous, criminal and pathological (Millbank, 1997: 282-286). In most custody cases the courts will believe the mother is unfit if she is a lesbian (Pollack, 1993: 265). Custody outcomes depend more on the attitudes of judges about homosexuality than on the facts of the case (Pollack, 1993: 265). Therefore, within the court system if women do not exemplify stereotypically feminine qualities or lead traditional lifestyles they are stigmatized by a judge's attitude of what a good mother should encompass.

The issue of child custody is important in this study because many women in domestic violent relationships have children. There are

numerous reasons for an abused woman who is leaving a domestic violent home to seek custody of her children. First, there is the threat of physical harm to the child. At times the abusive partner may also have abused the children, or through the struggles of a domestic violent dispute the child may have been put in harm's way. Second is the concern that the father may "snatch" the children from the mother or if the woman allows the abusive man visitation when no custody is established he may not return the children. Third, abusive men may use the children as a pawn to try to win back the woman's love and affection. Finally, if for some reason the father gains custody rights before the mother then the woman must fight in court to win back her children from the abusive man. For these reasons it is important for women who flee an abusive relationship to try and establish custody as soon after leaving the home as possible.

As I have shown from the literature review the court system is not always advantageous to women who seek custody of their children. However, when abused women leave the abusive home they need protection to keep their children with them and safe. At present the only way to accomplish this is to work through the court system to obtain legal custody of their children. However, as I have demonstrated when women fall outside of what may be considered the stereotypical pattern of motherhood and traditional values they can be impeded by the court system.

The ideology of motherhood and traditional values is subtly reinforced and permeates every aspect of our society. One of the difficulties when feminists work within areas that reinforce the ideology of motherhood and traditional values is that at times they may not be able to see the mechanisms that subtly work to reinforce these ideologies. Therefore, it is advantageous to have a strong feminist movement working outside these areas to change the social and economic conditions that underlie these mechanisms of reinforcement. As Snider points out it is not until the social and economic fiber of our society changes that feminist demands for equality will be met.

Overall, the case studies that have been presented here illustrate, first, how the state regulation of women's work and family responsibilities show a pattern of universal gender neutral policies and laws that masks gender and class inequalities. Second, that the state's regulation of women's reproductive rights and health issues often leaves women powerless to control their own bodies and reproductive capacities; and finally, that the ideology of motherhood and traditional values is reinforced in society not only by the court system but also by obstacles that are entrenched in our society to keep women in the home such as low wages and lack of affordable daycare. When I looked at the criminal justice system in regards to domestic violence it became important to consider whether or not the same patterns appeared.

Throughout this section I saw many contradictions within state policies that created space for struggle and the potential for change. Will these contradictions and the pockets of resistance for change continue to appear when I examine the criminal justice system? Snider believes that feminists should not rely on the criminal justice system to meet their goals and demands because the criminal justice system has its own agenda of maintaining and servicing the status quo. By utilizing the criminal justice system for change Snider thinks that feminists are playing into the state's hands and this will allow the state more invisible and unmonitored control over women's lives. Does the criminal justice system that deals with domestic abuse create spaces that feminists can use to agitate for change or does the criminal justice system try to monitor and control women's lives?

B. Feminist demands of the Criminal Justice System on Domestic Violence

Just as feminists have been striving towards equality in other areas of their lives they have also been challenging the criminal justice system in regards to violence against women. The anti-violence against women movement brought forth many new laws and policies for abused women, such as mandatory arrest policies, no drop policies, the battered woman's syndrome and the monitoring of battered women's shelters. After a careful examination of these laws and policies I saw the same three patterns

emerging for women in the criminal justice system as those identified in how the state has dealt with feminist demands in the past.

1. Mandatory Arrest Policy

The first encounter that a woman in a domestic violent situation has with the criminal justice system is with the police. Before the late 1970s wife assault was considered a private matter and only in extreme circumstances was a man arrested or charged with an offense. However, the anti-rape movement in the late 1970s heightened the awareness that violence against women was a crime (Faubert and Hinch, 1996: 231). Due to pressure from feminist groups to have wife assault viewed as a crime, on July 15, 1982, the federal Ministry of the Solicitor General of Canada sent a directive to the Canadian Association of the Chiefs of Police encouraging its cooperation in ensuring that police officers lay charges in all cases in which there were reasonable and probable grounds to believe that an assault had taken place (Jaffe, Hastings, Reitzel, & Austin, 1993: 71). Also in the early 1980s Tracey Thurman sued the Torrington Police Department for failure to protect her from an abusive partner and was awarded 2.3 million dollars by a federal jury (Sparks, 1997: 42). Since violence against women was now being taken more seriously by the criminal justice system, and due to police fears of being sued for failure to arrest an abusive man, mandatory arrest policies were established.

The criminal justice system is one that is supposed to give fair and equal treatment to everyone regardless of gender and class. However in the case of the mandatory arrest policy this is not always true. Mandatory arrest policies state that an officer will arrest anyone in a domestic assault incident where there is reasonable and probable grounds that an assault has occurred (Sparks, 1997: 42). Although this policy appears to be helpful to abused women, it has many flaws: it can be used against the abused woman if she is trying to defend herself because she can be arrested (Sparks, 1997: 44); it can put a woman's life in danger because, although the police arrest and charge the man, the woman must testify in court against a man who has threatened to kill her if she does testify; it also disempowers a woman because although the mandatory arrest policy states the police are to arrest an abusive man this does not always happen and if the abused woman requests to have her partner arrested it is often not taken seriously by the police (Buzawa, Austin & Buzawa, 1995: 460). For these reasons mandatory arrest policies set up to demonstrate a gender bias against women. What is needed is better protection for women and children when abusive men are arrested.

The police as law enforcement agents have a certain amount of liberty in how they use their power. Police departments are steeped in patriarchy; they are made up mostly of men who have a legitimate authority to use power and control over people (Sparks, 1997: 37). Within many police departments there is a social class stereotyping

(Faubert & Hinch, 1996: 42) so regardless of what the mandatory arrest policy states some officers may use discretionary power to determine whom to arrest and whom not to arrest. For example, in "deviant" groups where violence is part of the lifestyle, the police are hesitant to intervene because violence is considered a normal part of the group's composition and intervention in these cases is viewed as futile (Buzawa & Buzawa, 1996: 160). As well, battering in gay and lesbian couples may continue to be ignored due to homophobic police reactions (Ferraro, 1993: 168). With the police not intervening individuals in these groups continue to be abused and not to receive the same protection as other groups in society. However, in the case of lower income and racial and ethnic minority groups rates of arrest are much higher (Ferraro, 1993: 168). Mandatory arrest policies are not gender and class neutral because when police officers attend a domestic dispute they have a certain amount of leniency in how to interpret the policy and bring with them a set of ideas and beliefs about the individuals involved (Ferraro, 1993: 168-70). So, although policies that the state implements appear on the surface to be neutral, these policies mask not only gender inequalities but class inequalities as well.

A lack of consistency in who gets arrested and who does not get arrested can also lead to victim blaming (Roberts, 1985: 100). The mandatory arrest policy states everyone who has assaulted another individual should be arrested; however, the police are authority figures in

our society and if they do not make an arrest the problem is seen as being with the victim, not the police. For women in abusive situations who call the police for assistance during a domestic violent dispute, this raises the question of whether their abusive partners will be arrested. When women have a knowledge about the mandatory arrest policy and if the man is not arrested, the woman may internalize this to mean that she is either not being believed, or is somehow to blame for the violence. Also, the general population may believe that the woman is at fault since the abusive man was not arrested by the police.

Although mandatory arrest policies have enhanced the criminalization of domestic violence, better protection is needed for women and children when abusive men are charged and arrested. In a Canadian study Rigakos (1997: 210) found that breaches of restraining orders rarely resulted in an arrest. Stronger court sentences when a man is found guilty of these charges send an effective message, not only to the individual man, but also to society in general, that this kind of behavior will not be tolerated in our society.

As Snider (1997) has indicated the criminal justice system is not a reliable ally to feminists. She points out that the state's agenda is to increase social control over certain segments of the population that are seen as problematic. Since there is a certain amount of leniency in the mandatory arrest policy on who gets arrested and who does not get arrested, this policy may at times be used as a form of social control that

victimizes certain individuals or groups. The mandatory arrest policy has the potential to get translated differently for different individuals in our society. Domestic violence is a complex issue and due to the inequalities within the structure of our society the mandatory arrest policy does not benefit everyone equally. This means that some individuals are marginalized and disadvantaged by this policy.

2. Battered Women's Shelter Movement

During the second wave of feminism and the heightened awareness of violence against women, the battered women's movement began. This movement provided badly needed services to victims of domestic violence, such as crisis lines, counseling, and shelters for women who wanted to escape from their abusive partners (Schetcher, 1982: 81). Initially, the battered women's movement was organized at the grassroots level and shelters were often in older homes, funded by private donations and run by volunteers; many of these volunteers were battered women themselves. However, as more women sought safety, larger facilities, more staff and improved programs made it necessary to seek financial assistance from various state programs (Schetcher, 1982: 93).

Today, most shelters rely on state money to keep the shelter running. While accepting state money allows the shelter to run continuously, train staff, provide salaries and pay expenses, it also means that the shelter loses some autonomy because the state has a say in the running of the shelter. Many shelters are now organized and run like a

social service agency with professional staff, board members, and a bureaucratic hierarchy (Felter, 1997: 17). For the clients who use these shelters it means that they have little or no say in how the shelter is operated. The Battered Women's shelter movement reflects the second pattern that was identified in state policies and laws: while they claim to help women, they often render women more powerless and place them under state control.

However, shelters do provide a valuable service to women who need to escape an abusive relationship. Shelters have saved many women from severe beatings and even death. Committed front line crisis workers offer knowledge on domestic violence that allows an abused woman to make an informed choice about whether to leave or remain in an abusive relationship. Research indicates that just one day in a shelter, where victims encounter support, encouragement, and counseling, is beneficial in aiding the victim in her decision to leave an abusive relationship (Faubert & Hinch, 1996: 238).

The history of the battered women's shelter movement illustrates Boyd's (1997: 22) idea that progressive social movements can successfully challenge the hegemonic forces within which they often participate. Battered women's shelters have lost some autonomy due to the fact that funding now comes from the state. For example, at times this may mean that shelter workers cannot advocate to other services within the state for resources for abused women because to do so may put the

shelter funding in jeopardy. Funding by the state allows the state to control and monitor a shelter's activities. However shelters still provide an important service to women who need to flee from abusive men.

3. "No Drop" Policies

A policy that was developed that illustrates Boyd's point about progressive social movements is that of the "no drop" policy where an abused woman is compelled to testify against her husband. Legislation regarding wife assault rose out of feminist actions during the 1980s that heightened the awareness of violence against women as a crime. Before 1983 a woman in Canada could not be made to testify in court against her husband. However, in 1983 the Canada Evidence Act was revised to allow battered women to be compelled to testify against their abusive husbands (Jaffe, Hastings, Reitzel, & Austin, 1993: 71). This policy also focuses on crown attorneys and prosecutors and directs them to proceed with a case in court regardless of whether the victim wants to proceed or whether the victim wants the charges dropped (Ursel & Brickey, 1996: 66). This policy was drawn up to enforce rigorous prosecution and to limit the discretionary power of Crown Attorneys (Ursel & Brickey, 1996: 66). What this means for an abused woman is that she will be compelled to testify in court; if she refuses to testify then she can be prosecuted (Cretney & Davis, 1997: 75).

Initially the "no drop" policy was thought to empower women. Since the woman had no choice but to testify her partner could not harass her

into trying to get the charges dropped. However, since this policy has been implemented many other concerns have surfaced. Ford (1991) notes four important ways the law works against women. First, the law may exacerbate a woman's relationship and result in further violence, especially retaliatory violence against her (or her children) for having sought legal help in the first place. Second, prosecution can be costly for the victim because she stands to lose what her partner provides in the way of economic security, child care or even emotional support if he is sent to jail. Third, women have no control over the process; their personal interests have been displaced by legal interests. Finally, the court system may not be able to protect her after court, especially if the man is given a light sentence or no jail time. Juridogenesis refers to the potential of law reforms to produce effects that make the conditions worse for those the reform was intended to assist (Ursel & Brickey, 1996: 58). When the legal system puts a woman's life in danger by making her testify this is juridogenesis.

However, the problem is not with this policy per se but with the position in which it places abused women. Assault of any kind is against the law and any man who assaults his partner should be arrested and charged. When a man is arrested women and children need protection in case of retaliation and they also need economic security and a support system to help them through this difficult time. Therefore, what is needed for abused women is better police protection, immediate economic

assistance from social service agencies and a support system to aid abused women before, during, and after the court case. Does the Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center provide the emotional support that a woman needs so desperately after an abusive incident and while she is going through the court process?

It is significant that the Ontario government has set up a new integrated approach to domestic violence at a time when payments for welfare have been significantly cut and the rules for eligibility altered to make it more difficult for anyone to claim benefits (Armstrong, 1997: 55). From women's perspective, this appears to be a contradiction, because on the one hand, this new way of looking at domestic violence is set up to ensure an abusive man gets a tougher court sentence; yet on the other hand, if he is sentenced to jail time and his partner needs social assistance she is penalized because of cutbacks and harsh eligibility rules. This situation illustrates and raises the issue of how the economic and political contexts in which services for victims of domestic violence operate can limit their effectiveness.

The battered women's shelter movement and the no drop policy demonstrate how programs and policies that are governed by the state at times render women powerless and under state control. Battered women's shelter services are set up to assist victims of domestic violence and yet the women who use this service have little say in how the shelter is run. With the no drop policies women are compelled to testify against

their abusive partner even if this places them in danger from their abusive partner. Due to state involvement women have lost some autonomy over the decision making process when it comes to the running of shelters and whether they want to testify in court against their abusive partner. In the previous literature review I saw that women were also under the influence of state control with regards to whether they had control over their reproductive rights and their bodies. The contradictions that happen when women want more control over situations in their lives and when the state tries to enforce policies, as Boyd has indicated, can allow for potential pockets of resistance that can create a means to enact change. These pockets of resistance are created when shelter policies which work on behalf of the client clash with state policies that reduce funding to shelters and other services that victims of domestic violence need to reestablish safely.

4. The Battered Woman's Syndrome

A third pattern that was recognized in the previous review of the literature was that state policies often reinforce the ideology of motherhood and traditional gender values. The second wave of feminism brought into focus the problems that battered women who kill their abusive partners face in court. At that time women who killed their abusive partners started to challenge the courts on the traditional assumptions and precedents that had been established regarding homicide and self-defense (Edwards, 1989: 189). The Battered Woman's Syndrome challenged the legal

construction regarding what is reasonable, what constitutes provocation, the psychological effects of battering on a woman over time, a battered woman's perception of imminent danger, how long is "imminent", and under what circumstances is deadly force appropriate (Edwards, 1989: 189).

The Battered Woman's Syndrome was first theorized and developed by a feminist psychologist (Walker, 1984) and was introduced in the courts as a psychological defense for women who kill their abusive partners. Although the battered woman's syndrome demonstrates the horrendous psychological effects that battering has on abused women, it has become distorted and used against women. It has been recognized since 1980 as a subtype of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder in the American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (De Soto, 1997: 54). Consequently, if this defense is used in court it indicates that the woman has a mental disorder and can be excused from criminal responsibility because she is insane.

De Soto (1997) notes three reasons why many feminists reject this defense. First, it reinforces the negative myths about the sickness or frailty of women. Second, the term syndrome or disorder implies a pathology or diminished capacity and this is not always the case. Third, feminists believe the battered woman's syndrome should be used as a justification for homicide not an excuse, because justified behavior is correct and appropriate, whereas an excusable act is one that is wrong.

It is ironic that the criminal justice system which could not protect the abused woman from her abusive husband now vigorously prosecutes her for his death (De Soto, 1997: 57). On the one hand, if a woman uses the battered women's syndrome as a defense and she is convicted or accepts a plea (this occurs 72-80% of the time) she can receive a long harsh sentence. On the other hand, if she is found not guilty by reason of insanity or if she is found to have a diminished capacity she may end up being committed to a mental institution (Walker, 1989). The message to women is clear: in our society women are not supposed to use violence as a way to protect themselves from abusive men (De Soto, 1997: 60). This is because women in our society are seen as wives and mothers who protect and serve the family. Women who do not follow traditional values and ideology of motherhood and wifehood are punished severely (De Soto, 1997: 54).

The use of battered woman's syndrome in the court system illustrates one way that the criminal justice system reinforces the ideology of motherhood and traditional values. As was shown in the early section with maternity benefits, daycare benefits, pay equity and child custody laws the ideology of motherhood and traditional values are woven into every aspect of our society. As Snider has indicated, inequalities in the criminal justice system mirror inequalities in society so it is important for feminists to work towards changing ideologies such as motherhood and

the structure of society if these systems are going to work for the benefit of women.

C. Conclusion

Representatives of the criminal justice system (police, lawyers, judges, etc.) are gatekeepers to how the laws are enforced (Sparks, 1997: 37). These are the individuals in our society who have power and authority in the legal system. They decide who gets arrested, who gets prosecuted, who goes to jail (Sparks, 1997: 37). We live in a society where the balance of power is in the hands of white, middle and upper class, heterosexual males; anyone falling outside of this group is in a subordinate position and is marginalized and disadvantaged.

During the second wave of feminism women started to challenge the state on many fronts. Before the late 1960s women were defined by their relationship to the family as wives and mothers; however after the 1960s women entered the labor force and educational institutes in greater numbers. They demanded changes in how the state dealt with issues of health, work, and family. From reviewing various literatures on how the state has dealt with these demands it has been found here that policies and laws that appear to be neutral often mask gender and class inequalities, marginalizing certain groups of women. Also many issues that women have fought to change are still under the control of the state. Finally the changes the state has made in the name of women often reinforce the ideology of motherhood, and traditional values. When the

demands that women have placed on the criminal justice system regarding domestic violence were examined these same three themes became apparent.

These three themes became apparent in the criminal justice system when I examined mandatory arrest policies and found that this universal policy to arrest individuals was often ignored causing class and gender inequalities, whereby some individuals were arrested and others were not. With the battered women's shelter movement and the no drop policy I saw the possibility that women could lose autonomy when programs and policies fall under the influence of the state. Finally, the use of the battered woman's syndrome demonstrates that the criminal justice system has the possibility of reinforcing the ideology of motherhood and traditional values.

In this chapter I saw the applicability of Snider's and Boyd's concepts about how social change happens. Snider believes that at times the state can meet feminist demands, however feminists need to continually apply external pressure in order for these changes to be maintained. She believes that the structural and ideological nature of society needs to change for equality to occur and that this should be the goal of feminists. Snider's concept is particularly helpful when explaining why mandatory policies do not work for women in abusive situations and how motherhood and traditional values are reinforced in our society. On the other hand Boyd's concept about contradictions within state policies

creating potential pockets of resistance for change to occur can be seen in the no drop policy and the battered women's shelter movement. Both of these theories are useful for explaining why social change has occurred or has not occurred in our society.

It is important to note that feminists have made significant gains in the area of domestic violence. Abused women now have a place to go when fleeing a domestic violent dispute, charges are laid against an abusive man for assaulting his partner, the onus has been taken off the abused woman to have the charges dropped, and the battered women's syndrome has heightened the awareness of the day to day abuse that many women endure. However, although there are flaws in the system part of the problem with the policies and laws that are now in place is that they do not address the systemic cause of domestic violence; that is they do not directly deal with the power and control that men in our society have over women. The issue of men having power and control over women in our society raises the question of whether the new integrated approach to domestic violence addresses the issue of systemic violence against women in our society or is it simply set up to "manage" domestic violence? Also, will the new integrated approach to domestic violence be an ally to women or will it be a way for the state to control and monitor women's lives?

After an examination of various state polices and procedures other questions also emerge from the literature review. Does the new integrated

approach to domestic violence reinforce the ideology of motherhood and gender traditional values? Are certain groups of women marginalized because of this approach? Are gender and class inequalities masked by these two new procedures? Through the women's comments during the process of an active interview the answers to these questions became apparent.

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

The technique of active interviewing draws out the women's thoughts and feelings so their voices about their experiences can be heard. Ten women were interviewed who had been involved in a relationship in which their male partner had physically assaulted them and who had contact with either the Enhanced Sexual Treatment Center (SATC), or the police, or the court system. The interview schedule³ consisted of demographic questions and open ended questions relating to the woman's experience with these services. The open ended questions were varied and modified depending on the woman's experiences and circumstances during her encounter with the SATC, the police or the court system.

The purpose of this study is to examine the perceptions and experiences of women who have gone through the Sexual Assault Treatment Center and who have made video taped statements for the Police Service after being assaulted by their intimate partner. The program at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center is one of seven pilot programs set up by the Province of Ontario to include domestic violence in its service. The goal of this hospital program and that of the video taped statements of women who have been abused is to provide forensic evidence for their court cases. It is important to ask women who have

³ See Appendix one

had their physical injuries documented by photographs and who have made a video taped statement how they feel and what they think about this process of gathering evidence for court.

In this study, the technique of active interviewing (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995) is being employed as a way of drawing out the sensitive, complex nature of the experience of women who have gone through the new integrated approach to domestic violence. Active interviewing is a technique in which both the interviewer and the subject participate in order to give meaning to the experience that the subject has encountered (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995). A feminist perspective and active interviewing have four key components in common. First, they both embody the lived experience of the subject to get to the emotions and feelings of what is being examined. Cole (1995: 25-26) states that women have been robbed of their histories and their names; that ordinary women's voices often are not heard and if they have been heard they are either not taken seriously or discredited. Feminist inquiry has a commitment to taking women's experiences very seriously and to attempting to discern what those experiences mean (Cole, 1995: 26).

An active interview approach allows women's voices to be heard in their own words. The interviewer asks broad questions and the woman narrates her lived experience through a story-telling process. The interviewing process is an interactive, interpretational give and take procedure, whereby, the respondent can ask questions and make

additional clarifications and comments when necessary. However, the interview is not a free-for-all where "anything goes". Both the interviewer and the respondent are aware of the overall structures of the interview and the subject matter under investigation (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995). The approach taken in this study is to listen to the voices of women going through the program at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center and who have been video taped by the police because these are the individuals who the programs were initially set up to help. Through the active interview, women will be invited to give meaning to the treatment they have encountered. The research process is a vehicle to ensure that women's voices and experiences can be heard.

The active interview gets at the "hows" and "whats" of a particular experience. The "hows" refer to the interactional narrative procedures of knowledge production, not merely to interview techniques. The "whats" refer to the issue guiding the interview, the content of questions and the substantive information communicated by the respondent (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 4). The active interview study has two aims: first, to gather information about what the research project is about and, second to illustrate how knowledge concerning this topic is narratively constructed. Findings then also have two intertwined forms: first, the data of the subject matter under research and, second, how the subject matter is organized in the respondents' narrative experiences (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 56). Therefore, active interviewing of victims of domestic violence

is a complex interrelated process of the women's experience about domestic violence and also their meaningful construction of experiences and feelings about the programs they have been through that are there to assist in the court process.

A second key common component to both a feminist perspective of research and active interviewing is that they use a more subjective value laden approach to research. Cole (1995: 17) states that to be a feminist is to conduct value laden research and hence not to be properly objective. Although feminist researchers use many different techniques to do research a feminist qualitative approach is being utilized here because as Cole (1995: 17) states objective ideologies sustains the "myth of the neutral man" who is presumed to be able to represent everyone's interests with detached objectivity. She claims that the scientific method not only makes women invisible by lumping them together so that no one individual has a voice, but also, that objectivity and value neutrality are scientific method everyone is only a statistic (Cole, 1995: 20). Holstein and Gubrium (1995: 26) agree that with a quantitative method members of a population are, in a manner of speaking, "just there", without an individual voice.

Each woman who has endured domestic violence has a story to tell about her individual experiences. By allowing her the freedom to discuss it in her own words the interviewer will be given a glimpse into her world. An abused woman often comes from a world where an abusive man

continually tells her what to do, how to do it, what to think and how to feel (Fischer & Rose, 1995: 422). Abusive relationships are about a man trying to gain power and control over a woman. Therefore, in an abusive relationship the woman is not given permission to think, feel, or act on her own. However, in a safe environment of the interview process she can, sometimes for the first time, be able to make sense and give meaning to what has happened to her. Cole (1995: 17-18) believes that feminist research endeavors to understand the everyday manifestations of the gender-inflected power and privilege that permeates every society and social group.

A third common component of both a feminist perspective and active interviewing is that they go beyond the surface meaning of an experience. They delve into the deeper manifestation of the subject matter to get to a diverse, more complete analysis of the subject under investigation. Cole (1995: 20) sees feminism as committed to fostering women's emancipation. This makes it imperative to know women's experiences not just in their surface manifestations but in their deeper implications and effects. In the active interview, Holstein & Gubrium (1995: 30) view the respondent as possessing a fund or stock of knowledge that is simultaneously substantive, reflective, and emergent. One way to get at a respondent's stock of knowledge is to have them shift positions and roles in the interview. This enables the interviewer to extract deeper meanings from the responses the respondents give.

Consequently, active interviewing is seen as a developing process in which links can be made from various roles to the past, present and future experiences the respondent encounters (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 30).

Domestic violence is a complex matter and one way to understand and give meaning to the woman's experience is by investigating the various roles that significant others play in her life. Therefore, during the interview process a woman might speak from not only her various roles as a mother, wife, sister, daughter, employer, friend, but also might take on the perspective of others in her life such as her children, partner, mother, employee, friends, and so on. In the case of this study, by doing this an abused woman may investigate her situation in relation to how and what others were also thinking and feeling about the process she encountered while at the treatment center. Therefore, a woman might discuss her children and how they felt about her experience at the center. Since a woman has accessed various community resources she might also take these into consideration when responding to the interview questions. For example, through the process of the active interview she might discuss links between the home with the hospital, police and court system. Therefore, the interview process provides the opportunity to see how a woman links the experience from the private setting of the home to the public sphere of the hospital, police and court system. By examining the process of going through the center the woman might look back at past

abusive experiences to frame the present situation and link these to future situations.

Holstein & Gubrium (1995: 31 32) state that the knowledge a respondent calls on is always knowledge in the making; it does not purely reflect the respondent's past. The past is linked with what is being made of the present. In the active approach, the respondent is viewed as offering complex descriptions of experience and as having varied funds of information to draw from her situation (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 31-32). Consequently, the complexity of the experience and the varied funds of information may offer a diverse and complex wealth of information in the area of domestic violence.

The fourth key component that a feminist perspective and active interviewing have in common is that they both illustrate the complexity of the subject matter. Domestic violence is a complex issue and the way in which society views it has been convoluted. Holstein & Gubrium (1995: 45) believe that by drawing on background knowledge, active interviewers can make their research more productive, incorporating indigenous interpretive resources, perspectives, and landmarks into their inquiries. The interviewer's background knowledge can be an invariable resource of assisting respondents to explore and describe their circumstances, actions and feelings (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 45). Active interviewing takes advantage of the stockpile or background knowledge that the interviewer collects in prior interviews to pose concrete guestions and explore facets

of respondents' circumstances that would otherwise go unnoticed (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 46). A sensitive feminist interviewing style requires competent asking and listening grounded in the background knowledge of women's experiences. (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 46).

In this study both the interviewer and the respondent have accumulated a wealth of background knowledge about domestic violence. In my case, knowledge comes from the academic world and through the experience of counseling women who have been abused. The respondent's knowledge comes from the experience of living the abuse and having to deal with services that are there to help abused women. At times when abused women seek assistance from services set up to help them they find that these services do not meet their needs. Smith (1987: 50) sees a "line of fault" between the world as it is directly experienced and how it is organized, how it is determined and what the social relations are that generate it. In Smith's view, women's experiences are appropriated more or less silently to the descriptive categories and the related practical demands of a world organized in terms of men's lives (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 24).

Unfortunately, women's voices often need expert testimony to give them credibility (Cole, 1995: 24). Victims of domestic violence have been telling their stories to the police and in the court system for years. However, they have not always been believed. What the forensic evidence gathered by the hospital and the police service may do is give

women's stories credibility. Therefore, when interviewing women who have endured domestic violence a researcher needs to flesh out the woman's own voice and story and give it credibility in its own right.

A. Obtaining the sample

To obtain a sample for this study the Sexual Assault Treatment Center (SATC), the police and the Victim Witness Program (VWP) were contacted. In this section, a review of the problems faced in doing this study is being undertaken to clarify the difficulties involved in hearing women's voices on this particular topic⁴. On February 1, 1999 a letter⁵ was sent to the Executive Director of the Sexual Assault Treatment Center asking permission to evaluate their program through the eyes of the women who used this service. Permission was granted and on June 1, 1999 a release of information was put in all of the active charts of women who entered the emergency room due to a domestic assault.

The release of information⁶ explained the purpose of the study and authorized the hospital to release to me only the name and phone number of women who might be interested in participating. However, after a month and a half no releases were forthcoming. I asked the Executive Director if I could speak at an upcoming staff meeting to receive feedback as to why no one was signing the release of information. During the staff meeting several nurses indicated they were uncomfortable asking the

⁴ Indeed it occurs to me that the difficulties I encountered in this process in itself could make an interesting and worthwhile research topic.

⁵ See Appendix two

⁶ See Appendix three

woman to sign the release of information for a variety of reasons. First, the woman might be returning to her abusive partner. Second, the woman is often in active crisis due to the trauma of the abuse she has just endured. Third, the Sexual Assault Treatment Center already has several different forms the women must sign. Fourth, the process at the SATC is approximately 2 hours in length and the women are emotionally exhausted. Finally, due to the combination of the beating, the many different forms that need to be signed, and the length of time a woman is at the hospital, it was felt that she was often confused and upset and not sure whether she wanted to participate in the research. Consequently, it was decided to take the releases out of the active charts and ask women who came in for a follow-up visit at the SATC if they would be willing to sign the release so they could participate in this study.

The follow-up meeting occurs approximately 48 hours after the women have been in the emergency room. A woman comes to the SATC to have more pictures taken and to discuss her options⁷. It was hoped that women who came for the follow-up appointment would not be in such active crisis and would agree to participate. However, it was pointed out that not all women follow through and return to the SATC. Those that do return may have had a good experience with the Center, be more

⁷ At the follow-up appointment women are given their options of emotional support, education about the dynamics of abuse, documentation of the episode, documentation of any physical injuries, photographing physical injuries, risk assessment, safety planning for themselves and their children, community resource referrals, planning and transportation to a safe place and finally more follow up appointments for reassessment, documentation, and photographs of injuries.

committed to ending the abusive relationship, and be more committed to having their partners charged. Since not as many women follow through with the follow-up appointment it was also decided that the nurse in charge of follow-ups would access the back files of clients to inquire if any of them would like to participate in the research.

By September 1, 1999 only seven releases of information were signed and only three interviews had been completed. Two women were contacted and appointments set up but the women did not keep the appointments. The women were contacted a second and third time and on all occasions stated they were interested in participating but did not show up for the appointments. After three missed appointments the women were not contacted again. I felt that some of the women who had initially agreed to meet with me and participate in the study upon further reflection did not feel comfortable participating but did not know how to say no when I contacted them a second and third time. However the other two women were interested but the timing was not convenient so they suggested I contact them in a month. I did this and they both completed the research.

Several times throughout the summer and fall I asked the nurse at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center if she had accessed her back files to see about getting some of the clients to do the research. Although extremely busy and under time constraints the nurse did this and sent releases of information to women who might be interested in doing the research. However, when discussing the composition of women who use

the Center, she stated that after an assault many women relocate to other cities, some women return to their partners, and some women can not be contacted because they change either their address or their phone number. Also a woman or her partner may be involved in violent criminal activities making it unsafe to contact them or interview them. Furthermore, other women may have psychiatric conditions and not be taking their medication, and therefore the woman's thought process may be scattered and not focused. Finally, some women who access the Treatment Center lead a transient lifestyle so they have no phone number or address where they could be contacted. For all of these reasons it was difficult to obtain a large number of women who had utilized the Center before this study began.

Since the releases of information were slow in coming from the SATC, other avenues to generate a sample were explored. Since the study was examining both the SATC and the videotaping done by the police, the police were contacted to see if they could help in obtaining some subjects. A phone call was placed to the domestic violence unit of the police and a female police officer I spoke to stated she was more interested in an objective quantitative study looking at the impact of the SATC and the videotaping on the conviction rate of abusive men. The police officer did give me the name and number to contact if I wanted to send my current research proposal in to see if a sample could be obtained from the police. However the officer stated the police would be more

willing to support a project that would benefit them in some way. Taking this to mean that my project would not be supported or approved I decided to approach other services to see if they could help in any way.

The Victim Witness Program (VWP) was contacted at the end of August 1999 to see if they could provide some assistance in generating a sample for my study. Before the local VWP could assist in my project, however, permission had to be granted from their Head Office. Therefore, a letter stating the purpose of my research⁸, a release of information⁹, a consent form¹⁰, and a copy of the ethics committees approval from the University of Windsor was sent to the head office to be reviewed. Permission from the Head Office for the local VWP to assist in obtaining a sample for my study was granted in October 1999.

The acting executive director informed me she was instructed from the Head Office to generate a list of 40 names of women who had been videotaped by the police and who would be willing to be interviewed for this project. From the time permission was granted to do the research until the first of December many phone calls were placed to the acting executive director so that a meeting could be set up to determine how to go about contacting individuals for this study. At the time that I was trying to reach the acting executive director of the VWP they were in the process of moving into new offices. The acting executive director mentioned on

⁸ See Appendix four

⁹ See Appendix five
¹⁰ See Appendix six

several occasions that they were too busy to meet with me and that I should call them back the next week.

Finally a meeting took place in early December, in which a letter¹¹and a release of information¹² were drafted for the acting executive director to send to women willing to participate in this study. It was decided that each morning when the acting executive director reviewed the court files from the day before she would compile a list of women who had been videotaped. A call would then be placed to the woman asking if she would be willing to be interviewed. If the woman was willing the letter, a release of information and a stamped addressed envelope with my university address would be sent to her. The woman would sign the form and mail it back to me.

Between the time the letter was generated and the end of December more phone calls were placed to the acting executive director to determine the state of progress with contacting women for the study and to determine how many letters had been sent out. By this time the VWP had changed offices and their phones were not working properly. Since I was having difficulty reaching the acting executive director I went down to the office to inquire about the progress she had made. At that time she suggested I contact her within the next week so we could review the progress she had made in contacting women for the study and sending out the letters and releases of information.

¹¹ See Appendix seven ¹² See Appendix eight

When we met, the acting executive director of the VWP stated that she had tried to contact approximately 35 to 40 women, however only seven or eight were interested in participating in the research. The acting executive director had difficulty in contacting some of the women who had made a video taped statement because many women had changed their phone number, leaving her no way to contact them. Letters and releases were sent out to the women who were interested in participating in the study by the end of January 2000.

I raise the issue of the difficulties I faced with this project not only to indicate the possible limitations of this study but also to highlight potential problems that future researchers might encounter. The difficulties I had in obtaining my sample were due to time constraints of the individuals who were getting the releases of information signed, the difficulties they had in reaching women who had been through their service, the composition of women who used their services, and the sensitivity of the subject matter. Since the individuals involved in obtaining the sample were extremely busy I asked if it would be possible for me to go through the files to collect phone numbers so that I could call the women directly. I was informed that due to confidentiality this was not possible. Due to the difficulties of obtaining a sample, after eight months of active attempts to obtain names from a number of different sources, only ten interviews were completed. A follow-up interview occurred in one case because, at the time of the initial interview, the woman had not gone to court. Another woman

agreed to a follow-up interview but when I tried to contact her she had changed her telephone number and I was unable to obtain the new number. Of the ten women interviewed seven names were obtained from the Sexual Assault Treatment Center, one name was obtained from the Victim Witness Program, one name was obtained from a woman who was interviewed and knew someone else in a similar situation, and one woman's name was given to me by a friend.

B. Demographics

Ten women were interviewed for this project; their ages ranged from 19 to 51 with an average age of 36. Seven of the ten women had attended college or university. The high number of women who have post secondary education Is a bias in the sample. Women who have post secondary education might be more willing participants in research projects such as this one because they are more articulate and place a higher value on research. The women came from a variety of ethnic backgrounds (i.e. Irish, French Canadian). One woman described herself as black¹³, and another woman was a landed immigrant with a European background. During the interviews, other than English not being the first language of the immigrant woman, no other issues surfaced surrounding race or ethnicity. Nine of the women were Canadian citizens. At the time of the abusive incident six women were married, two women were

¹³ Issues of ethnicity were not explored with this woman as it was only after the interview (reading the demographic profile wherein she identified herself as black) that I became aware of the different assessment of her ethnic identity.

common-law and two women were single. At the time of the interview, eight women were employed in various occupations, one woman was a student and the other woman stayed home and cared for her small child. Before separation the household incomes ranged from zero to over \$80,000. After separation six of the household incomes dropped, the other four remained the same because three women provided the income for the family and the other woman was a student and her partner did not contribute to her living expenses. The length of the relationships ranged from three months to 10 years. Three of the women did not have any children, four women had one child each, two women had two children each, and one woman had three children. Five of the women stated they had never sought intervention before this abusive incident and only one woman had been through the legal process before.

All of the women had police contact and charges were laid in nine of the incidents. Of these nine women six made videotaped statements for the police. Nine of the women had contact with the Sexual Assault Treatment Center. The woman who did not have contact with the SATC was assaulted before the Center opened so was not part of the new integrated approach to domestic violence. However since her situation reflects many of the same concerns and issues that other women had with the police and the court system I felt it was important for her voice to be heard. At the time of writing this thesis five women had been to court, and the other four court cases were pending.

C. Limitations of the Study

The sample for this study is limited for a number of reasons. First, as mentioned, seven women had post secondary education and the sample was small. Second, since the majority of the women interviewed were referred by the SATC they may have had a good experience with the SATC. Third, the women who have gone through the process at the SATC may be more committed to having their partners charged and sentenced for his abusive behavior. This could be due to the fact that women who go through the SATC are provided with information and counseling about the effects of domestic violence on themselves and their children and also because of the severity of the injuries the woman has endured. Also, if the court outcome was not favorable to the sentence.

Finally, the women who were interviewed were in various stages of healing both emotionally and physically from the abusive incident. Some of the women interviewed had just left the relationship, whereas other women had been out of the relationship for up to three years. The emotional differences in these women became apparent during the interviews. Those who had just left the relationship expressed raw emotions often breaking down and crying while discussing certain questions. The women who had some distance between the abusive incident and the interview were passionate about their experiences but had put some closure on the situation and had started to move on with their

lives. These women were better able to compose and articulate their thoughts, feelings, and experiences. Despite these limitations all the women who were interviewed had very relevant comments to make on the services currently in place to assist victims of domestic violence.

D. The Interview

Seeking an active sample is part of the active interviewing process (Holstein & Gubrium, 1995: 26-27). It suggests that individuals are equally worthy despite individual differences and therefore have worthwhile stories to tell. This study actively interprets the voices of those women who have encountered the process at the SATC, the police, and the court system because their experiences are worthwhile not only to themselves, but also to other women who might go through a similar experience.

Ten face-to-face interviews and one follow-up interview were conducted for this study. To participate in this study the woman had to be over the age of 18, have been involved in a domestic violent relationship within the past three years, be able to speak English, and have been involved with the SATC, or the police or the court system. The tape recorded interviews occurred between August 1999 to February 2000. The interviews were arranged at a convenient time and place for the woman, taking place at the university, the SATC, the woman's home and in one case at a shelter. The interviews lasted from approximately one hour to one and a half hours. Before beginning each interview the purpose of the interview was explained and an Informed Consent Form was signed by

each woman. The women who were interviewed were assured of confidentiality and anonymity. At times to protect the women's identities minor details in the transcriptions were changed. Therefore this thesis contains no real names of participants and no other identifying information.

Active interviewing utilizes a give-and-take method of interviewing, so depending on how the woman answers certain questions other issues and concerns arose that needed clarification. For this reason some of the questions were modified or not asked. After each interview the data was transcribed verbatim with the goal of seeking common themes, topics and patterns of meanings.

CHAPTER FOUR

WOMEN SPEAK OUT

By listening to the voices of women who have gone through the process at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center (SATC), the police, and the court system, we hear first hand what they thought and felt about their experiences with the services that are in place to assist victims of domestic violence. The questions that the women in this study were asked primarily focused on whether they felt empowered or victimized when they had contact with these three services. Other questions focused on the women's thoughts and feelings while having their injuries photographed, and their thoughts and feelings while making a video taped statement. Some of the women saw the pictures of themselves and two women saw the video taped statement they made. Questions were asked about their thoughts and feelings when they first saw the pictures or the video taped statements. Through the give-and-take of the interview process several themes other than empowerment and victimization emerged from the women's comments. The women discuss various forms of discrimination that they encountered with the police and court system and how the ideology of motherhood and traditional gender values were reinforced by these systems. Out of these themes other themes emerged that will be examined in chapters six and seven.

What follows is a detailed account of the women's thoughts and feelings about the SATC, the police and the court system. The first theme

that will be examined is whether the women felt empowered or victimized by these services. The second theme that will be examined is the discriminatory character of the police and the court system. Finally, the issue of how motherhood shaped the women's experiences will be examined.

A. Empowerment or Victimization?

i. Sexual Assault Treatment Center

All of the nine women who went through the process of having their injuries photographed and documented at the SATC had positive comments to make about this process. The women were asked if they felt listened to, believed, judged or blamed for the abuse by the SATC. They were also asked if they were given options, their thoughts and feelings about having the pictures taken and their thoughts and feelings upon seeing the pictures of themselves.

Sharron: Did you feel the nurses at the SATC listened to you?

Brenda: She listened to every one of my words, every one. I think she try to understand me and help me. I'm surprised. I appreciate. She's the best. She's the best she understands like a mother all the time...

Marie: They were very compassionate, very compassionate. Very understanding. They listened and asked questions.

Lisa: Yeah, it was nice, it was just nice to have someone there to talk to.

Sharron: Did you feel the nurses at the SATC believed what you were

saying?

Kaye: It felt good that she believed me. Here I am crying out for help and this was really a tough thing to go through.

Sharron: Did you feel the nurses at the SATC were judging you or

blaming you for the abuse?

Pam: This¹⁴ is such a warm and relaxed atmosphere and you get the feeling of understanding. I didn't ask to be put in this position and they know that.

Sharron: Did the nurse at the SATC explain the process to you and

explain your options to you?

Abby: Before she did anything she told me about what the process was all about. What she was about to do and would I agree. I did and I signed these forms and she took pictures.

Kaye: Yes this was totally my decision, what I wanted to do for the future, what I thought was right, they just guided me.

Pam: Here I had a choice I could go this way or that. Do something or not do something and which ever way I went that was completely acceptable. That made me feel good. It was reassuring and empowering.

Marie: Yes, actually they gave me a whole package and I took a lot of reading information.

Abby and Jennie clearly expressed how virtually all of the women felt

about the SATC:

Abby: They showed compassion... I thought the SATC was

wonderful.

Jennie: The follow-up nurse at the SATC was great. I kind of looked forward every time I went there to see her. The first time I was just

¹⁴ Pam was interviewed at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center

a little edgy but she was really nice. She's done a lot for me, still, it's almost a year and she is still helping me out...[later Jennie picks up the same theme] She's become a really great friend and I'm glad. I can call her anytime of the day. I can page her and she'll be there for me....

When the women were asked how they felt having their injuries

photographed several of the women expressed thoughts such as:

Abby: Well I felt, I felt it had to be done but I didn't want it to be, it's like taking off your clothes in front of someone. I felt infringed upon, yet I wanted it done.

Kaye: Ashamed I think, being here for one and yet glad that she was there to help me.... I'm glad the pictures were taken I am and at the back of my mind I'm thinking 'oh good someone is going to see these and recognize what's happened.'

Marie expressed a different thought while the pictures were taken.

Marie: How did I get myself into this mess.

However Brenda was thinking of more practical concerns.

Brenda: All the time I'm thinking I have to find an apartment. I have to change my place. He's going to find me. I have to change the phone number.

Lisa thought the nurses were caring but expressed an interesting concept

about having the pictures taken.

Lisa: Yeah I thought 'I feel like a criminal...' I felt like a criminal. It was like I was getting my mug shot taken or something, do this do that.

Some of the women had an opportunity to see and keep the photographs

of their injuries. The women were asked their thoughts and feelings upon

seeing the pictures for the first time. Although the function of the pictures

is to be used as evidence in the court case against the woman's abusive

partner the pictures can also serve other functions, such as a source of

strength not to return to the abusive relationship and a realization about

the severity of the abuse. Some women expressed very strong feelings

while other women did not remember any feelings.

Sharron: What did you think when you saw the pictures?

Janice: I don't know if I've blocked it out, but I really don't feel nothing.

Kaye: Shock, shock, I went my, oh my, that is me because you don't really believe it, because they [nurses] say we're going to take pictures and you think it's not really that bad, you know, not that it feels worse, but then once I saw the pictures I thought Oh My....[later in the interview] When I saw them [pictures] at the court house, they [prosecutors] showed me just before I went in for the assault. I looked at them and I think I went back into shock again my eyes just opened up. Wow it was pretty bad but really I was in a state of shock at least two weeks.

Pam discussed the analogy between the pictures and seeing her reflection

in the mirror.

Pam: Oh I cried, I cried, I still have those pictures...[later Pam discussed what she was thinking a few days after the abuse when she looked in the mirror] I'm looking at myself in the mirror and thinking how could he do this to me and it's not right. There is no way anyone has the right to do this to me and I felt what can I do to fight back. I can't fight him physically but he's not going to get away with this.

When Brenda saw the pictures she expressed confusion about her

partner's behavior towards her.

Brenda: I think, I don't know. [she is quietly crying] In a way I'm that person who he beat. I don't know who that picture is. I don't understand why this happened to me. I don't know why this happened to me. Because I don't think I'm a bad person. I know what I want in my life. I want make my family happy. I want to take care of my child. When I saw that picture I didn't understand why he did that. Maybe he doesn't love me right now. He told me he loved me. The picture is very ugly. Very ugly. Much blue and red. It reminded me of the war [in her country] where your hands are cut off. Where they take your eyes, your mouth, your nose....

Lisa thought of herself and re-evaluated the relationship

Lisa: That I am stupid, for letting him take advantage of me like that. You know not to see it coming. It's happened before, in the short year we've been together this is the fifth time he's raised a hand to me and it will be the last.

The women were also asked if they take the pictures out and look at them

and if so why.

Denise: It's just a reminder of where I've been and where I'm never going back... I don't do it very often, but sometimes every once in a while..... [when looking at the picture] It's awful, I feel sick when I look at it. I look at it and think 'oh my God, that happened'...

Lisa: Yeah, I leave it right on my kitchen table...I don't know. Just it seems like, like 'yeah you are dumb.' Just to let anyone take control of you like that, like it's abusive and it makes you feel like an idiot inside because you think how could I possibly let this go on this long, for me to have all these marks on me. Like I didn't deserve this.

Abby discussed what her partner's lawyer said when he saw the pictures:

Abby: Did I tell you about during the discovery when he [partner's lawyer] saw the pictures, the comment was made that my head wasn't torn in half that I just had minor scars...

In sum, while all of the nine women who went through the process at the SATC indicated that it was a positive experience, when having the pictures taken and upon seeing the pictures of themselves, the women expressed a variety of thoughts and feelings. The women's thoughts and feeling and the impact of seeing the pictures will be examined in the chapter six of this thesis.

ii. The Police

The women expressed their experience with the police differently from that of the SATC. Though some of the women had a positive experience with the police, other women did not. The women were asked the same questions about the police that they were asked of the SATC. Some women had a video taped statement made and they were asked how they thought and felt while they were being video taped. Two women also had an opportunity to view the video tape and they were asked their thoughts and feelings on seeing themselves.

Sharron: Did you feel the police listened to you?

Abby: he [officer] didn't really listen to me. He really treated me horribly.

Kaye and Marie both went down to the police station after the abusive

incident and were not allowed to make statements at first.

Kaye: Tuesday and Wednesday I went down to the police department thinking I could see the female officer in charge of the domestic violence unit and I saw a male officer...He said it was too late to press charges...I told him is that possible.

Kaye ended up going to the shelter for safety and the shelter staff called

the police to come and take a statement. She made these comments

about the male police officers who came out and took the statement.

Kaye: They took a statement and wanted to see the bruises and swelling. I think they were in shock, so I knew, they knew. They were excellent. They felt for me... They did their job and that's the most important point I'd like to make, they did their job.

Marie had a similar experience when she went downtown to the police

station to make a statement. She made the statement and had pictures

taken, then she returned to work thinking her partner was going to be

arrested.

Marie: When I got back to work I called the constable I had talked to at the front desk. She said there is nothing they could do because I didn't call them last night, so it couldn't have been that threatening. So I said "what am I suppose to do, wait till he gets home, tell him I want a divorce and wait till he hits me again. Then you're going to come and arrest him." Well that changed everything. She said hold on. She put a call through to somebody I don't know who; but got back to me and said they were going to arrest him that day.

Marie stated that after that everyone was wonderful to her. Of the ten women interviewed six of them felt that in some way the police did not initially listen to what they were saying. However like Kaye and Marie they did feel that after the initial contact with the police that everything went smoothly and that they were heard. Though one woman did not have a positive experience with the police at all three other women had positive experiences with the police right from the beginning.

Lisa: They were just excellent. They really seemed to care. They had so many questions... I was very impressed with them.

The women were then asked about whether they thought the police

believed what they were saying. Of the ten women six of them thought that

the police believed them. However in four incidents the women did not

feel believed.

Sharron: Did you feel the police believed what you were saying?

Janice: He [detective] made a comment that he read both statements. Well that's okay that he read both statements but on the video statement you can't lie, because if I was to lie I could be charged. No, I found that he didn't believe me. He really didn't at all.... So what, you want to believe my husband that's okay but what am I suppose to do.

Abby: They refused to come out that night so that I could [make a statement], they didn't have anyone that could handle my statement that night anyway. They suggested I make an appointment and go the next day and I did... But I talked to the staff sergeant and said I was very disappointed how I was treated and that this person didn't even have the time to talk to me on the phone (that night)... I felt like I was the one attacking my husband. And he had attacked me but they believed his story.

The women who felt they were believed by the police generally indicated

this by stating that their partner had been charged and arrested.

Denise: I made my police statement and the police officer came back the next day and said "you know we have a search warrant, we need to arrest him, he needs to be charged".

Six of the ten women stated that they did not feel that the police

officers judged or blamed them for the abuse.

Sharron: Did you feel that the police judged you or blamed you for the

abuse?

Denise: No, not the police officers that I dealt with, which was a good feeling because if they did I probably would have jumped out of the system right away.

However Denise explained the flippant attitude that other police officers

had towards her case.

Denise: This man [officer] was wonderful... it was funny because he took flack from people in his department, like "Why are you picking up this case"... like "what are you doing? Leave this" I mean leave this, I was threatened with a sawed off shotgun. "Leave it for what to find out she's dead", so "No I'm not leaving this I'll pick it up and carry it on my own time if I have to".

Although Pam stated she never felt judged or blamed by the police, she

expressed her ambivalence about the police on this question.

Pam: Not actually, but you always had that thing in the back of your mind that says 'yeah well she must have been asking for it. She wouldn't be with this guy if she didn't like that kind of treatment'... it wasn't pronounced, no but it was an underlying current that was never verbally spoken... just them knowing my exhusband "Well you know what kind of a person he is."

Abby, on the other hand, thought that the police blatantly judged

and blamed her. Abby's partner went to the police and told them his

version of what happened before she had an opportunity to explain her

side of the incident.

Abby: I said 'wait a minute' and told him [police officer] my side of the story and he didn't write a statement down. He did for my husband but didn't for me. Took pictures of my husband's little scratch on his face but didn't take any pictures of my bruises. So I thought, "Wait a minute here" and he had said that my husband wasn't pressing charges anyway so it wasn't important...

Janice's partner also went to the police before she had an opportunity to

tell her side of the story. She discussed the police officers attitude towards

her.

Janice: Of course he [partner talking to police] lied to them and everything else and so I think that when the police officer came up and talked to me he had a bad outlook on me.

Most (7) of the women felt that the police adequately explained their

options¹⁵ to them and felt that they had some control to make an informed

decisions about what could happen. However three women felt either that

options were not given to them or that they had no choice in the situation.

Sharron: Did you feel your options were explained to you by the police

and that you had some control to make an informed decision about what

could happen?

Pam: At that point, No...I was being forced into something and I wasn't sure what it was and I didn't want any part of it.

Carol expressed the confusion that she was in after the assault occurred.

Carol: Yeah, somewhat but a lot of it was going in one ear and out the other. So it was kind of hard. But I knew my options. I knew that to stay here [shelter] if he decided to retaliate.

Six women had video taped statements made by the police. They

were asked their thoughts and feelings while the statement was being

made. Two of the women had an opportunity to view the tape and they

were asked what they thought and felt when they saw it. The six women

had a range of emotions and thoughts when the video taped statement

was made.

Sharron: What were you thinking or feeling when the video taped

statement was made?

¹⁵ The police gave options: to remain in the home, to seek alternative accommodations i.e. with family or friends or the shelter, provided a means of transportation to alternate location, explained what would happen if her partner was charged and released, discussed that conditions not to associate with her would be put in place, what to do if he breached the conditions, how to find out if he was released.

Lisa: I really didn't think about it, cause I was so angry. I felt like an idiot being in that predicament... I really didn't think about it.

Pam: That went pretty well, it was with the female constable from the domestic violence unit and she's good. She made me feel very comfortable. I was sworn in. I was pretty relaxed but it was traumatic going through that again, thinking back

Marie: I was nervous. I was trying to remember things and they gave me my statement to read before just so I'd remember.I was a little nervous but I was OK. I was wondering where the camera was. They didn't tell me where it was. I was twitching a little bit or something. I was nervous. I was looking around for it [camera] before they started.

Carol: It was difficult... I think I left a lot of stuff out but I made my points ... I was thinking I had really pushed my limit [by coming to the police] and he was going to go psycho this time.

Jennie discussed the pain and trauma she was in after the assault and

while doing the video taped statement. She expressed many different

thoughts that were going through her mind at this time

Jennie: My head was just pounding.... I was just in so much pain. I couldn't move my lips I just tried to answer the questions to the best of my ability. But in hindsight I know I didn't do a very good job on it. I didn't, I couldn't say more, I did it. They got what they needed but I couldn't say more. I was just sore. I couldn't talk. I didn't want to listen....My basic thoughts were 'give me something for this pain', 'give me something for this pain'. 'Oh god, go out there to get him, kick his ass', kind of thing. 'Don't worry about video taping me, go get him', sort of a thing. Sharron: What were you thinking and feeling when you saw the video

taped statement?

Jennie: I noticed I said a lot more than I remembered but I think that's because the incident was so fresh in my mind and stuff. I think they [police] did a good job on it...like I could see in the video tape, which I'm really not like, a helpless scared little girl basically and that's not usually me, like I'm usually the strong type, don't need anybody for anything and I just looked at the tape and it was like Wow, a total different side of me.

Marie: I thought I looked nervous. I didn't sound like me either.

Since the comments about the police were mixed, at the end of the

interview on the section related to the police I asked the women how they

felt overall about how they were treated by the police. Eight women gave

positive responses, one woman who had dealt with the police three times

gave both positive and negative comments, and one woman felt she was

not treated well.

Sharron: Overall how did you feel you were treated by the police?

Lisa: I was very fortunate....They were really, really nice they made you laugh and joke and made you feel at ease. That's what was nice about them. They didn't make you feel like you were guilty of anything. That was nice.

Brenda: The police did the best for me, because they are very fast. They come and they helped me...I called the emergency number, I heard they can help me about this. This is the best job. I think they are the best.

However Abby felt differently

Abby: No matter how he [officer] felt about the situation or who he believed, he should have shown an unbias when he dealt with either one of us. He didn't deal with it professionally at all.

To summarize when many of the women first had contact with the police they indicated that they did not feel listened to or believed but when asked about their overall treatment many women gave positive comments. The women's statements about how they were treated by the police will be examined further in the discussion section of this thesis.

iii. The Court System

The women were also asked about their experience with the court system. They were asked the same series of questions that they had been asked about the SATC and the police. Of the ten women five of the cases had gone to court by the time these interviews took place, and four of the women knew the outcome. In the last case the women's partner could not be found so the case could not proceed. Of the five remaining cases, one was due for trial shortly after the interviews were completed. Three cases were pending and one women's partner was not charged by the police so there would be no court case. All of the women who dealt with the court system indicated they were not pleased with how the case had been dealt with by the Crown Attorney's office. All of the four women who knew the outcome of the court cases indicated they were not satisfied with the sentence that their abusive partners received for assaulting them.

Sharron: Did you feel the court listened to what you were saying?

Jennie: I don't know what the judge listened to. I know if we didn't show up the day I testified my ex-partner probably would have got a slap on his hand and walked away.

When Denise's partner went to court it was a joint submission, that is

when two charges are put together and one sentence is received for both.

So when asked if the judge listened, Denise told me:

Denise: Oh I don't think so, well because it's a joint submission I don't think it matters. I just think it's a procedure. I did see him taking notes. He did take notes. He did write down things. It's not like he'd put his pen down and put his head down. He was taking notes. So while I was giving it [testimony] I thought okay well at least he's paying attention. It might be blocked or going in one ear and out the other, but he was making it look like he was paying attention but with a joint submission they both [defense lawyer and the crown attorney] agreed to it and the judge generally agrees to it. So what does what I have to say have to do with anything. It didn't carry any weight.

Pam discussed her frustration when the judge did not listen to her.

Pam: The worse part was that I told the judge he [partner] was going to ask for it [jail sentence] to be served on weekends. He's going to want to go to work, do his time on the weekends... Don't give him that kind of a break. But the judge said "okay you can do it on the weekends..." [near the end of the interview] The judge had closed ears and didn't hear what I said.

Although Kaye was not pleased with the court outcome she did feel the

judge listened when she testified.

Kaye: He listened to the whole story and he saw both sides and even saw the pictures because the hospital had transferred the pictures and reports and he went through it thoroughly...[later in the conversation] When the judge read the verdict he said he didn't believe him. Thank goodness. He said "nothing matched up" and it's true.....I do know that the courts have looked at it and they could see everything. The courts looked at it, my lawyer, the judge all know what's going on.

However Pam and Jennie had a different experience:

Pam: It was my two cents and that's all it was worth and it had no impact. My impact statement had no impact, no impact whatsoever.... He [partner] had already enrolled himself in a anger management program, a six week course which he had successfully passed. He had passed that course successfully by the time we got to court so he was well on his way to being a "good citizen" again.

Jennie: The first time we sat all day in court and finally they brought him out and I testified the judge said "okay". One day it's this and the next he wanted a psychological assessment. After those came in he wanted my Doctor's report, after that it was dragged on a lot.

Pam and Denise expressed different feelings about whether they felt

blamed or judged by the court system.

Sharron: Did you feel the court system blamed or judged you in some

way for the abuse?

Pam: I don't think so, because I know a judge is supposed to be impartial. But there was no compassion there. Like this was already prearranged, you know and I was there just so I could get my frustrations out and speak to the court but a lot of good it did me. I don't even think he was listening

When Denise was asked about feeling blamed or judged she said:

Denise: 100%, totally it was all my fault. It was all my fault and at the sentencing [her partner] did it because he was under the influence, so let's give him counseling.

All of the five women who dealt with some part of the court process

commented on the Crown Attorney's office. The major concern that the

women mentioned was that they never met the Crown Attorney that was

handling their case and that the same Crown did not handle the case from

beginning to end.

Marie: Well it would be nice to meet at least one of them and they could talk to you. Because it would be just like getting cross examined by his lawyer. It's intimidating I think....I would just like to have met them though. How can they know about you and defend you if they don't even meet you and know what you look like.

Pam: I had no contact, whatsoever, with the prosecutors office. No one ever contacted me and asked me how I felt or what did I think would be a fair deal. I wasn't consulted on that. It was like okay she's a nobody anyway so we will make this decision for her. I heard they are coming to the point where they want the victims involved more. More victim input and "what do you think would be a fair punishment". At the time that my case was going through the system this was supposed to be in actuality, but it wasn't, not in my case, and I'm a little frustrated with that too.

Jennie discusses the number of Crown Attorneys she had and her

frustrations with them.

Jennie: We had four or five different Crown Attorneys and I had a nitwit that doesn't know nothing....I didn't get along with the Crown Attorney's office...I did not appreciate the way they treated me at all....I was just another case number to them basically... One didn't even know my name. They said the wrong name. It's like no, if you had read your papers you'd know. You can expect that from other people but a lawyer that's representing you and doesn't even know your last name.

Janice also expressed how upset she was when she made an appointment

to discuss her case with the Crown Attorney and the Crown Attorney was

not prepared.

Janice: I made an appointment and when I got there at the Crown Attorney's office they couldn't find the file. So he had nothing in front of him to tell me anything, or what they thinks going to happen, or what they are looking at, or anything. Nothing at all... He didn't know what he was charged with... He didn't offer to set up another date or another interview to come in to talk.

Lisa's court case is pending but she had this to say about the Crown

Attorney's office.

Lisa: They have been really good. I've had two letters to tell me if I want to know what's going on in court just send a letter back and I can find out anything I want to know, which is good to.

The women had mixed comments on one component of the court

system, the Victim Witness Program (VWP). This is a program that was

set up to help victims go through the court process. Only one woman who

was interviewed had positive comments about the VWP.

Kaye: Yes, she was wonderful, she listened to me, wrote down a few notes and set up an appointment that day for me to go in [to court] with somebody and the girl who went in with me, I wasn't allowed to tell her my personal stuff, she was only there as a friend.

However other women felt differently about the Victim Witness Program.

All the other women interviewed felt that they were not adequately

prepared for court or they had trouble getting in contact with the program

to get information about their court case. Denise mentioned the limitations

of the program to help victims.

Denise: I've told the Director of Victim Witness you can't tell a witness to just tell the truth because that's not adequate, it's not adequate in the court system...Victim Witness was good but I just find that their role is inadequate. Like I was discouraged from going to watch a trial...I went twice on two separate occasions to watch, and it was "no you don't have to do that, that will stress you out." Yes, but it is worse being stressed out on the receiving end of it [cross examination by partner's lawyer] and never having known it's going to come at you that way.

Jennie discussed the problem of the program not working for her.

Jennie: You know she's [woman from VWP] supposed to listen to my case and make documents and this and that and she said "don't tell me no more I'm going to get sick, don't tell me no more"... She never called us and we had to call her a hundred million times to finally track her down to find out what the hell was going on. Finally when we went to court she never came with us and she was supposed to and walk us through the court proceedings. The final question that was asked of the women about the court system was what they thought and felt about the outcome of the court. Of the five women who have dealt with the court process, four of them indicated they were not happy with the outcome. However, Marie stated her satisfaction with the way things turned out for her. Her case was never completed because her partner did not show up for court and cannot be located.

> Marie: Everything kind of flowed together good. It's just in my instance of him not showing up [for court] it never did get closure. But in my case I think it works out OK for me. If this court case with the charges are in limbo for the rest of my life at least I'll be safe. Who's to say, if we go to court he might win. I'm safer now with it in limbo. I mean I would tell the truth, but he might lie. I would tell the truth but they might not see my side against his or whatever. I mean there are pictures; how could pictures lie? I feel safe, anyway.

Pam's partner pleaded guilty. After being in court seven times, he

received ninety days for assaulting her with a weapon. He got to serve his

sentence on weekends because he works. Pam's statement sums up the

sentiments of the four women who were angry about the court system.

Pam: It's very frustrating and when you think about what you've gone through and what you've dealt with and trying to get on with your life, and your children. It's very overwhelming at times. I did everything, I went through all the steps. I had a video taped statement done, I had pictures done, I was speaking out against violence against women and domestic violence, I wrote a victim impact statement to the judge. I made him aware in the letter that I had made a video taped statement, that the pictures are there and if you wanted to take a look at them please... it's very frustrating, and something has to change in this system, something has to change because it doesn't work, not for victims, it works for offenders.

Whether a woman feels empowered or victimized by the services that she deals with when she is first abused has a significant impact on whether she will follow through and cooperate in the rest of the management of her case, such as, calling the police if her partner breaches his conditions of release, or testifying in court. All of the women felt empowered by the SATC. They felt listened to, believed, not judged or blamed for the abuse and they all felt that they were given options to make an informed decision about what to do next. Many of the women continue to have contact with the nurse from the SATC.

The women gave mixed comments about the police. The most negative comments were given when women first initially had contact with them, such as Kaye and Marie who both wanted to have their partners charged but had difficulty accomplishing this even though both had visible physical injuries. Other women also indicated that they were not initially listened to or believed and that they felt judged or blamed for the abuse. However, after the first negative response by the police the majority of the women suggested they had positive experiences with the police.

The women expressed a variety of emotions and thoughts when making the video taped statement. They discussed such things as self blame, feeling relaxed, nervous, feeling ill because of just being

assaulted, how difficult and traumatic it was, and one woman expressed fear of retaliation from her partner. Only two women have viewed the video taped statement but both indicated in some way that they saw or heard a different side of themselves on the tape.

None of the women who have dealt with the court felt that the court outcome was severe enough. Only Kaye had favorable comments to make in that she felt listened to and believed by the court. However, it is significant that though the judge apparently listened to and believed her, her partner was not given a more severe sentence. Her partner received a fine and probation. He could have been sentenced with jail time but was not. None of the women who have been to court were pleased with the Crown Attorney's office and the comments about the VWP were mixed--some women indicated a good experience and other women felt that they were inadequate.

Overall, it was found that all the women who had contact with the SATC indicated that it was an empowering process, and that it is a valuable and worthwhile program. The women who had contact with the police had mixed comments about whether they felt empowered or victimized. Of the three services examined for this thesis it was with the court system where women felt the most victimized. All of the women who had gone through the court system felt that it needed improvement in order to meet the needs of abused women whose partners had been charged with assaulting them.

B. Gender Inequalities

Though my interviews with the women focused on the question of empowerment/victimization, other important themes emerged through the interview process. In this section I focus of the problem of discrimination. Many women indicated that they felt discriminated against by the police or court system. Three of the women I spoke with specifically mentioned their preference for having a female officer rather than a male officer attend the scene both because they would have preferred dealing with a female officer and because they felt that men and women think differently.

Abby discussed the problem of a male officer who refused to take a statement from her:

Abby: I don't know if it was a man/woman equality thing or just lack of education....[later in the conversation]... in this day and age you think that they would be more aware or even have a female officer there.

Jennie stated the same concern but expanded on her thoughts

about how men and women are different.

Jennie: You see I had male cops, which was kind of hard...I think that whenever cops are there if it's a female victim they should radio a female cop...girls think different than guys do and that's a proven fact. They know where your train of thinking is coming from and they can feel a little bit more than the guy cops can.

Janice made a comparison between two police officers she dealt

with one a female and one a male.

Janice: The second assault I had a lady who was wonderful and I can still call her to this day

and she is very helpful or whatever. She is just wonderful. The detective [male] who called me that Sunday is in charge of the case and I have not heard from him since that day. Heard nothing!.... Like I said she was phenomenal. I don't know if it's because she was a woman or what it was but she was good, really good. They arrested him immediately on the spot. She even went through the car because he had taken my jewelry... and we found it. She was just really really nice. She even called me the next day to make sure everything was OK.

Janice also found a difference between males and females who

worked in the jail when she would call trying to find out if her partner had

been released or not.

Janice: Some of them wouldn't [give information]. I got lucky and had a couple of women who were fine but a couple of the men would say "I'm too busy right now."

When discussing the court system Jennie also brought up the issue of

gender.

Jennie: I basically think there should be female judges. Honestly because they are supposed to be on both sides but I mean the judge was on my side but he wasn't, that's how I felt, like just being a guy you know for the other guy's club.

These comments indicate that several of the women who were

interviewed felt that gender was an issue when they dealt with the police,

the jail system, or the court system. The women suggest that they

preferred or would have liked to deal with a female instead of a male.

Another way in which the theme of discrimination was expressed

was when Carol discussed the wage difference between herself and her

partner. Carol discussed her concerns when she talked about her partner's emotional and financial control of her. Carol is fearful that her partner will force her through a long court battle if she tries to obtain custody and support. If this happens she will not have any money left over to buy the basic necessities she needs for herself and her children to start over.

> **Carol:** He makes more than twice what I make. He knows he's the one who can start over. But for me I'm basically at my wage maximum for many years. I do pretty good for my experience and what I get. I feel I get a good wage but I'm not going to get much more for the next few years. He knows that.

Kaye and Carol discussed the concerns they felt when having to deal with the financial burdens of going through the family court system. Women who want to separate from their abusive partners often go through the legal aid process in order to obtain a separation and custody of their children. Legal Aid is an agency that offers individuals (who do not have the financial resources to pay for a lawyer) a certificate that enables them to receive free legal advice from a lawyer of their choice. However, if a person owns property of any kind then a lien is placed on the property for the amount of the legal aid certificate that was obtained. Kaye discussed concerns she had with the court system and the burden of having to pay Legal Aid back because her partner wanted the case reopened after the judge made a decision to grant a divorce and for her partner not to have visitation with their child. **Kaye:** He's [partner] bringing me back to court again to default on the divorce, is what they're saying. This is superior court. This is twice now, the first time they threw it out but they [partner and his mother] keep pushing and pushing.

Later on in the discussion Kaye talked about the financial burden of the

court on her.

Kaye: At first I had to go through Legal Aid because I wasn't working. Once the trial was finished [family court] Legal Aid gave me my bill almost \$8,000. I have to pay that back because there is a lien on the house. Because the trial had ended it's like opening a new storybook or episode and because I'm working, Legal Aid would not cover it. So I had to pay almost \$1700 for one court.

Carol discussed the ramifications of Legal Aid and family court on her

children.

Carol: Right now I'm trying to work out what's best for the boys about custody. Well he's [partner] offered to give me full custody right now. But if he gets mad at me he'll fight me. I was trying to rule out Legal Aid so I can save what I have; so I don't have to put the little bit of property I have, dole it out to Legal Aid in needless expense. I mean that's all I have and on my income I won't be able to get the boys much. I don't want it all doled out to Legal Aid.

Both Kaye's and Carol's situations demonstrate the financial

hardships that are placed on women and children when they have to go

through the legal process to end a domestic violent relationship. This

inequality in the process is experienced despite the fact that it is the man's

abusive behavior that has placed the woman in this position.

Several women mentioned their frustration at the court outcome and

the unfairness of it. Pam discussed the injustice when her partner

received 90 days when he pleaded guilty to assaulting her with a weapon

Pam: It's like he 'pleaded guilty, let's give him a pat on the back, he did a good thing here he didn't waste a whole lot of taxpayers' money and you don't have to go through the trauma of being on trial and all that,' and I thought big deal. I would gladly have done that, if justice was to be served.

Jennie also mentioned her concerns about the unfairness of the court

sentence her partner received.

Jennie: For his sentencing he got 120 days which you only do two thirds, which is 80 days, three years probation and three years not being able to drink, whoopee shit, like he'll listen. He will never ever in his lifetime be able to possess firearms or explosives and 300 hours I believe of community service. I was pissed, I'm sorry he got charged with aggravated assault it should have been attempted murder. He tried to kill me, if someone has a gun and shoots someone in the leg they get charged with attempted murder. So my neck is out to here [partner choked her] and my eyes are blue and purple because of the pressure. Is that not attempted murder? And the whole thing is, the judge kept saying "your cheek, your cheek" yah, so what he bit my cheek? But what about the point he tried to kill me?

Overall, the women I interviewed indicated in several different ways that they felt they had received unfair treatment by the police and court system. The women mentioned their preference to have a female police officer at the scene, the unfairness of both the family court and the criminal court. A discussion of the theme of discrimination will be elaborated in chapter six.

C. Ideological Inequalities

Another theme that emerged through the interview process was that of women's responsibilities towards their children. At some point during the interview all five women who had children living in the home mentioned some aspect of the child's welfare and their responsibility towards their children. Two women mentioned comments made by the police and the family court judge. These statements, as we shall see, indicate how the issue of motherhood can be used for and against women. Other women discussed their concerns about referrals to the Children's Aid Society (CAS). One woman explained how she and her children were put in danger by the police and another woman discussed how her male partner uses her love for the children against her. Still other women spoke of the impact of the abuse on their children.

Janice had been separated from her abusive partner for a number of months and had been allowing him access to their child, not knowing that there was a restraining order to keep him from the home. Janice was under the impression that her partner had a right to see his child. During one of her partner's visits with the child he assaulted Janice again. Janice discussed the attitude of the detective when he found out that Janice had allowed her partner in the home. This statement illustrates how the ideology of motherhood is used against Janice.

Janice: he [detective] called me Sun. morning and raked and I mean raked me right over the coals. He swore at me and everything. Told me I better get my shit together, told me to get my head screwed on straight and that they were going to take my child away from me. That I was the one putting her in harm's way by letting him in. There was a restraining order against him and he should never have been there. I didn't know that. I had no idea.

Kaye's experience with a family court judge was different. Kaye's

partner and his mother wanted visitation with the child on Christmas Eve

and petitioned the courts for it. Kaye discussed a comment that the Judge

made when he ruled in her favor. This statement illustrates how

motherhood can be used in a woman's favor when the judge indicated that

it was a negative thing to separate Kaye from her child at Christmas.

Kaye: The judge said "no I'm not going to separate a mother and a baby just so that you [partner and his mother] could put the baby underneath the Christmas tree surround him with ornaments and decorate him with tinsel."

Three of the five women I spoke with who had children living in the home stated that referrals had been made to CAS. Referrals are made to CAS when an individual feels that a child has been put in harm's way or if the child has been abused. CAS stays involved with the client until they feel that the child is no longer in danger. In domestic violence situations that usually occurs when the mother stays away from the abusive person. Janice and Kaye discussed how they were referred to CAS and their feelings about that.

Janice: They [police] contacted CAS, the detective contacted CAS. They had come out once before when this charge was made but that was because my husband had called. So they came out and looked at me and basically she [CAS worker] said we don't need to be here. Now that the detective called it in they will stay on the case for a maximum of six months. That's fine with me. I have nothing to hide.

Kaye went to the shelter after the abusive incident and discusses how a

CAS referral was made and the outcome of their investigation.

Kaye: When I was at the shelter... I had told her [shelter worker] the same thing about the baby. Me taking the baby out and him [partner] hitting me in the shoulder and she informed me they were going to call CAS.... So after a few weeks and the courts allowed me to go back home with the baby CAS came out and she interviewed me and I said 'is this just about the incident?' and she said 'yes' and I told her right from the beginning to the end and then she went and interviewed him....[later when discussing the outcome of family court] I got custody of the baby.

When a man is arrested for assaulting his partner he is taken down

to the police station charged and released within a few hours. Often the

woman is never notified that he has been released. Pam indicated that

this was the case in her situation and discussed her fear for herself and

her children.

Pam: I was assured [by police] that he wouldn't be back that night, but within half an hour of being released he was at the house and he scared the hell out of me and the kids.

Brenda and Pam both discussed the impact of the abuse on their children.

Brenda: She [CAS worker] asked my child what happened to him. He told her everything. I didn't expect it, he is very small, you know, he doesn't know nothing. He knows only about toys. But then she asked him what happened between me and my husband he told her everything. I didn't expect it. He knows everything at four years old.

Pam: I don't want my children growing up thinking that's how the world works, when you think somebody did something wrong you can go and beat them up....[later Pam discusses her son] He [son] was turning into a real introvert and he was afraid to open his mouth to say anything...

Carol discussed how her partner would rather see her with nothing than

give her any money. Carol's comments suggest that her abusive partner

uses her love for the children against her. (I asked her how this would

affect the children)

Carol: He'd rather see me suffer...He won't see that the children would suffer, because he would know that no matter what he dishes out to me I wouldn't let them suffer. I would never let them know the things that would go on because that's not what little kids need to know. He knows that's how I would be. He knows I would protect the children that way...

This section demonstrates that in an abusive relationship the

responsibility to keep the children safe is with the mother even though it is her abusive partner's behavior that places the children in jeopardy. In one instant Janice is being berated by the detective for not keeping her child safe and yet in Pam's situation it is the police who place her and the child at risk by not informing her of her partner's release from jail. Overall, what the above statements indicate is that in our society it is women who are responsible to protect and care for the children even in the case where their ability to do so has been seriously undermined.

D. Conclusion

Throughout the interviews the women expressed their opinions about the SATC, the police, and the court system. Overall the women felt empowered by the SATC. However with the police the women felt both empowered and victimized by the way the police treated them. Of the women who have gone through the court system all of them felt victimized by it. While exploring the issue of empowerment/victimization with the women I interviewed, two other themes from the women's statements emerged. Several women mentioned feeling discriminated against by the police, the family, and the criminal court system. All of the women who had children living in the home at the time of the abuse discussed various concerns they had with the police and the court system.

Before exploring these three themes further, I have chosen to recount the experiences of Pam, Brenda, and Abby in the following chapter. By so doing the reader has the opportunity to listen more holistically to three women's experiences when dealing with the services related to domestic violence. Each of their experiences illustrates many of the concerns and difficulties that the other women in this project encountered.

CHAPTER FIVE

Women's Experiences: Three Narrative Accounts

In the previous chapter we heard the women's comments about the three services related to the new integrated approach to domestic violence. In this chapter we hear three women's narratives as they actually experience the process of the new integrated approach to domestic violence. These three narratives illustrate the patterns within all the women's experiences yet highlight the individuality of each woman's situation. Another issue that is difficult to describe through the format of questions and answers is the emotional impact that the women went through when dealing with the abuse and with the services related to domestic violence. The longitudinal experiences of three women are presented here to give the reader a better comprehension of the complexities of domestic violence and the emotional difficulties that women endure when deciding to leave the relationship and when dealing with services that are in place to assist victims. This approach provides specific insights into the experiences of the system as a whole that cannot be as clearly grasped through the examination of the specific services related to domestic violence.

A. Pam's Experience

Pam is a 40 year old woman with a university degree who works as a general laborer. She has lived common law with her abusive partner for

10 years. They have two children from their relationship. Parn decided that she wanted to do the interview for this project because:

I don't like the way the system is going overall, being a victim, the system doesn't work for the benefits of victims I find. It works for the benefit of the abusers.

While Pam was being beaten one night by her partner the police

showed up. They demanded that she go to the hospital. Pam did not

want to go because she did not realize at that time that the injuries were as

bad as they were. At the hospital the police wanted to take pictures and

wanted Pam to press charges. Pam stated:

At that point I was so scared and so traumatized...I thought this happened over something I didn't do, if I press charges what's going to happen to me then. I was really scared, I was afraid to press charges against him for fear of retaliation and they weren't very sympathetic...

The police ended up laying charges and did take pictures while Pam was laying on the gurney at the hospital. Pam stated that her partner had prior charges longer than her arm and that the police were intent on "getting" her partner. She believed that the police involvement had more to do with the police trying to get her partner than about the violence towards her. At that point Pam felt she had no choices or control over the situation. Pam also felt that the police judged her and blamed her for the abuse. Pam stated that these feelings were never verbally spoken. However she felt there was an underlying current when she dealt with the police that she must have been asking for it, and she wouldn't be with this guy if she didn't like that kind of treatment.

After five days Parn decided to cooperate with the police. When asked what changed her mind she stated:

Well I was looking at myself and I was looking at my children and their reaction to the whole situation and I thought this can't go on, that's enough.

The night of the incident after her partner was charged Pam and her children ended up going to the local shelter for battered women because after her partner was charged she was assured that he wouldn't be back that night. However, within half an hour of being released he was at the house. After a couple of days in the shelter and looking at herself in the mirror she started to think 'how could he do this to me?' and "It's not right'. So she started to ask the shelter staff what she could do. The shelter staff suggested she go to the SATC and have pictures taken right away because the swelling was starting to go down. Pam went to the SATC where she said she felt listened to and believed. At the SATC she said she felt like she had control of the situation, whereas, with the police she said she felt pressured and pushed into a corner. At the SATC she felt she had the choice to make decisions for herself and whatever she decided was acceptable. Pam found this approach reassuring and empowering.

The SATC took pictures and arranged for a police officer from the domestic violence unit to come and make a video taped statement of Pam.

Pam's partner had appeared before a judge seven times in the past and plead not guilty. When he found out that Pam had pictures taken and that she had made a video taped statement he decided to plead guilty. After her partner pleaded guilty the Crown Attorney's office made a deal with her partner's lawyer for her partner to serve 90 days. Pam found out about her partner's sentence from his probation officer who needed some information from Pam. Pam was furious and stated:

> Ninety days is nothing compared to the living nightmare that I endured...I can't believe this and I sat back and I felt crushed by the whole system. Ninety days they might as well have slapped me in the face.

Pam has started speaking out against violence against women

because:

The system has to change I am not satisfied with the way it is. Not that I expect to have to go through anything like that again, but no woman should have to go though that and the let down with the system is just too much.

Pam stated that she was not raised in a violent home and that her

family supported her decisions throughout the whole situation. She stated

her mother said to her: "I didn't raise you to be somebody's punching

bag...you go, girl. Go."

Pam discussed seeing a difference in her children's behavior after

leaving the abusive situation. Her son was very introverted. However

after leaving her partner Pam said her son is now very outspoken and not

afraid to voice his opinions. She said her daughter, who was three at the

time Pam left, did not speak but when she started to talk she was talking in sentences because she did not have the fear of saying the wrong thing anymore.

Throughout the interview Pam's voice was filled with emotions. When describing the abusive incident that led up to her leaving, Pam was holding back tears. When Pam talked about the decision to cooperate and have the pictures and the video taped statement done you could hear pride in her voice. When Pam talked about the system and how it failed her I could hear the anger and outrage in her voice. When she talked about the change in her children her voice softened and you could hear

B. Brenda's Experience

Brenda is a 25 year old woman with a grade 12 education who works as a housekeeper. She was married to her husband for five years and they have a four year old son together. They are all landed immigrants and have not been in Canada very long. When I first started the interview I was under the impression that Brenda had a better command of the English language than she actually did. After a few initial questions I realized that her English was limited. However I continued with the interview, modifying the questions, because I believed that Brenda had an important story to tell and I also believed that Brenda's experience of an abused immigrant woman needed to be heard.

Brenda called the police one evening after her husband went to work. He had assaulted her and someone had told her the police could help her out. The police came and immediately took a statement and suggested that Brenda and her four year old son go to the local battered women's shelter. Brenda went to the shelter and the shelter called CAS and the SATC to come and take pictures. Brenda was pleased with the way the police, CAS and the SATC assisted her.

Brenda stayed in the shelter for only a few hours, she went home when she found out that her partner had been arrested and charged. Her partner was released from jail with conditions not to associate with Brenda. However her partner started to go to her workplace, her child's daycare and left several messages on her answering machine. Brenda became frightened and called the police. The police arrested him again, this time for breach of the conditions of his release. He spent three days in jail for this and was released. Brenda stated she has not heard from him since that time.

Throughout the interview Brenda quietly cried. Big tears ran down her cheeks and yet she made no noise. Until meeting Brenda I never knew someone could cry so quietly.

Although Brenda is new to this city she has built up a small support system for herself. Brenda has no family and few friends in Canada so her support system consists mainly of acquaintances and individuals in the

various services with whom she has had contact. Brenda talks about

going to work when her partner was stalking her.

I went to my work. I didn't work but I told all the people at my work. I didn't want to tell nobody my situation but I had to tell them because if he comes he could make me trouble there. I told the lady at the desk, if he comes tell him I don't work today...Then he comes to my work...and then the lady told him 'she didn't work today'...I working but she said 'no....I told him you don't work today'.

Brenda's main concern was not with her partner or the abusive

incident but with finding another place for herself and her child to live.

Currently Brenda is working relief and does not have much money to

afford a new place. Brenda has also been in continual contact with the

follow-up nurse at the SATC. She calls the nurse on a regular basis to find

out if the nurse can help her in any way.

My big problem right now is to find an apartment cause I have only seven days, one week. I have to find apartment and take my stuff, everywhere and I don't know. I called the nurse from the SATC, and she told me call public housing. I call and told them my problem and she told me, I was very surprised, because I am in desperate situation and she told me we can't help you because I have to go there and fill out some application and I have to wait for that... [later Brenda discussed the dilemma of not having money] It's no problem finding an apartment but I need money. Then I have to call Social Assistance and ask them for money.

Later in the conversation Brenda discussed her emotional state:

I didn't sleep too much. I didn't eat too much because I am worried about all the time finding an apartment. In a few days I don't know where I can go. I can't sleep...If I find an apartment what about the money?

I asked her if she had a worker from Social Services and she explained the dilemma she was in because she works the same hours that Social Service is open.

> She said I have to give her some papers, then they could give me some money, but you know, but it's hard. I have been working and I can't bring the papers to them and I need the money right now.

I tried to ask Brenda how she felt about going to court and testifying against her abusive partner but she had difficulty understanding what I was saying. Again I tried to explain the court system and how it works but the language barrier was too great. Brenda faces many of the same problems that other abused women face. However considering the language barrier and Brenda's uncertainty about how our social system works she is severely disadvantaged.

C. Abby's Experience

Abby is a 51 year old woman, who has a university degree and was married at the time of the assault. She had been in the relationship with her partner for six and a half years. Abby's partner came home one evening and started an argument with Abby. He pinned Abby against the couch and they struggled. In the process of trying to free herself she scratched his face. He left the house stating he was going to the police to report her for the abuse. Abby was frantic; she had moved out to the

country and was not sure how to contact the police.

I was calling 911, they said was this an emergency and I told them and then they gave me the number...they didn't want me calling if it wasn't really an emergency.

When Abby found out who she should be calling she said:

They [police officers] were too busy to talk to me or to come or send someone out. In the meantime they were taking my husband's statement and they didn't want to come and take a statement from me because they were too busy...They suggested I make an appointment and go the next day.

Abby was frantic and started placing calls to family and friends because

she did not know what to do.

I was calling all these people that night, everyone, like the lawyer, not knowing where to turn because I didn't want to make a great big 'Hullabaloo' about it, but I wanted it documented about what happened.

Someone suggested she call the local shelter for battered women and the

counselor at the shelter directed her to the SATC. Through the SATC

Abby had her injuries photographed and documented. Abby stated:

They showed compassion...It really felt good when I went to the hospital and even the nurse at the hospital was caring.

Abby was given the name of a female constable at the domestic

violence unit who gave her the names of Government agencies if Abby

wanted to lay a complaint about how she was treated. However, the next

day Abby did go to the police station in her area and talked to the Staff Sergeant. She told the Staff Sergeant how disappointed she was with the other police officer she had spoke with the night of the assault . She explained how the other officer refused to take her statement or pictures of her bruises but did take her husband's statement and pictures of the scratch on his face. Abby indicated that she was not treated well by the police and that they did not believe her. Abby went on to say that the officer did not handle the situation in a professional manner. She felt that no matter what the officer thought of the situation or who he believed he should not have shown a bias of any kind.

Abby decided not to follow through with either the complaint to other Government agencies about the police behavior or about pressing charges. In hindsight she now feels that this may have been a mistake. She is currently going through the divorce process. Her lawyer has the pictures and when the pictures were shown to her partner's lawyer, Abby said her partner's lawyer made the comment that "my head wasn't torn in half that I just had minor scars."

The patterns in Abby's experience with the police and her partner's lawyer indicate a feeling about domestic violence that continues to be prevalent in our society. These patterns are the refusal to listen to or believe abused women when they discuss their abusive situations; blaming the victim of a domestic violent incident instead of the abusive partner; and minimizing the abuse that women endure. These patterns reinforce the

concept that the violence is somehow the women's fault. All of these patterns disempower women to change the situation they are in because all of these patterns lead to the victims' blaming themselves. By blaming the victim, the systemic causes of domestic violence are not addressed. Many people say "After all she could just leave". This kind of thinking relieves society as a whole from having to change laws and policies that relate to domestic violence because it is ultimately the victim's fault, not society's fault, that women are in this situation. This kind of thinking not only maintains women in abusive situations but it also prevents the state from developing and providing services that women need in order to leave an abusive situation.

D. Reflections on the Interview Process

All the women I interviewed were very forthcoming with information about the violence they endured in the relationship. Throughout the interviews the women appeared to want to talk about the relationship more than they wanted to discuss the services for victims. After I was finished asking the questions many women hesitated to leave. With various interviews I ended up summarizing and saying good by several times before the woman actually left. It seemed to me that the women involved in this project had a real need to discuss their situations with someone. I would often refer the women to the loca! battered women's shelter so that if they needed to talk, or if the interview triggered flash backs or nightmares, the women had a safe place to discuss their concerns.

Approximately a month after I stopped the interviews I woke up one night and started to think about all the things women have told me through the eight years that I have been a counselor at a battered women's shelter. Not only did I think that no one should have to hear such horrible things but I also thought no one had the right to inflict that kind of abuse on women and children. No human being has the right to do those heinous acts to another. It's against the law and as Pam so eloquently stated "the system has to change."

I worked as a full time counselor at a battered women's shelter for six and a half years and the past year and a half as a relief counselor while I went to school to complete my Masters Degree. When I initially left my full time position and went back to school I felt like I had been in a war zone. Counseling battered women is very worthwhile; the women have strength and resilience beyond belief. Yet at the same time I did not realize the impact that hearing about the abuse had on me. When I first started counseling I often took the women's experiences home with me. However over the years I stopped doing this. I became desensitized to hearing about the abuse. Since working the relief shifts, and not working permanently, I have found that I am more sensitive to the violent episodes that the women describe and that I have again started to take the women's experiences home with me. Since I started working relief and doing my graduate studies research on domestic violence at the same time, I am not sure if the sensitivity to the women's experiences was due to the fact that I

was not hearing about the violence as frequently as when I worked fulltime at the shelter or if it is due to the fact that I am doing research on domestic violence and delving deeper into the subject. Perhaps it is a combination of both.

Being a counselor in a shelter is a very isolating situation for two reasons. First, many women who come to the shelter are in high risk situations so confidentiality must be maintained at all times. The second reason is that even if you want to discuss the situations outside of the shelter many of them are so bizarre that no one would believe that that kind of behavior actually happens in our society. Brenda made an excellent comparison when she saw the pictures of her injuries and said it reminded her of the war in her country.

The counselor role and the researcher role are two separate identities. While doing this research project I consciously reminded myself that I was not there in my counselor role. As stated before, the women were very forthcoming with information. From the moment that they entered the room a rapport developed between us. I thoroughly enjoyed the interviews and talking to the women. The closeness I developed with the women I interviewed was greater than any experience I have had with a client in the role of a counselor. I am not sure why this is the case because both roles have barriers and limitations to them and I enjoy both roles. Perhaps it's because in the researcher role there is more freedom and time to listen to and explore other avenues rather than just those

relating to the specific and immediate problems of abused women. Also the expectations that an abused woman has of a counselor is different. In the counselor role it is almost as if the woman expects you to have all the answers and be able to fix everything. As a researcher you ask questions and seek information that the woman willingly wants to give.

As a counselor there is a professional distance that you place between yourself and the client as a way to cope with the overwhelming emotions and appalling experiences that many abused women express. This distance became apparent in the writing format of this project. My advisor noted that when I wrote the section on the women's voices it was very much as if I was writing a report, very objective. As a counselor the recordings that we do are very factual. Recordings are about what the client thought and felt; there is no room for your own interpretations of the situation. In the back of your mind there is always the thought that your recordings could somehow end up in a court case. For this reason the language in the reports are very detailed containing only factual information. The language and writing style used in many of the Social Sciences is more humanistic where the researcher can make informed assumptions and interpretations through the research process. When writing this project I had difficulty stepping outside of the language and writing style that I had used for the past eight years as a counselor.

When I think of battered women and the isolation they feel because of the abuse I am reminded of the isolation I feel as a counselor. Just as

battered women think no one will believe them I often think no one would believe some of the horrendous things that I have heard over the years.

E. Conclusion

Through the three holistic accounts I have tried to demonstrate both the complexities and the subtleties that women go through when dealing with services related to domestic violence. Whether or not a woman is listened to or believed has an impact on whether she will follow through with other services. Therefore it is particularly important when women report incidences of abuse to the police that they be listened to, believed, and not judged or blamed for the abuse. As we saw with Abby, a woman may end up not following through because of the bad experience she has with the police at the time of the attack.

Pam in contrast did everything she was told to do. She had pictures taken, made a video taped statement and still her partner did not receive a harsh sentence. Did the Judge even look at this evidence and, if not, why not? Are pictures and video taped statements just another hoop that women are to jump through? Are they a way of paying 'lip service' to women who are abused and demand that their partners be charged? Are the pictures and video taped statements a way of getting guilty pleas and a higher conviction rate but not real justice?

Brenda's situation demonstrates the problems that many women face when leaving a domestic violent situation. However, Brenda's situation is compounded because of the language barrier and because she

is not familiar with our social service programs. Many women who leave domestic violent situations have difficulties finding safe affordable housing. Many women work for low wages and have to make a decision about whether to lose a day's wages or to go to social services to see if they are eligible for monthly financial help.

The three holistic accounts of the women's experiences demonstrate the process that abused women go through after they are abused. Many women are confused, frantic and traumatized from the emotional and physical impact of the abuse. It is only after a few days when they have calmed down and started to reflect back on what occurred that they feel confident to make informed decisions. Initially, in this study, even in their chaotic state after the abusive incident most women turned to the local battered women's shelter for guidance, assistance and safety. From there they were referred to other related services they might need.

The narratives were presented to show the whole process through which women who have been assaulted must go. Though, in the previous chapter, the services related to domestic violence have been disaggregated for analysis, these services are in practice interwoven so that a woman is often dealing with many services at one time. Because of this practice, women are often given an overwhelming amount of information that they may not be able to process because of their domestic abuse experience.

Within the three accounts here we see the complexities and subtleties of domestic violence at work: a woman's frantic emotions, the isolation and vulnerability of many women; the many and immediate decisions that have to be made in a matter of minutes; the way the police interact with an abused woman to get a statement; and how the police officers' ideologies and belief systems play into whether they even will take a report and arrest the abusive man. Although it is important for the police to get a detailed and comprehensive report from the woman as soon after the abuse as possible, it is also important to show some compassion and give the woman the time she needs to make informed decisions. The women in this study who felt the police did show compassion and allowed them to make their own decisions gave positive feedback about how they were treated by the police.

We also see the impact that the abusive situation has on the rest of the woman's life. Due to the fear of retaliation the abused woman must leave her home with her children and flee to a shelter in order to remain safe. Women also have practical considerations in the days after the abuse. Where do they live? Do they have enough money to start over? Should they get a separation or a divorce? Will they be believed in court? Will they get custody of their children? Will their partner get visitation rights? Women are very vulnerable immediately following an assault and need time and space before being rushed into major decisions that affect the rest of her life and that of her children.

The following chapters will discuss the concerns raised by the statements the women made about whether they felt victimized or empowered by the SATC, the police or court system. A discussion will also ensue about how the women felt discriminated against by the police and court system and their concerns and responsibilities towards their children. From the women's comments five other themes emerged that will also be discussed. The women's comments about the various services will also be placed in the context of how the state has dealt with feminist demands in the past.

CHAPTER SIX

ANALYZING THE "NEW" INTEGRATED SYSTEM

Here in this chapter the new integrated approach to domestic violence will be analyzed from the women's words in association with the three patterns that were found in the literature review. In the literature review on how the state deals with feminist demands, outlined in Chapter two, it was found in Canada that policies and laws that on the surface appear to be gender neutral often mask stark gender and class inequalities. It was also found that issues that women have fought to change are still in the control of the state, at times rendering women powerless and under state control. Finally, a pattern was identified within state regulation that often reinforces the ideology of motherhood and traditional values.

In this chapter each of these patterns will be analyzed in the context of what the women thought and felt about their experience of the new integrated system of domestic violence that has been set up by the Ontario Government to assist victims. The Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center (SATC) is one aspect of this new integrated system and the police and the court system are the two other components. What the women I interviewed for this project thought and felt about the three components of the new integrated system will be analyzed in this chapter. While the questions that the 10 women involved in this study were asked referred primarily to the issues of empowerment and victimization, other concerns

emerged from their statements. In the following chapter these concerns will be discussed under the themes of gender, compassion/consistency, economic security and finally the safety concerns of women and children. The analysis of the women's words and whether the new integrated system reinforces the patterns found in the literature forms the basis of my discussion here.

A. The Court System

None of the women in this study who have completed the court process felt empowered by the sentence that their abusive partner received. Only Lisa and Kaye made any kind of positive comments about the court system. Lisa made positive comments about the Crown Attorney's office sending her letters if she needed more information about the court proceedings. However Lisa's case is still pending. The case was brought before the courts once and was remanded. At the time of the interview she had not met with either the Crown Attorney's office or the Victim Witness Program (VWP).

Kaye who has completed the court process was the only woman who mentioned she felt the judge listened to and believed her about her situation. However, she was not satisfied with the court's decision regarding her partner's sentencing. If she felt that the judge listened to her and believed her, then why was her partner not given the maximum sentence for assaulting her? He was fined, given probation and told not to associate with Kaye. Kaye felt crushed because he was not given a jail

sentence, especially since he lied on the witness stand and the judge indicated that when Kaye's partner testified "nothing matched up". Other women also felt that their voices were silenced by the court system. On the one hand they were asked to speak out about the violence but on the other hand the court did not listen to what they had to say.

Women in this study felt at a disadvantage when they went through the criminal court process. This is the case where as Smart (1989) states, the law appears to be universal and gender neutral but the effects of the law are not. When Jennie went through the criminal court system she ended up having a breakdown because of the constant delays and continual emotional impact of the situation. Even though some men were given jail sentences the women felt that the sentence was unjust when they considered the extent of the crime against them, what they had to endure through the court process, and the emotional toll it has taken on them. Several of the women who have completed the court process found it unfair and felt that the delays in the court system victimized them and worked to the benefit of the offender. All of the women who encountered the court system felt it should not take so long. Janice had this comment to make about the length of the court case and how it made her feel:

> I'm the victim in this and I feel victimized by the court process. By continually allowing him to drag the process out they [courts] are not upholding the law they are suppose to, as a matter of fact they are breaking the law, because what he did was against the law. And he is not being held accountable for it.

Some women discussed the structural inequalities within the court system. Canadian studies suggest that plea bargaining happens in 60% to 70% of the cases that go through the criminal court system (Ursel & Brickey, 1996: 69). Both Denise and Pam mentioned that, because their partner pleaded guilty a plea bargaining process took place. Therefore a compromise was reached between the Crown Attorney's office and their partner's lawyer on the sentencing outcome. Both women made a victim impact statement that they felt had no effect because of the plea bargaining process. Pam was not consulted at all about the plea bargaining process. Denise was consulted and she stated that the only reason her partner received the sentence that he did was because she took an active part and made sure that the Crown Attorney was aware of what had happened previously with the court case. However, Denise raised the concern that during the plea bargaining sessions some of the charges were dropped. When the charges were dropped this meant the sentence her partner could receive would be reduced thereby making the sentence not as severe.

The women were asked if the judge could overturn a plea bargain decision that had been reached by the defense lawyer and the Crown Attorney's office. Both Pam and Denise felt that the judge could overturn a decision if he wanted. Pam stated:

Like this was already prearranged [plea bargain sentence]...the worse part was he [judge] said to the prosecutor "well you put me in a real bind here. You made this deal and this woman is saying it's not a fair deal, you've tied my hands"... he [judge] could have but it's a thing between a prosecutor and a judge, he would have made the prosecutor's office look foolish."

When Denise was asked if the judge could overturn a plea bargain

decision she said:

I think the judge can. My impression is that the judge can do whatever the judge wants. But they don't, on average they are cooperative with the lawyers. If both lawyers walk in and agree the judge says 'great'. It's less debate he had to do, it's less rationalizing for what he had to do. They go with it. It's a rarity if they don't.

Both of these statements indicate that the judge listened to the lawyers rather than the victims. Neither of these women felt that justice was served.

Also both Denise and Jennie felt that their partners should have been charged with other crimes. Jennie wondered why her partner was charged with aggravated assault instead of attempted murder. It is the police who lay the charges, but it is the Crown Attorney's office who decides if there is enough evidence for a court case to proceed. If the Crown does not think there is enough evidence then the charges may be reduced or dropped. However, in a plea bargaining situation, because the abusive person is pleading guilty, charges that would stand if a trial was to proceed are often reduced. Pam felt like her partner was getting a pat on the back for pleading guilty and not wasting the taxpayers' money on a trial. Pam also indicated that she would gladly have testified in court if

justice was to be served. But in the case of Kaye, even though she did go to court and testify, her partner still did not receive a jail sentence. Jennie was extremely upset that the judge mentioned her most obvious injury on several occasions yet neglected to even consider the fact that her life was in jeopardy because her partner choked her. Considering the impact of the abuse on women one wonders whether justice is served by giving abusive men a lenient sentence. The leniency with which male violence is treated condones violence against women and is an important factor in maintaining gender inequalities in our society (Lees, 1997: 173).

When discussing the court sentence none of the women indicated that their abusive partner was ordered to go for counseling for his abusive behavior. In Pam's situation her partner went to anger management counseling on his own before the court sentence was handed down, showing the judge he was well on his way to being a 'good citizen again'. The men mostly received a fine, a light jail term (of which they serve only two thirds), and probation. Syers & Edleson (1992: 500) found that when police arrest batterers, court system follow-up may be very important. Among arrested men, those who received court-ordered and mandated counseling were the least likely to repeat acts of violence. However, none of the men in this study were ordered to receive treatment of any kind.

Several of the women who had pictures taken of their injuries and a video taped statement made were not sure if the judge even looked at this

evidence. Of the five women who have been to court three of them had both pictures and video taped statements made and two women had only pictures taken. Only one woman commented that the judge examined the pictures. The other women were unsure if the judge had examined the pictures and/or the video taped statements, so they were unsure of whether the pictures and video taped statements had an impact on their abusive partner's sentence. Of the four women who have completed the court process none of them were pleased with the court outcome and the sentence their partner received. As Boyd (1997: 20) points out we must be cautious of state action that does little to improve the circumstances of women's lives.

Pictures and video taped statements were initially taken so that the judge could see the impact of the abuse on the women. Having visible documentation of physical injuries appears to be a beneficial idea because it allows the judge or possibly a jury to see the extent of a woman's injuries. If judges are not viewing these pictures and/or video taped statements then one wonders why are they being done. If the judge does view them, then why are men not receiving stronger sentences?¹⁶ As

¹⁶ It is outside the scope of this study to examine the conviction rate of abusive men before the pictures and videotaping were being done. It has been reported that with this new way of gathering evidence the conviction rate of abusive men is 100%. In my experience as a counselor at a shelter for battered women, before the pictures and video taping were done abusive men often did not get convicted. On the surface then it appears that the pictures and video taped statements have made an improvement. However what is currently happening is that when pictures and video taped statements are gathered as evidence abusive men are pleading guilty. Due to this fact a plea bargaining process takes place and the abusive man does not receive a harsh sentence. As indicated by the women in this study they thought that their abusive partners should have received a stronger sentence.

Snider (1997: 239) points out we need to be suspicious of the criminal justice system as a way of invisibly monitoring and controlling women's lives. Since women in our society are already disenfranchised we need to be careful that new state regulations that are set up to help women do not further victimize them.

In Abby's situation no charges were laid so the case is not being heard through the criminal courts but she is going through family court to obtain a divorce and a settlement from the relationship. Abby's partner's lawyer made a revealing comment when he saw the pictures of Abby after the abusive incident. The comment was that "her head wasn't torn in half; she just had minor scars". This statement from a lawyer who knows that any kind of assault is a crime is horrendous. It is through the minimization of abuse and attitudes like this that women are discouraged from reporting the abuse. Also it is through the minimization of the abuse that court sentences for abusive men get reduced. These kinds of statements keep women locked into abusive relationships and take the responsibility of the abuse away from the man therefore allowing him not to be accountable for his behavior.

The Victim Witness Program (VWP) which is part of the Crown Attorney's office received mixed comments from the women. This program was set up to assist victims who go through the court process. Part of the responsibility of this program is to keep victims informed about court dates and times. Also if the victim feels the need to have someone

support her when she has to appear in court a person from the VWP is to accompany the victim. Kaye felt that the VWP listened to what she had to say but she did state that if she wanted any information she had to call them. Many of the women did not feel that they were kept adequately informed about their court case. Jennie repeatedly called for information and could never get through. When Jennie did get through and left a message, her calls were never returned.

Janice's court case was pending at the time of the interview. She had called VWP at least a dozen times and each time she was told they would contact her when they had some information. Janice stated she was afraid they would contact her two weeks before the court trial. She wanted information before then so that she could mentally prepare herself for court and arrange a baby sitter for her child. Janice stated "I can't just drop everything at the drop of a hat and go, that's very hard for me". Janice is unsure what the charges are against her abusive partner or what the minimum and maximum sentences are for his charges. Janice stated she feels completely lost. She expressed the fear that somehow the case would get turned around on her. Janice expressed the frustration and fear that many women have with the VWP and the court system. All of the women who had been to court or who had cases pending expressed fear and concern about having to appear. Fischer and Rose (1995: 418) also found this a common theme in their study. One way to eliminate this fear is for the women to gain knowledge and information about the court

proceedings. This is the responsibility of the VWP; however, the VWP does not appear to have met the needs of the women whom I interviewed. One woman suggested that the VWP or the Crown Attorney's office make a package that they send to all victims of domestic violence with both generic and specific information. An example of generic information would be what is a restraining order, what happens if an abusive man breaches it, and what sentencing goes with what charge. Specific information about court dates and times should also be provided.

All of the women who had appeared in court mentioned how intimidated they felt when they had to testify. Part of this intimidation comes from the layout of the court room. Two women mentioned that the prisoner's box needs to be further away from the witness stand because in order to get to the witness stand they had to walk right by the abusive person. Although this would not be an easy problem to solve because of the structure of the courtroom some other accommodations should be made when abused women need to testify against their abusive partner. One woman mentioned she could have asked for a screen to be in place so that she could not see her abusive partner and he could not see her but she felt that if she asked for the screen she was demonstrating that he was still able to control her.

Denise believes that the role of the VWP is currently inadequate because it does not prepare victims to be effective witnesses. She watched two court cases before she went to the preliminary hearing for her

court case. Denise discussed at length how her partner's lawyer tried to twist and turn what she was saying against her. She said: "it wasn't about trying to find out the truth, it was about games and semantics and manipulations". When Denise had contact with the VWP they repeatedly told her to just tell the truth, but Denise feels that it is not adequate to just tell the truth. She believes that when you testify you have to be an effective witness and be aware of the games and manipulations that go on in the court room. Denise stated that after having watched two court cases she felt better prepared when she had to testify.

In sum, none of the women I interviewed felt empowered by the court system. They did not feel listened to or believed. However, only one woman felt judged or blamed by the court system for the abuse. Many women indicated they felt intimidated when having to appear in court. Other women did not feel that their requests for information about court proceedings were taken seriously. Two women indicated that the judge could have overturned a plea bargaining decision if he wanted to, but did not because it was easier to go with the decision that had already been made and avoided making the Crown Attorney's office looking bad. When you consider that our judicial system is based on equality for all, we must ask if equality prevails when a woman who has been abused cannot even find out simple information about the court case against her abusive partner. If she is to testify, why can she not find out the date and time of the trial, the charge against her abusive partner, and the sentence for the

charge? Without this information a woman is made powerless, and that is how the court system made the women whom I interviewed feel. In this sense using the criminal justice system to reduce domestic violence is not a reliable solution. My study supports the view that using it as an integral part of feminist strategies to control domestic violence is highly questionable.

On the surface the law appears to be gender neutral and treat every individual in a similar fashion, but this is not the case. It is important to distinguish between the law and the effects of the law (Smart & Brophy, 1985: 17). The law affects every aspect of our life and is used as a means of social control. We often think of the law as one entity however it is composed of many various components and individuals, from police officers to judges. In court cases everyday experiences get translated into legal scripts and so experiences that are important can get lost or misinterpreted (Smart, 1989: 11). The legal system has enormous power over people. Societal beliefs give us the impression that the law can right wrongs, but the law is imposed by individuals with attitudes that are saturated in patriarchal beliefs. Smart (1984: xi) states the law does not give power to men over women but legitimizes the preconditions that create an unequal power structure in our society. For this reason when women engage with the law they are disadvantaged. The court system aspect of this study confirms this view.

B. The Police

Often the police are the first people whom an abused woman contacts after she is assaulted. Therefore it is important for abused women to be listened to, believed, not judged or blamed for the abuse, and to be given their options by the police. As Denise stated she would have jumped out of the system if the officer to whom she reported the abuse indicated that he was judging or blaming her in any way. Six of the ten women felt that they were not initially listened to and four women felt they were not believed by the police.

Abby never did make a police statement because the officer indicated he believed her husband's version that she attacked him. Kaye and Marie were told that they were not able to make a statement because they did not report the abusive incident soon enough after the attack even though both women had visible physical injuries at the time they approached the police. Studies done on victim preference for arrest indicate that the request by victims to arrest is ignored by the police in 75% of domestic cases compared with 40% of stranger assault cases (Buzawa, Austin & Buzawa, 1995: 460). A woman's request for police to arrest when there was a peace bond or a restraining order was ranked sixth out of 12 situational factors (Rigakos, 1997: 212). Therefore, the woman's request to arrest is on average only "slightly important" in the disposition of police towards effecting an arrest (Rigakos, 1997: 212).

When the police do not arrest it indicates the discretionary power that police officers have when it comes to mandatory arrest policies. Mandatory arrest policies state that an officer will arrest anyone in a domestic assault incident where there is reasonable and probable grounds that an assault has occurred (Sparks, 1997: 42). It is obvious that in Kaye's and Marie's cases, the grounds were considered sufficient by police to make an arrest because when both women pursued the matter arrests were made. Kaye's case has been through the courts and her partner was found guilty of assault. In a 1994 Statistics Canada report 24% of women who contacted the police because of a domestic violence incident felt the police should have been more supportive and 20% of the women felt the police should have laid a charge against the perpetrator (Faubert & Hinch, 1996: 238).

For many women, if they are not listened to or believed by the police and an arrest is not made, this can have a disempowering and indeed a devastating effect on them (Buzawa, Austin & Buzawa, 1995: 40). In Janice and Abby's situation the police officers were very clear that they did not believe what either women were saying. Police officers do not necessarily have to believe what women are saying but as Abby said "no matter how the officer felt or who he believed he should not have shown a bias when dealing with the situation". In Abby's situation her partner reported to the police that Abby had assaulted him. Abby informed the officer that she had been protecting herself against her abusive partner.

De Soto (1997: 54) points out that women in our society are not supposed to use violence as a way to protect themselves because women in our society are seen as wives and mothers who protect and serve the family. Abby's case may indicate how, once again, patriarchal beliefs ensure that women are not treated equally in the criminal justice system.

Whether or not a woman thinks she is believed by the police when she discloses information on abuse is linked to whether she feels judged or blamed. Pam raised the issue of feeling judged and blamed by the police for the abuse. She stated that although it was never verbally spoken she felt an underlying current from the police because they knew her partner. From the police she had the feeling that she must have been asking to be abused and that she would not be with her partner if she didn't like that kind of treatment. Hart (1996: 101) states that battered women are often viewed by the criminal justice system as responsible for the crimes committed against them because battered women are believed to have provoked the perpetrator into violence.

Denise also raised the concern about being judged or blamed in a different context. Denise discussed how the officer in charge of her case "took flack" from other officers in his department because he was pursuing Denise's case. The key issue with Pam and Denise's statements has to do with the attitudes and beliefs of the police towards women in domestic violent relationships. As Sparks (1997: 37) points out, police departments are steeped in patriarchy; they are made up of men who have a legitimate

authority to use power and control over people. When police officers attend a domestic dispute they bring with them a set of ideas and beliefs about the individuals involved (Ferraro, 1993: 168-70). For example, Rigakos (1995: 243) found that "the occupational culture of the Delta Police Department in British Columbia cultivates conservative values towards women, family and marriage which eventually lead to skewed perspectives of battered women as symbolic complainants who are sometimes manipulative, and often unreliable witnesses". My study confirms women's generally negative assessment of how the police deal with domestic violence cases.

Janice's and Kaye's comments about what a police detective and a family court judge said indicate that the ideology of motherhood and traditional values can work for and against women. Although neither the detective nor the judge specifically discussed the ideology of motherhood it is indirectly reinforced by their comments and actions. In Janice's situation the detective threatened to take her child from her if she did not act in a specific way to protect her child. In Kaye's situation the judge refused to separate a mother and child on a traditional holiday that celebrates motherhood and the birth of a child. Although the ideology of motherhood and traditional values are not directly spoken they are reinforced by these comments and actions. Both of these statements indicate that it is the woman who is primarily responsible for the child. From the position that these two women were placed in we can see that the reinforcement of

motherhood and traditional values can lead to women feeling disempowered or empowered in our society.

Another set of questions I asked concerning the police dealt with the making and viewing of video taped statements. Six women had video taped statements made. The women's emotions and thoughts on the subject varied. Some women said that they did not have any feelings or thoughts at all during the making of the video tape, whereas other women used words like traumatic, difficult, and nervous to describe their feelings during the process. One woman had the statement done the night she was assaulted and discussed how ill she felt because of the pain from the attack. Overall, the statements that the women made about how they felt during the video taped statements indicate they did not feel empowered by this process.

The thoughts and feelings that the women expressed about having the video taped statement made demonstrate the various reactions that women go through after an assault. Some women are numb after the attack whereas other women are in shock, traumatized or angry. The different emotions a woman experiences immediately following an attack has major implications for whether women should be making any kind of a statement or report so soon after being assaulted.

Only two women have seen the video taped statement they made. One woman commented that she looked like a scared little girl and that was a side of her she did not recognize. She was also surprised that on

the video taped statement she gave as much information as she did. The other woman thought she looked nervous and said it didn't sound like her. It is significant then that upon viewing themselves and hearing themselves on the video taped statement, the women did not think they acted or sounded like themselves. If women cannot recognize themselves or remember what they said during the process of having the video taped statement made then what does this say about the information being presented as evidence in a court case. Does this mean that in the future if a woman is cross examined in court about her video taped statement that her thoughts and feelings could be used against her by the defense lawyer?

In sum, the women had mixed comments about the treatment they received from the police. Some women made very positive comments indicating feelings of empowerment from the treatment they received from police. For example: Lisa felt that the officers she dealt with made her feel comfortable, and explained her options to her. Carol felt empowered when a police officer disclosed personal information about his family of origin and called her a couple of days later to find out how she was doing. However, other women made negative comments indicating feelings of victimization by the police process. The negative comments and the women's feelings of victimization tend to override the positive comments and feelings of empowerment because of the tremendous impact that police treatment subsequently has on the women's lives. An abused

woman is in a very dangerous situation: to go to the police and not be listened to or to be blamed for the abuse is not only damaging to a woman's sense of self worth, but putting her life in further danger. As Marie told the officer who refused to press charges against her abusive husband:

> ... What am I supposed to do, wait till he gets home, tell him I want a divorce and wait till he hits me again. Then you're going to come and arrest him...

The women in this study had several suggestions for how to improve the service that the police provide. Many women stated they felt the police did not deal with them in a professional manner. Therefore, some women felt the police needed to be educated about domestic violence. One woman suggested they attend workshops on the topic. Still another woman commented that when victims of domestic violence go to the police station the police should be willing to listen and take a statement. As this woman pointed out not everyone has access to a phone when they are assaulted and not every woman can leave the night she is assaulted because the abusive person is in the house watching them.

In this section on how the police dealt with women who have been in an abusive relationship we can see the three patterns that were found in the literature surface through the women's words. During the making and viewing of the video taped statements the women made victimizing comments. When the police refused to take Abby's statement and

pictures of her bruises but did take a statement from her husband and pictures of his scratches we see the gender inequalities that often exist when the police deal with victims of domestic violence. Finally, when the police detective made remarks to Janice about protecting her child we saw the reinforcement of motherhood and traditional gender values being emphasized.

C. The Sexual Assault Treatment Center

Overall, in this study I have found that all the women who had contact with the SATC felt it was working well and that it is a valuable and worthwhile program. Nine women that were interviewed went through the process at the SATC and all but one woman still has contact with a followup nurse at the Treatment Center. When asked why they decided to be interviewed for this thesis many of the women said it was because the SATC had helped them in some way and by taking part in my research they were hoping to educate and help others. Some women expressed the concern that the system needs to change and by speaking out about violence against women they felt that they could initiate changes.

Within the context of the SATC all of the women felt listened to, and believed, they did not feel they were being judged or blamed for the abuse and stated that they had been given sufficient options and alternatives by the SATC. Several women mentioned that the nurse from the SATC encouraged them to contact the local shelter for battered women, or to contact the police about the assault. The SATC gave the

women their options but also gave them the choice to do what they thought was best for themselves. None of the women said that they felt pressured by the SATC to follow through with any of the options that they were given. As Kaye pointed out, the nurses guided her through the process but the choices for the future were hers to make.

Brenda drew a comparison between a follow-up nurse and her own mother. Brenda makes this comment about the nurse:

She's the best, she understands like a mother all the time. 'Cause my mother, she always understands me, but she [nurse] is really better for me. Because for you the feeling is best if somebody can talk with you and ask you what happened with some problem.

In this statement Brenda suggests that the nurse understands her better than her mother because the nurse is willing to ask questions about the abusive relationship. Brenda feels she can confide in the nurse about her situation, whereas she could not do so with her mother even though her mother knows her and understands her. Brenda has no family in Canada so finds the contact with the SATC gives her a sense of support and empowerment.

The women who were interviewed also found other avenues of support within the community that empowered them. Nine of the women interviewed had some contact with the local battered women's shelter. The shelter runs a support group for victims of domestic violence. Janice stated: They are phenomenal. Like I know my counselor there said if I ever needed anything I could call them in an instant just to talk. I will definitely continue there for another 12 weeks. Especially while going through the court process. I noticed that there was a week I had to miss and I noticed in the second week I was ready to go and get back in there. Even if I have nothing to say I just need that strengthening. I need that right now in my life. I need that, it's good that they're there.

The other eight women had either stayed at the shelter or called the

shelter at the time of the assault. All of them mentioned the shelter in a

positive way. Two of the women stated that it was through the

encouragement and support of the shelter staff that they found the

courage to have pictures taken and to follow through with calling the

police. Other women commented that they turned to the shelter after

being assaulted because they were confused about what to do next. The

shelter staff gave them referrals and guidance.

Many women found support in their relationship with family and

friends, in addition to the formal support systems. Kaye stated:

My sisters guided me..... my sisters were there for me. I told them everythingthey know everything and they are so supportive. They go to court with me, for the assault...They go to appointments, they help me out if the baby's sick. I mean they are there and they listen to me.

Eight of the ten women mentioned in some way what a support the SATC was for them. The question of whether the SATC would provide emotional support after the abusive incident and throughout the court

procedure was raised in the second chapter of this thesis. All eight of these women keep in contact with a follow-up nurse, some women more than others. Some women call the SATC nurse on a regular basis while other women only do so occasionally. A good example of this is Brenda who calls a follow-up nurse on almost a daily basis. Jennie also stated that although it has been a year since the abuse, she still calls the SATC occasionally to keep in touch. Jennie knows that, if she needed to, she could call or page a follow-up nurse and a nurse would be there for her. Several women mentioned that a follow-up nurse went to court with them and emotionally supported them through that ordeal. It was clear from the women's comments that the SATC provides emotional support as well as recording the physical injuries.

Regarding the issue of empowerment the women made some notable comments about having their injuries photographed and when they saw the pictures of their injuries. The one comment made by Lisa that she felt like a criminal having a mug shot taken was revealing. Lisa's comment was not a reflection on the nurse or the service that the SATC provided because Lisa made other comments such as, "the nurse was so caring and nice, she... tried to comfort me." I tried to explore the issue of why it felt to Lisa like she was having a mug shot taken, but Lisa had difficulty expressing why she felt this way, except to say it was "this way and that way". Lisa made this statement while she turned her head from side to side. Lisa was one of the last women I interviewed and it would have

been interesting to explore this comment with other women to see if they had similar feelings. Other women had stated that they felt ashamed or embarrassed about having the pictures taken but no one else made the same analogy as Lisa.

Many women discussed the impact of seeing the pictures of their injuries for the first time. The women appeared to use the pictures as a way of self reflection, looking back at how far they have come, or as a strength not to return to that situation again. One woman said it was not until she saw the pictures that she realized how badly she was beaten. So, although the women felt ashamed and embarrassed about having the pictures taken, when the women viewed the pictures, the pictures provided a confirmation about the severity of the abuse they had endured. The pictures also provided a source of strength to the women not to return to the abusive situation.

Although the pictures were generally seen as a source of strength, two women made what are sometimes referred to as "self victim blaming" comments. One woman throughout the interview used statements like "I'm stupid, I'm dumb, It makes you feel like an idiot". Women in abusive situations often blame themselves for the situation (Barnett, Martinez, & Keyson, 1996: 227). This is because women in our society are generally seen as caregivers and nurturers so if something is wrong in the relationship they are blamed. The other woman in this study who made relevant comments on this issue stated she did not think anyone would

listen to or believe her. When asked why she felt she would not be believed or listened to she said it was because her partner continually told her the abuse was her fault. Consequently, she felt no one would believe or listen to her when she described the abuse to the nurse or shelter staff. She expressed amazement that the police, shelter staff and the nurse actually listened to and believed her. While her case shows the impact that living with an abusive man has on a woman's self confidence, it also demonstrates that if women are listened to and believed their self esteem is enhanced (Dutton, 1992 : 77).

The women in this study were asked if they could think of any changes that the SATC could implement that would benefit other women who would use this service in the future. Two women had these suggestions. One woman indicated that she would like to see the office hours at the hospital extended to a 24 hour service. Currently the office is open from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. Monday to Friday. After hours and on weekends a nurse is on call to attend at the emergency room of the hospital if she is needed. After this was explained to the woman I interviewed she still felt it was necessary to have the office more accessible to the public.

The other suggestion about the SATC involved the book that they gave one of the women. The woman was disappointed in the book's content and she did not feel it met her needs. She stated the book listed services for victims of domestic violence and what she needed at the time

was something more related to the emotional impact of abuse and the feelings she was experiencing upon leaving an abusive situation.

Overall, the women in this study found their experience with the SATC to be empowering. By giving abused women the option to call the police or shelter, by advocating to other services on behalf of abused women, by supporting women through the court case, and by educating women about domestic violence through the emotional support of follow-up counseling, the SATC is challenging the way domestic violence has been managed before in our society.

The comments that the women in this study made about the SATC are in direct contrast to the police and court system when we examine the three patterns that were found in the previous literature review. In this study the women who experienced the process of the SATC felt empowered, they did not feel marginalized or disenfranchised and the ideology of motherhood and traditional gender values was not reinforced. The SATC is able to avoid these patterns because it was set up to meet the needs of individual women who are victims of domestic violence. The primary reason the SATC avoids reinforcing the patterns found in the literature is that it starts with the identified needs of the women who use this service and works with the women to meet their needs. By allowing women the time and space to determine exactly what they want the SATC is an empowering program for abused women.

D. Conclusion

In sum, the women who went through the SATC felt empowered by this process. However with the police, some women felt empowered and others did not. None of the women who went through the court process felt empowered -- many of them made statements related to feeling powerless and victimized. Although the terms empowerment/victimization are often thought of as dichotomous, in this study, we find that this may not be the case. It is important to dissect the services related to the new integrated system because if we were to plot these services on a continuum of empowerment and victimization, we would find the women had different views on the various parts of the system. On the one end the SATC forms an important part of the empowerment process, while the police are on either side of the center, with women experiencing a range of both empowering and victimization situations. The court system, on the other hand, is on the opposite end where women identified it clearly as part of the victimization process. All of the women who had gone through the court system felt that it needed improvement in order to meet the needs of abused women whose partners had been charged with assaulting them. By plotting the new integrated approach to domestic violence on a continuum of empowerment to victimization we see the many contradictions within the system. The contradictions that occur within the new integrated approach to domestic violence feed into and perpetuate the three patterns that were analyzed in this section.

The Enhanced SATC is a relatively new service to victims of domestic violence. It is in its initial stages of growth and development so although it is monitored by the state it has a certain amount of autonomy to meet the needs of victims of domestic violence. According to the women in this study it is a very valuable service with the potential to assist women who need it. However, services in the past that have started out being beneficial to women and with a lot of autonomy end up falling heavily under state control and state regulation. As we saw with the battered women's shelter movement, as the state becomes more involved autonomy is lost or severely reduced. When we consider the other two services that have been examined for this thesis, the police have more state regulations and state control and did not meet the needs of victims of domestic violence to the same extent as the SATC. Furthermore, the court system which is totally under state control and state regulation never met the needs of women, in this study. From these examples we can determine that as services fall under state control and regulation they may not meet the needs of the women whom they were initially set up to assist.

As Snider (1997) points out the criminal justice system has its own agenda, so too does the state. The new integrated approach to domestic violence was set up to assist victims of domestic violence but also to create a more efficient way to manage and streamline services related to domestic violence. The potential for emphasis to be placed on the latter goal rather then the former is great. In order to continually meet the needs

of the victims of domestic violence the new integrated system needs constant monitoring and evaluation, with the inclusion of women's critical perspective on the system. For, as Snider (1997) states once the pressure for change is lessened or deflected, the state reverts back to maintaining and servicing its own needs.

CHAPTER SEVEN

BEYOND THE NEW INTEGRATED SYSTEM

As we have seen in this study women felt empowered by the Enhanced Sexual Assault Treatment Center (SATC) and indicated that they felt they were treated fairly. The SATC empowered women because it has been set up to meet the different needs of victims of domestic violence. The SATC starts from the perspective of women and works with women to ensure that their needs are met. Taking into consideration the many differences that women in a domestic violent situation face allows for individual differences to be respected and for abused women to receive fair and equal treatment. However part of the problem with the police and court system is that their mandate is to provide a universal and gender neutral service into which everyone must fit. Also the police and court system are based on a hierarchy and steeped in patriarchy. This provides obstacles to women who need to utilize these services. Women in our society are not viewed as the same as men and do not have the same privileged position that men do; when women interact with state regulations that assume everyone is equal they therefore receive unequal treatment.

Through listening to women's comments on the new integrated approach to domestic violence certain themes become apparent that do not fit into an evaluation of the new integrated system of domestic violence. One of the aims of this study was to hear women's thoughts and

feelings about the new integrated system of domestic violence. This chapter will go beyond the new integrated system and start with the needs of women that are not met within this system. Some of the needs that the women expressed in this study were issues related to gender, compassion/consistency, children's safety, safety concerns for women, and the economic security of women who leave an abusive relationship. How these concerns arose for the women in this study will be examined and then a broader view of how the state has dealt with these issues before will be taken into consideration.

A. Gender

The issue of gender is an important one when it comes to domestic violence. Domestic violence is about men having power and control over women. One in two Canadian women have suffered from some form of physical or sexual violence, since the age of 16 (Rodgers, 1994: 2). Of those women who have ever been married or lived with a man in a common-law relationship, 29% have been physically or sexual assaulted by a marital partner at some point during the relationship (Rodgers, 1994: 2). Although domestic violence is a crime that occurs to women on a large scale, many police services and court officials are composed mainly of men.

Several women in this study discussed the issue of a preference for a female police officer, or judge. Abby wondered why a female officer was not present when she tried to make a statement about the abusive incident

that she experienced. Jennie clearly expressed the fact that she would have preferred dealing with a female officer and thinks that female officers should be called in whenever there is a female victim. Jennie also expressed the fact that she thought there should be female judges. Janice drew a comparison between the way a female officer assisted her and the way a male detective spoke to her. Janice presented the female officer as caring and compassionate while the male officer was presented as using his power and influence over her.

Jennie clearly expressed why she thought female officers and judges should be available if the victim is a female. Jennie believes that males and females think differently and she makes a reference to the "other guy's club" and how men are "for" men. The issue of men and women thinking differently has been researched by Carol Gilligan (Matlin, 1987: 220). She proposes that men see their relationships with other people as part of a hierarchy, in which some people have more power and influence than others. Women on the other hand, see their life as dependent on connections sustained by the activities of care, based on a bond of attachment.

In Janice's situation the male and female officers she dealt with demonstrated the characteristics that Gilligan proposes. The male detective used power and control when swearing at Janice about letting her partner see her child. The female officer showed Janice care and compassion in looking for Janice's jewelry and by calling her the next day

to make sure she was all right. Janice feels comfortable enough with the female police officer because Janice knows if she needed assistance the female officer would help her.

However, many of the women I interviewed dealt only with male officers and they had positive comments to make about them. Lisa explained how the officers she dealt with made her laugh and gave her their cards in case she needed to contact them for further assistance or information about her case. Carol described how the one male officer she had contact with told her about his childhood experiences to encourage her to consider leaving the abusive situation. Carol stated the male officer called the shelter twice to see how she was doing because 'she was on his mind'. What these contradictions between the way the women in this study were treated by male and female officers indicate is that caring and compassion can occur in both males and females. The attributes of power and control and caring and compassion are learned attributes. These attributes are learned through childhood experiences and through the training process that police officers receive. Buzawa & Buzawa (1996: 81) concluded that classic patterns of police training may reinforce dominant occupational ideology towards domestic violence and that traditional police training still fails to provide officers with any basic skills required for successful domestic violence intervention.

Even though some of the women in this study had a good experience dealing with male police officers, the issue of women dealing

with males directly after being assaulted by a male is a crucial issue. What the question of gender shows is that how police officers or judges deal with abused women has more to do with their personality and attitudes and beliefs about women in society, than about their gender. However the gender of the officer does raise the question: how comfortable can a woman feel with a male officer after she has just been assaulted by an abusive male partner? As Jennie stated as soon as a female victim is involved a female police officer should be radioed to assist. When policies and procedures are established that deal with women then women should be involved in every aspect of the development and carrying out of these policies and procedures.

Domestic violence is a problem that is about men controlling women, therefore it is important to deal with women not men around issues of domestic violence. As we have seen with the SATC when services around domestic violence are set up by women for women, women feel more empowered when dealing with these services. When setting up services related to domestic violence the criminal justice system needs to look to the women's health movement and the SATC to find solutions that are women centered.

B. Compassion and Consistency

From the comments that the women made in the pervious section we see the concepts of compassion and consistency playing an important role in how women felt they had been treated by the police and court

system. All of the women felt that the nurses at the SATC showed compassion and caring. It appears through the comments of the women that an important aspect for them when they deal with services related to domestic violence is that what they need at the time of an assault is someone that understands what they are going through. The SATC was set up to deal with victims of domestic violence, the majority of whom are women. Also it is implemented through the Ministry of Health by nurses who have been trained to meet the needs of victims. It was clear through my contact with the nurses from the SATC that they care about the women that they are trying to help. The nurses from the SATC work with the woman from the time that she is assaulted, through the court process and even after the court process if the woman so desires. Through this process a bond is established between the nurse and the woman.

It appears from this study that the women who had positive contacts with police officers also felt that some kind of a bond was established. This bond was achieved in different ways, such as giving the woman a business card, or calling her the next day. However, in other incidents with the police many women did not feel a bond was developed This meant that women often felt that their questions and concerns were not addressed by the police. As one woman in this study mentioned she saw the need for the police to get their reports and pictures immediately following the abusive incident but that the police officers could have shown her some consideration.

The lack of compassion and consistency can also be seen when women talked about how they were shuffled between people in the Crown Attorney's office. Two major complaints that the women had about the criminal court system was that they had many Crown Attorneys and that they did not get an opportunity to meet with the Crown Attorney before the court case. Jennie stated she had four or five Crown Attorneys and that she felt as if she was just a case number to them. She said one Crown Attorney did not even know her name. Marie made a worthwhile point when she asked how Crown Attorneys can defend a woman when they have not talked to them and don't even know what they look like. Denise stated that every time a new Crown Attorney took over, the circumstances of the case were changed and the sentence that her partner was to receive was reduced.

When Janice made an appointment herself to see the Crown Attorney he could not even find her file; she felt that going to see him was a waste of her time because she ended up telling him what was happening. It is clear from the women's statements that dealing with the Crown Attorney's office was not an empowering process for the women who have gone through the court system. Many women in this study felt that the Crown Attorney's office should meet with every victim and that only one Crown should deal with each case.

The difference between the ways the SATC and the police and court system operate indicates that when services are set up to meet the

needs of women this can happen. However, when an existing agency or service just adds women's needs into an already existing patriarchal system it does not always work to the benefit of women. What is necessary here is for women to deal with one police officer or one crown attorney as much as possible. This would enable the woman to work with the police and legal system to establish a rapport and work towards achieving a solution that would satisfy both the woman and the legal system.

It is also important to continually assess services related to abused women because, as Snider points out, the state is not always a reliable of consistent ally to women. Therefore a feminist independent committee to monitor and help women in domestic violent situations deal with other facilitates could be beneficial. From the women in this study who have dealt with the SATC, we have heard that it is doing an excellent job of meeting the needs of women. However, in the past, state policies and procedures that have been set up to assist women have not always continued to do so. As we have seen previously this is the case with policies and programs such as the no drop policy and battered women's shelters.

C. Economic Security

Another concern that arose out of the discussion with the women in this study is that of economic security which includes such matters as the cost of the legal process, the financial impact that proceeding through the

legal system has on their children and on the women's jobs, the implications of the wage differential between men and women, and finally, the financial burden of having to find somewhere else to live.

Kaye and Carol discussed the financial burden that going through the family court system places on them and their children. The concern was raised in chapter two about whether the new integrated approach to domestic violence disenfranchises some women. As can be seen from Kaye and Carol's situation due to a lack of economic resources they felt disadvantaged by the court system. Kaye's partner brought her back to court for "default for the divorce" after a judge had already granted Kaye a divorce and custody of their child. At the time that Kaye's divorce and custody battle was going on she was also going to court for the assault charges related to the abuse by her partner. Kaye stated at one point she was going to court every week for several weeks and each time Kaye had to appear in court or go and see her lawyer she needed to take time off work. This placed Kaye's job in jeopardy. Kaye stated her work place was very good about giving her time off. However because the court cases dragged on for so long Kaye stated that her work place required documentation from the court system to substantiate why Kaye was taking so much time away from work.

Carol raises the point about the wage differential between herself and her husband. As Armstrong (1997: 47) pointed out women earn only about 72 cents for every dollar a man earns. Therefore if a man wants to

pursue a lengthy court battle over divorce and custody issues he has more financial resources to be able to do so. All of the women I interviewed raised the point of the length of time that both family and criminal court cases take. Janice discussed the issue of the length of the court case and how, by dragging the court case on, she felt the inequality of the court system because her partner was not being held accountable for his actions.

Continually going to court not only drains the woman's financial resources but also her emotional stamina. Women who are leaving an abusive situation are usually going through both the family court and criminal court simultaneously and this often takes a toll on the woman's health. Kaye discussed how her health suffered because of the stress of the whole situation. She started out with a simple ear and throat infection that lasted for over six weeks. She ended up having to take time off work and said she thought her illness was prolonged because of the emotional stress she was enduring. She stated she had never been that ill before and could not even go to the store to get milk for her child.

Leaving an abusive relationship is a traumatic experience for the woman and enduring the financial burden of the court places an added hardship on the woman and her children. In Kaye's situation, because her partner has prolonged the family court case, she now has a large debt that she needs to pay, along with supporting herself and her child. Carol also discussed this concern when she stated she does not want the little bit of

money she has to be doled out to Legal Aid because of the legal fees. Because of their limited economic resources, when women go through the court system they do not do so as equals.

Not all lawyers accept legal aid and if they do they are only granted a limited number of hours. If an abusive man continues to drag the case on then the lawyer must apply for more hours or do the work on a probono basis. If the lawyer does apply for more hours through legal aid then this postpones the case even further until legal aid makes a decision about whether to grant the lawyer the extended hours.

From the examples above we see the economic strain that ending an abusive relationship has on the woman and her child. This can be seen in the financial burden the court case places on the woman, the impact that it has on her job, and in the unequal wage differential between men and women. One of the main strains on women who leave domestic violence situation is that they are the ones that have to leave the house and find a new place to live with little or no financial resources available to them.

The issue of women's economic resources plays a large role in the decisions that abused women make on whether to stay or leave an abusive relationship. Today women are more educated than ever before. However, though many women hold post secondary school degrees or diplomas, they are segregated at the bottom of the labor force (Armstrong, 1997: 40-42). Not only do the jobs that women hold fall into traditional

female industries and occupations but also numerous women today work part-time, contract and seasonal work. This means in many cases that they do not qualify for work related benefits such as holidays, health and dental coverage, and pension plans (Teghtsoonian, 1997: 116). For women who are leaving or considering leaving an abusive relationship, whether or not they have a good paying job with benefits can be a major decision-making factor. For women who do not work outside the home the situation of trying to reestablish on their own is even more bleak since welfare payments have been significantly cut and the rules for eligibility altered making it more difficult to claim benefits (Armstrong, 1997: 55). Until the economic structure of our society changes women who are trying to leave an abusive relationship will be at a severe disadvantage.

D. Concern for Children

Five of the ten women I interviewed had children living in the home at the time of the abuse. Through the women's comments about their children we see not only the reinforcement of the ideology of motherhood and traditional values but also the women's concern about their children's safety, custody issues and economic issues related to the children. One of the interesting points that kept surfacing through the interviews was that the women did not feel that they were given adequate information from the police or the court system to keep themselves and their children safe. Janice did not know that there was a restraining order against her husband, nor was she informed when he was released from jail. In fact

none of the women whose partners went to jail were ever informed of their release. Pam was assured by the police that her partner would not be back that night. However he was released and within half an hour of his release he was back at the house. Pam and her children fled to a shelter for safety. In order to formulate a safety plan and remain safe, women who are mothers especially need advance information on when their partner is released from jail.

When the police do not give abused women the information they need to keep themselves and their children safe the police are reinforcing the ideology that abused women are helpless and do not want to change their situation. The messages to women in abusive situations are contradictory. On the one hand, abused women are told they need to cooperate and assist the police to arrest and lay charges so the abusive man cannot harm them again, but on the other hand the police do not cooperate with the women by giving them information that could help them to protect their children and themselves. Women in our society are often seen as powerless and helpless and these messages are reinforced by a system that refuses to empower them.

If anyone feels a child is being abused or put in harm's way a Children's Aid Society (CAS) referral is made by the person receiving this information. CAS stays involved in the situation until they feel the child is no longer in danger. In domestic violence cases CAS usually stays involved until they are assured that the woman is staying away from the

abusive man. CAS places the responsibility for protecting the child onto the mother yet it is the man's abusive behavior that has put the child at risk in the first place. The implied message when CAS becomes involved is that women cannot make good decisions for themselves and their children so they need monitoring.

All three of the mothers who had CAS involvement did not quite understand the necessity for the involvement since the referral was made because of their partner's behavior. But, as Janice stated, having CAS involved was okay with her because she had nothing to hide. Brenda welcomed CAS involvement hoping that they could assist her in some way to work through the social service process and maybe assist her with finding appropriate housing for her and her son.

However, when the issue of custody goes before the family court the abusive man usually gets visitation rights. The mother must allow these visits or be held in contempt of court. On the one hand the mother is told not to allow the man visitation because she is putting her child at risk. On the other hand, the court often grants visitation to the man who has put the child at risk. The message to women is a mixed one. A mother needs to protect and be responsible for her child yet she must allow visitation of the child with the man who has put the child in harm's way. If she does not allow visitation then she can be charged with contempt of court. The underlying message from CAS and the family court system is that women are 'bad' mothers if they go back to their abusive partners, but

if the courts grant him visitation rights it is all right for the child to visit with the father. In this way the father appears to be rewarded for placing the child in danger.

The issue of abusive men having visitation with their children is an interesting one because on the one hand the abusive man has rights to see his child but on the other hand to allow a child visitation with an abusive man condones and perpetuates violence against women. In a Statistics Canada survey on wife assault done in 1994, it was found that women whose partners had witnessed violence by their fathers endured more severe and repeated violence than women whose fathers-in-law were not violent (Rodgers, 1994: 1). This finding has major implications for whether abusive men should have visitation with their children. So the question of whether abusive men should have visitation with their children goes to a much deeper level of societal concern about the ideological inequalities of our society and the implications that this has for women.

All of the women mentioned the impact that the abuse had on their children. Pam discussed her children's behavior both before and after she separated from her abusive partner. Brenda was surprised that her four year old son knew so much about the abuse and could relate it to the CAS worker. Brenda also discussed how her son would follow his father's example and hit her. The tendency for Brenda's son to repeat his father's behavior may be high because studies indicate that boys who grow up witnessing fathers hitting their mothers are more likely to assault their

wives or girlfriends (Pagelow, 1992: 110). Through learned behavior we see how the generational perpetuation of the cycle of violence continues. The societal impact of how the father treats the child's mother is tremendous because when a boy watches his father assault his mother what the child is learning is a disrespect for women in our society. This is an ideology that stays with that child into adulthood and has ramifications for how he lives his life and how he treats the women in his life.

Carol discussed how her partner uses her love for the children against her. She said her partner would rather see her with nothing than give her any support money. Carol stated that her partner knows she will protect the children and that she would do without rather than see the children suffer in any way. In this way her partner is using the love that Carol has for her children against her. Most mothers would do anything to protect their children and abusive men know this and use this as a weapon against the woman. In this way the abusive man is subtly reinforcing the ideology of motherhood and traditional values, in which women are seen as protectors and caregivers of children.

Women are at a disadvantage when custody cases go to court because a woman's private life is thrust into the public arena of the court room. In the court room everyday experiences get translated into legal discourse and legal procedures. The woman's voice and power is lost in the court room because she is represented by a lawyer who speaks for her. If a woman does not display traditional gendered behavior this can be

used against her and she runs the risk of losing her children. In chapter two, this point was discussed in the case of Judy Tyabji and lesbian women who fought to gain custody of their children. By bringing a woman's life into the courtroom this allows the state to invisibly monitor and control women's behavior. For these reasons women are marginalized and must be cautious when engaging with the family court process.

In sum, all five of the women with children in the home at the time of the abuse raised concerns about the child's welfare or their responsibility towards their child. The issue of CAS being involved with the mother after she has left the abusive home illustrates that in our society it is a mother's responsibility to protect her child. However it was the father's behavior that put the child in harm's way and the court sentence he receives is a lenient one. In chapter two the question was raised about whether the new integrated approach to domestic violence reinforces the ideology of motherhood and traditional values. From the women's comments we have seen the ideology of motherhood and traditional values reinforced in many different ways. We have also seen the impact that abusive behavior can have on children and that the safety needs of children are not always met by the police and court system.

E. Women's Safety

A major concern that women expressed in this study was that their safety needs were not being met after their abusive partner was arrested,

charged and released from jail. Fear of retaliation is a major issue for women when their abusive partner is charged. Abused women need information from the police on when their partners are released from jail. Women need to formulate a safety plan; if they think their partner is in jail they have more confidence to be out on their own. However if they know he is out of jail they will be more cautious with their activities. The police can play an important role in helping woman formulate a safety plan. However, to date, this does not appear to be happening because women are not informed of their partners' release from jail. By not giving women the knowledge they need to keep themselves and their children safe this further victimizes them.

Another theme that the women discussed in the interviews was the problem that, after their abusive partner is arrested and charged, he is released within a few hours. In five of the cases discussed here the abusive man breached his conditions of release by contacting the woman. Carol's partner called her and left a message. While the police were at Janice's house making a video taped statement her partner called her from jail at least 15 times. He was finally warned by the police to stop calling. In Pam's case her partner returned home and "scared the hell" out of her and her children. The fact that Jennie's partner had conditions placed on him by the police not to associate with her did not stop him from assaulting her. Brenda's partner was stalking her and leaving messages on her answering machine. He was arrested for breach of the conditions and

released in three days. The women in this study felt that they should be kept informed of when their abusive partner was released from jail and what his conditions of release involved.

At the time of leaving her relationship a woman is at the highest risk for being hurt because the man has nothing to lose; he has already lost his wife and children (Fischer & Rose, 1995: 418). When men breach the conditions of release or a restraining order it shows that they do not take these protective orders seriously. The problem of men being released from jail with conditions and restraining orders needs to be examined more fully by the criminal justice system because currently these protective orders do not keep women safe.

Many of the women in this study talked about fear of retaliation, nightmares and flashbacks. Some women mentioned health concerns of not being able to eat or sleep. One woman had a nervous breakdown and ended up in the psychiatric ward of the hospital and three other women stated they were on some kind of medication for their nerves. In this sense, and as Pam states, the system has to change because it works for the offender not the victim.

Fear of retaliation was an ongoing concern with most of the women in this study. When discussing this issue most women indicated that their partner had threatened them, saying that if they told anybody about his abusive behavior he would either assault them again or kill them. This is a threat that Jennie's partner continually used. After an assault, Jennie

called the police and charges were laid against her partner. Her partner was arrested and charged then he was released on conditions not to associate with her. He came to her house one night and assaulted her again. During the assault he threatened her "if you call the cops this time, I'll make sure you're dead". Jennie is terrified her partner will come back and assault her still again. As she said "he followed through on his threat the first time; what's stopping him from doing that again?". Lees (1997: 110) states that over half of the women who are assaulted and who leave their abusive partners were followed and harassed or assaulted again by them. Even those women who have been separated for two or three years are still terrified that their partner will somehow retaliate against them because they laid charges. When a woman is in an abusive relationship fear of the abusive man can work to motivate her to leave the relationship (Fischer & Rose, 1995: 420), but fear of retaliation can work to keep a woman in the relationship (Barnett & LaViolette, 1993: 48). Either way it has detrimental emotional and physical consequences for the woman and points to the need for better police protection if such fears are to be reduced.

As previously stated, 29% of women who have lived either common-law or were ever married have been sexually or physically assaulted by a marital partner at some time during the relationship (Rodgers, 1994: 2). As the murder of Arlene May indicates, just because a woman leaves an abusive relationship does not mean that she is free

from danger. A Canadian study found that 55% of all women who were murdered in Canada in 1998 died as a result of domestic violence (Fedorowycz, 1999: 1). The ability of the police to not protect women who leave abusive men is a major problem. This raises the problem of how abused women can be safe from abusive men. The women in this study suggested that they need to receive more information from the police, such as a phone call to the victim at the time of the abusive man's release from jail, and details of the conditions of his release.

In sum, although there are currently more state policies and programs in place to assist victims of domestic violence and to try to keep women safe, the reality of the society in which we live is that women today are still not safe from abusive men. Mandatory arrest policies, no drop policies, civil and criminal restraining orders, shelter programs, counseling programs for men and women and so on and so on, still have not reduced or eliminated the problem of domestic violence in our society. The bottom line is that although state policies have helped certain women, to a certain degree, they have not solved the problem of domestic violence in our society. Domestic violence is the overt accumulation of the much larger and covert societal problems that women still face today: we live in a society that is patriarchal where women are not valued. State policies and procedures that are drawn up and implemented by men do not address the structural and ideological changes that must occur if women are to be safe. The tensions within the existing system can make some difference

and give feminists within the state the opportunity to work towards change, however until the structure and ideology of society change the problem of men having power and control over women will not stop.

F. Conclusion

Overall, when we consider the three major patterns that were found in the literature on how the state has dealt with feminist demands in the past, and how the state has dealt with feminist demands within the criminal justice system, we see the same three patterns emerging in the new integrated system of domestic violence. The first pattern that was found in the literature was how universal apparently gender-neutral policies and laws mask gender and class inequalities. Although none of the women in this study discussed the SATC as having any inequalities, both the police and court system were found to contain gender and structural and ideological inequalities. The women in this study questioned why there were not more female police officers and judges to deal with domestic violence. The women also indicated that they felt the structure of the court system disadvantaged and marginalized them. None of the women were pleased with the outcome of the criminal court cases. The women felt discriminated against and felt that justice had not been served because their abusive partners received lenient sentences.

The second pattern that was found in the previous literature review was that feminist demands often get dealt with by the state in ways that leave women feeling powerless. This concern was addressed when I

asked the women in this study questions about empowerment and victimization regarding the services related to the new integrated system of domestic violence. The women felt that the SATC met their needs. They felt empowered by the process of having their physical injuries documented, and although embarrassed and ashamed at having the injuries photographed, the women also felt a sense of strength when they saw the photographs. However, the women's comments about the treatment they received from the police was contradictory. Some women felt empowered by the treatment whereas other women felt victimized by it. All of the women made comments about the video taping that could be construed as victimizing. None of the women felt that the criminal court system met their demands.

The final pattern that was found in the literature was that the state resolves feminists demands in ways that reinforce the ideology of motherhood and traditional gender values. From the women's comments we saw how the ideology of motherhood and traditional values was subtlety reinforced in the new integrated system by the police, the court system, CAS and an abusive man. This suggests that the ideology of motherhood is still emphasized in all levels in our society and unless counteracted is likely to pervade state policies regarding domestic violence in the future.

Although the new integrated system of domestic violence was initially set up to assist victims of domestic violence, it is currently not

meeting this mandate. The SATC, the police and the court system are all working together. They are sharing and providing information to each other that could assist victims of domestic violence. However the goals and aims of these three services are vastly different. The SATC offers support and encouragement to women to cooperate with the police and have the abusive man arrested and charged. It also provides the photographs to the court and emotionally supports the women through the court process. The police have their own agenda of making sure that abusive men are charged, arrested, and convicted. The court system seems to be working at cross purposes: on the one hand, they convict abusive men but, on the other hand, according to the women in this study the sentence that men receive for the abuse is not strong enough to deter them from further abusing women. Although this study has brought forth many valuable contributions it is limited by its small sample size and, since only one city with the new integrated approach to domestic violence was investigated further research on this topic could prove beneficial.

The results of this study have indicated four main pragmatic concerns related to the new integrated system of domestic violence. The first concern is that the pictures and video taped statements that the SATC and the police are taking may not be viewed by the judge in the court cases. The second concern is that when women report incidents of abuse, the police are not always taking them seriously. A third concern is that many women feel that they are not being given adequate information

either from the police or the court system about their abusive partner and the court case. Finally, there is the concern that abusive men do not take seriously either the conditions of their release after being charged with assaulting their partners or the restraining order telling them not to associate or go near their intimate partners. Bringing forth these considerations is not to suggest that more research needs to be undertaken on these issues because some of these issues have had extensive research done on them already (i.e. mandatory arrest policies and effectiveness of restraining orders). Why are these policies not working to help abused women? This study suggests that a change in focus—to the needs of women rather than to the needs of society—is required.

CHAPTER EIGHT

CONCLUSION: Policy Recommendations and Social Changes

Through listening to the women's voices on their thoughts and feeling surrounding their experience with the new integrated approach to domestic violence important issues surfaced that suggest both policy recommendations and social change need to occur if the services related to domestic violence are to meet women's needs. On the basis of this study there are five policy recommendations that I would like to propose. The first recommendation arose out of one of the women's comments about a central location for all of the agencies involved in this new integrated approach to domestic violence. After listening to the women discuss the difficulties they have in trying to obtain information from the various agencies it would be effective to have a central office where women can get the information they need about their case, with a liaison officer or someone to coordinate the services for the women. This would mean that if a woman wanted information on her situation she would not have to go to each of the services separately. This would save the victim the time and effort of approaching various individuals about her case. It could also eliminate the possibility of the victim receiving mixed and conflicting messages from various services.

The second recommendation comes from some of the comments that the women made about the police service. The police service currently has in place a department that deals solely with domestic

violence. This service is invaluable to women who want charges laid and because of this service more men are being arrested and charged. However this service is severely under staffed when you consider the number of domestic violence incidents that take place in any given year. This service needs not only more resources to carry out this valuable task but also more officers trained in the sensitive and complex issues of domestic violence. It should be a 24 hour service and it is not so at this time.

The third recommendation concerns the Victim Witness Program, a program that has the potential to do very worthwhile work. It was initially started to assist victims who are going through the court process. From the women in this study who used this service it appears not to be meeting the needs of those who need it. Several women mentioned that they could not get information on their cases from this office and that phone calls were not returned. Clearly, there is a problem with this program but what is unclear is exactly what the nature of the problem is with this program. Are women not getting the information and assistance they need because of the limited staff resources or does the program need to be restructured to meet the needs of victims? What may be called for is a further evaluation of this service.

The fourth recommendation involves the excellent work that the SATC is currently doing. In order to ensure that this service continues to meet the needs of abused women, it should be evaluated and monitored

by an independent body on an ongoing basis. In the past services that have been set up to assist victims start out doing so but often end up by not meeting the needs of the individuals they initially were set up to help. As Snider suggested the state may initially meet the demands of feminists but when attention is lessened, deflected or removed the state reverts to maintaining and servicing its own agenda. One way to ensure that the agenda of the SATC does not get distorted is to have continual monitoring by an independent body outside of the state.

The final recommendation comes from my concern that the women who I interviewed still needed to discuss the abusive relationship and the impact it had on their lives two or three years after the abusive relationship ended. One woman who had been in the abusive relationship for only three months said that the experience of being in the abusive relationship and having to deal with the services related to domestic violence still is having a profound negative impact on her life, three years after the relationship ended. The need that the women had to discuss the relationship indicates that they need a safe place to discuss and digest exactly what has happened to them. The local battered women's shelter runs group counseling sessions for anyone who has experienced domestic violence and, although all the women in this study who had contact with the shelter had positive comments to make about it, obviously for some women it is not meeting their needs. Perhaps what is needed is a combination of individual and group counseling where the women can

gather the support of others in the group but also where they can have an opportunity in private to resolve some other concerns they have about what occurred in their abusive relationship.

Overall then we can see both Boyd's theoretical perspective that women should work within the state to try and make changes and Snider's theoretical perspective that feminist should work outside the state to enact structural and ideological changes can be beneficial to women. Both of these theories have advantages and disadvantages. When feminists work within the state they can seek opportunities when contradictions and tensions arise to challenge the state and try to implement changes. This can also be a disadvantage because it is the state that provides the financial backing for services related to women. This means that there is always the risk that the state will withdraw its financial support if you protest or challenge its authority in any way. When feminists work outside the state they have the potential to be more objective or to stay more woman-centered and to see obstacles that are hindering women from receiving the services that they need. Feminists outside the state also do not have the threat of having state funds pulled out from under them. Because of this they are able to organize outside resistance to state regulations. Yet, working outside the state hinders feminists because when the opportunity for changes within the state do occur they may not be in a position to help enact these changes. The ideal would be to have

feminists working together both inside and outside the state to enact social change.

Many feminist theorists such as Boyd (1997) see the contradictions within institutions as creating pockets of resistance for change to occur. These changes are currently taking place within the new integrated system because we see the SATC as trying to challenge the way domestic violence in our society has been managed and treated before by the criminal justice system. However, we must heed Snider's comment that feminists must be cautious of relying on the criminal justice system to meet their needs. Until the ideological and structural inequalities within our society change feminists are working within a hegemonic system that will not likely meet feminist demands and goals of equality for and empowerment of women. Feminists must always be critical of changes that add women into an already existing patriarchal system, and it appears that the new integrated system for domestic violence is no exception.

If we reflect back to the beginning of the second wave of feminism, we saw a strong feminist movement that has invoked the changes from which women today profit. Part of the evolutionary process of the second wave of feminism is that many feminists started to work in institutions and government offices for change. The difficulty becomes that, once inside government agencies and once feminist projects and organizations started relying on state funding, they fell under state regulations and lost some of their autonomy. An additional difficulty is that today many women have

grown up in a society where women have more opportunities than ever before, and numerous women today are mistaken in believing equality has been achieved. As this study demonstrates, women today still have not achieved total equality and until we do what is needed is a strong feminist voice from outside the state to keep the focus on women's needs in the forefront.

Appendix One

Interview Question Schedule

Demographic Questions

			You	Part	iner's
1.	Age				
2.	Highest level of education completed				
3.	Ethnic Background				
4.	Martial Status (married, single, common law)				
5.	Occupation				
6.	Household Income before separati	on over	10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000	- 9,999 - 19,999 - 29,000 - 39,999 - 49,999 - 59,999 - 69,999 - 79,999 -	
7.	Household income after separation		10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000	- 9,999 - 19,999 - 29,000 - 39,999 - 49,999 - 59,999 - 69,999 - 79,999	
8	. How long were you in the relation	over ship?	80,000	-	<u> </u>
ç). How many children do you have?	,			
1(0. Have you ever sought intervention	n bef e	ore comin	g to the S	Sexual

Open ended questions

11. Why did you decide to participate in this research project?

Sexual Assault Treatment Center

- 12. Have you ever been through the treatment center before? When? Why?
- 13. Why did you come to the Treatment Center this time?
- 14. Tell me about your experience at the treatment center?
- 15. Do you think the process of the center was helpful to you? In what way?
- 16. Did you feel the nurses believed what you were saying? What made you think so?
- 17. Did you feel the nurses listened to what you were saying? Why did you think they were or were not listening?
- 18. Did you feel in any way that the nurses were judging you for what happened to you i.e. violence? Is so, why did you think this?
- 19. Did you feel that the nurses blamed you for the violence? If so, what made you think this?
- 20. How did you feel when the nurses were taking the photographs of your injuries? Numbed, shocked, shamed, pleased that something was being done to stop the violence?
- 21. Did you feel that you had control over what was happening at the Treatment Center? Did the nurses explain the procedure to you? Give you choices?
- 22. Did you feel the nurses respected and supported your decisions? How do you know this?
- 23. What did you like/dislike about the SATC?
- 24. If you could make changes to the procedure at the SATC what would they be?

Police

- 25. How did you become involved with the police?
- 26. Were the Police supportive of your decision to lay charges?
- 27. Have you ever laid charges before? When? Why?
- 28. Tell me about your experience with the police this time? Compared to last time.
- 29. Do you think the process of making a video taped statement was helpful to you? Why? In what way was it helpful or not helpful to you?
- 30. Did you feel the police believed what you were saying? Example?
- 31. Did you feel the police listened to what you were saying? What made you think this?
- 32. Did you feel in any way that the police were judging you for what happened to you i.e. violence? If so, why? What indication did you have that this was happening?
- 33. Did you feel that the police blamed you for the violence?
- 34. How did you feel when you were being video taped by the police? Scared, nervous, ashamed, pleased?
- 35. Did you feel that you had control over what was happening when you were making the video taped statement? What made you think this?
- 36. Did you feel the police respected and supported your decisions? Example?
- 37. Overall, what did you think about the way you were treated by the WPS?
- 38. If you could make changes to the procedure of laying charges and video taping statements what would they be?

Court Procedure

- 39. Have you ever been involved with the court system before due to violence from an intimate partner? When?
- 40. Did you have to testify in court (this time)? What was that like for you?
- 41. Do you think the court sentence that your partner received was adequate? Why or why not?
- 42. Can you think of any way to change the process to help other women who might go through a similar experience?
- 43. Tell me about your experience with the court system?
- 44. Did you feel the court believed what you were saying? If so, why?
- 45. Did you feel the court listened to what you were saying? What made you think this?
- 46. Did you feel in any way that the court was judging you for what happened to you i.e. violence? If so, why or why not?
- 47. Did you feel that the court blamed you for the violence? What gave you this indication?
- 48. Did you feel that you had control over what was happening with regards to the court process?
- 49. Were you able to make a victim impact statement to the courts? i.e. effect of violence on you after the incident. Physical/psychological impact of violence.
- 50. Did you feel the court respected and supported your decisions? Why?
- 51. Overall, what did you think about the way the court process works?
- 52. If you could make changes to the court procedure what would they be?

Appendix Two

Letter sent to the Sexual Assault Treatment Center

February 1, 1999

The purpose of this letter is to inform you that I would like to evaluate the Sexual Assault Treatment Center from the perspective of the women going through this program. Currently, I am enrolled in the Masters Program in Sociology at the University of Windsor and would like to take this project on for my theses topic. I feel that hearing from the women themselves about their experience with your program could be beneficial to the hospital and the center, not only, by strengthening your mandate to help victims of domestic violence, but also, by strengthening your ties to the community at large.

Whenever research is conducted through the University of Windsor, the research project must first be approved by the Ethics Committee at the University. The Ethics Committee is well versed in ethical issues and well grounded in ethical dimensions of research, therefore, you can be assured that both confidentiality and anonymity of the research clients will be well protected. Also, for the past seven years, as a Residential Counselor at a shelter for battered women and their children, I am well aware of the sensitive nature of working with domestic violence and the need for confidentiality as well as anonymity

Even though, my research proposal is in the preliminarily stage it is my intention to be prepared to start in-depth interviews by July 1, 1999. Therefore, I am requesting permission from the Sexual Assault Treatment Center to allow me to interview women that have been part of your treatment program. Consequently, my request to you is to have a release of information signed by women upon entering the program, so that I can obtain their names to ask them if they would like to be part of my research project.

Thank you for considering my request. I believe this project could be a valuable contribution to the excellent service you already provide. If you have any questions do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,

Sharron Jarvis

Appendix Three

Release of Information

I am conducting a study on the Sexual Assault Treatment Center for my Master's Thesis in Sociology at the University of Windsor. In order to conduct this study I have asked the Treatment Center to provide me with the names and phone numbers of women who have been involved with their program. I feel the Treatment Center offers a valuable service to women who have endured domestic violence and I believe this study could be of great benefit to other women who might use the service in the future. Any information that you provide for my study would be kept in strict confidence, and any identifying information will not be included in the study. Therefore, I would appreciate it if you might consider signing the release so that I may contact you in the future to assist me with this evaluation.

This release of information authorizes the Treatment Center to release to me only your name and phone number, so that I can contact you when I am ready to begin my research. If for some reason you do not want to participate in the study when I contact you there is no obligation to follow through with the research just because you have signed this form today.

Thank you very much for considering to be part of the study.

Sharron Jarvis

name of client (please print) phone number

signature of client date

Appendix Four

Sample letter sent to the Victim Witness Program

August 31, 1999

Sharron Jarvis Sociology & Anthropology Dept. University of Windsor 401 Sunset Street Windsor, Ontario N9B 3P4

I am a Sociology student at the University of Windsor doing my Master's thesis on how forensic evidence is gathered in domestic assault cases. What I am specifically interested in exploring is how women who have been assaulted by an intimate partner think and feel about making a video taped statement for the police and how women who have been to the Sexual Assault Treatment Center think and feel when photographs are being taken of their injuries. The main goal of my research is to see if women who are video taped and photographed feel empowered or victimized by these procedures. Another important aspect of my research project involves how women who have been abused by their intimate partners think and feel about the court sentence their partner receives when photographs and video taped statements are used as evidence in court.

It is my plan to conduct twenty active in-depth interviews with women who are over the age of 18 years, who have been involved in a domestic dispute with an intimate partner of the opposite sex, and who speak English or have a good command of the English language. The sample of women must also have inade video taped statements for the police, they must have had their injuries documented by photographs at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center, and the case has to have gone to court or the abusive person pleaded guilty.

In order to facilitate my research project what I am requesting of you is to contact women who meet the criteria asking them if they are interested in the research and would they sign the attached release of information allowing their names and phone numbers to be forwarded to me. The women could either be telephoned directly by a staff member in your office asking them to come down and sign the release of information or this letter could be mailed along with the release of information asking women to sign it and return it to your office. If these options are not feasible any other suggestions you have that would assist me in obtaining a sample would be greatly appreciated.

Whenever research is conducted through the University of Windsor, the research project must first be approved by the Ethics Committee at the University. The Ethics Committee is well versed in ethical issues and well grounded in ethical dimensions of research, therefore, you can be assured that both confidentiality and anonymity of the research clients will be well protected. Enclosed is a copy of the approval letter I received from the Ethics Committee granting permission for this research project to commence. I have also enclosed a copy of the Consent Form that I will be asking women who do the interviews to sign.

Thank you for considering my request. If you have any questions do not hesitate to contact me at my e-mail address at jarvis@uwindsor.ca.

Sincerely,

Sharron Jarvis

Appendix Five

Release of Information

I am conducting a study on the Sexual Assault Treatment Center for my Master's Thesis in Sociology at the University of Windsor. In order to conduct this study I have asked the Treatment Center to provide me with the names and phone numbers of women who have been involved with their program. I feel the Treatment Center offers a valuable service to women who have endured domestic violence and I believe this study could be of great benefit to other women who might use the service in the future. Any information that you provide for my study would be kept in strict confidence, and any identifying information will not be included in the study. Therefore, I would appreciate it if you might consider signing the release so that I may contact you in the future to assist me with this evaluation.

This release of information authorizes the Treatment Center to release to me only your name and phone number, so that I can contact you when I am ready to begin my research. If for some reason you do not want to participate in the study when I contact you there is no obligation to follow through with the research just because you have signed this form today.

Thank you very much for considering to be part of the study.

Sharron Jarvis

name of client (please print) phone number

signature of client date

Appendix Six

Consent Form

Purpose of Research

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the Sexual Assault Treatment Center from the perspective of women who go through this program. This research is being conducted for my Masters Thesis in Sociology at the University of Windsor.

Purpose of the Interviews

The purpose of the interviews is to examine your thoughts and feelings as evidence is gathered from you for a potential court case against your abusive partner. The interview consists of demographic questions, questions related to the form and severity of the abuse you have endured in the past, and open ended questions which will ask you to reflect on the process you encountered at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center. You will also be asked for any suggestions or recommendations you might have to improve the service at the Treatment Center. The interviews will take approximately 1 to 2 hours and with your permission the interview will be taped.

Confidentiality of your responses will be strictly protected. At all times the interviewer will maintain control over the tapes and transcripts. Each person interviewed will be given an identifying code number known only to the interviewer. In any report or publication your name or any identifying information will not be used. When information is used it will be presented in such a manner to prevent identification of the original source.

The Right to Refuse and Withdraw Participation

Participation in this research project is voluntary. If, for any reason, you do not feel comfortable answering particular questions, or do not want to continue participating in this project, you may withdraw at any time without explanation.

Participant's Statement of Consent

Having read and understood the purpose of the research, that my confidentiality and anonymity will be maintained, and that I have the right to refuse or withdraw from the research project at anytime, I consent to participate in this study.

NAME

(please print)_____

Signature	Date
-----------	------

Appendix Seven

Sample letter sent to women

Sharron Jarvis Sociology & Anthropology Dept. University of Windsor 401 Sunset Street Windsor, Ontario N9B 3P4

I am currently conducting a study about services related to victims of Domestic Violence for my Masters thesis at the University of Windsor. The purpose of this study is to find out what women who use these services think and feel about them. I would like to interview you. The interview will be tape recorded, last approximately one to two hours, and be held at a time and place that is convenient to you. Your identity and the information you provide will be held in the strictest confidence. By being part of this study it will give you the opportunity to discuss your experiences with the services related to domestic violence. Also, my research will incorporate your suggestions and recommendations for change.

If interested please sign and return the enclosed release of information in the stamp addressed envelope. Thank you for agreeing to be part of this study.

Sincerely

Sharron Jarvis

Appendix Eight

Release of Information

I am conducting a study on services related to victims of domestic violence for my Masters Thesis in Sociology at the University of Windsor. In order to conduct this study the Victim Witness Program has contacted you on my behalf. Any information that you provide for my study would be kept in strict confidence, and any identifying information will not be included in the study.

This release of information authorizes the Victim Witness Program to release to me only your name and phone number, so that I can contact you to set up an interview. If for some reason you do not want to participate in the study when I contact you there is no obligation to follow through with the research just because you have signed this form today.

Sharron Jarvis

name of client (please print) phone number

signature of client date

Bibliography

Andersen, Margaret

1988 <u>Thinking About Women: Sociological Perspectives on Sex</u> and Gender. New York, New York: MacMillan Publishing Company.

Armstrong, Pat

1997 "Reconstructing Private and Public: Women's Paid and Unpaid Work". In Susan Boyd (ed.) <u>Challenging The</u> <u>Public/Private Divide: Feminism, Law and Public Policy</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Armstrong, Pat and Hugh Armstrong

1996 <u>Wasting Away: The Undermining of Canadian Health Care.</u> Toronto: Oxford University Press.

Barnett, Ola and Alice LaViolette

1993 <u>It Could Happen to Anyone: Why Battered Women Stay.</u> Newbury Park: Sage Publications.

Barnett, Ola, Tomas Martinez and Mae Keyson

1996 "The Relationship Between Violence, Social Support, and Self-Blame in Battered Women." <u>Journal of Interpersonal</u> <u>Violence</u> 11 (2): 221-233.

Boyd, Susan

- 1997 "Challenging the Public/Private Divide: An Overview." In Susan Boyd (ed.) <u>Challenging The Public/Private Divide:</u> <u>Feminism, Law, and Public Policy</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- 1997 "Looking Beyond Tyabji: Employed Mothers, Lifestyles, and Child Custody Law." In Susan Boyd (ed.) <u>Challenging The</u> <u>Public/Private Divide: Feminism, Law, and Public Policy</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Burt, Sandra

1993 "The Changing Patterns of Public Policy." In Sandra Burt, Lorraine Cole, and Lindsay Darney (eds.), <u>Changing</u> <u>Patterns: Women in Canada</u>. Toronto: McClelland and Steward. Buzawa, Eve, and Carl Buzawa

- 1996 <u>Domestic Violence: The Criminal Justice Response</u>. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications, Inc..
- Buzawa, Eve, Thomas Austin and Carl Buzawa
- 1995 **"Responding to Crimes of Violence Against Women: Gender Difference Versus Organizational Imperatives".** <u>Crime & Delinquency</u>. 41 (4): 443-446.
- Chunn, Dorothy
- 1997 "À Little Sex Can Be a Dangerous Thing: Regulating Sexuality, Venereal Disease, and Reproduction in British Columbia, 1919-1945". In Susan Boyd (ed.), <u>Challenging</u> <u>The Public/Private Divide: Feminism, Law, and Public</u> <u>Policy</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Cole, Lorraine
- 1995 "How Do We Know? Questions of Method in Feminist Practice". In Sandra Burt and Lorraine Cole (eds) <u>Changing</u> <u>Methods: Feminist Transforming Practice</u>. Canada: Broadview Press.
- Cretney, Antonia and Gwynn Davis
- 1997 **"The Significance of Compellability in the Prosecution of** Domestic Assault." <u>British Journal of Criminology.</u> 37(1): 75-89.
- De Soto, Paris
- 1997 "Feminists Negotiate the Judicial Branch: Battered Woman's Syndrome." In Cynthia Daniels (ed.), <u>Feminists</u> <u>Negotiate the State: The Politics of Domestic Violence</u>. Lanham: University Press of America, Inc.
- Dutton, Mary Ann
- 1992 <u>Empowering and Healing the Battered Woman: A Model for</u> <u>Assessment and Intervention</u>. New York: Springer Pub. Co...
- Edwards, Susan
- 1989Policing 'Domestic' Violence: Women, the Law and the
State. London: Sage Publications.
- Faubert, Jacqueline and Ronald Hinch
- 1996 "The Dialectics of Mandatory Arrest Policies". Thomas O'Reilly-Fleming (ed.) <u>Post-Critical Criminology</u>. Scarborough, Ontario: Prentice Hall Canada Inc..

Fedorowycz, Orest

1999 "Homicide in Canada - 1998" <u>Juristat Canadian Center or</u> <u>Justice Statistics</u> 19 (10).

Felter, Elizabeth

1997 "A History of the States Response to Domestic Violence in the United States. In Cynthia Daniels (ed.), <u>Feminists</u> <u>Negotiate the State: The Politics of Domestic Violence</u>. Lanham: University Press of America, Inc

Ferraro, Kathleen

1993 "Cops, Courts and Woman Battering". In P. Bart and E. Moran (eds) <u>Violence Against Women: The Bloody</u> <u>Footprints</u>. Newbury Park, California: Sage Publication.

Fischer, Karla and Mary Rose

1995 "When "Enough is Enough" Battered Women's Decision Making Around Court Orders of Protection." <u>Crime and</u> <u>Delinguency</u>. 41 (4): 414-429.

Ford, David

1991 "Prosecution as a Victim Power Resource: A Note On Empowering Women In Violent Conjugal Relationships." Law and Society Review. 25 (2): 313-333.

Government of Ontario

1997 "Prevention of Violence Against Women: An Agenda for Action". Retrieved September 9, 1998: http://www.gov.ca.on.ca/owd/agendaen.htm.

Hart, Barbara

1996 "Battered Women and the Criminal Justice System". In Eve Buzawa and Carl Buzawa (eds). <u>Do Arrests and Restraining</u> <u>Orders Work</u>? Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications, Ltd..

Holstein, James and Jaber Gubrium

1995 <u>The Active Interview</u>. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

"Home Evidence called Epidemic." The Globe & Mail. July 3, 1998, A1.

lyer, Nitya

1997 "Some Mothers Are Better Than Others: A Re-Examination of Maternity Benefits." In Susan Boyd (ed.) <u>Challenging The</u> <u>Public/Private Divide: Feminism, Law, and Public Policy</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press. Jaffe, Peter, Elaine Hastings, Deborah Reitzel and Gary Austin 1993 "The Impact of Police Laying Charges". In Zoe Hilton (ed.) Legal Responses to Wife Assault: Current Trends and Evaluation. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.

Lees, Susan

- 1997 <u>Ruling Passions: Sexual Violence, Reputations and the Law.</u> Buckingham: Open University Press
- Mandal, Veronique

1999 "Body of Evidence: For Battered Women the Scars Don't Lie" <u>The Windsor Star</u>. January 9, 1999. A1.

Matlin, Margaret

1987 <u>The Psychology of Women</u>. Florida: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc..

McBride, Angela Barron

1993 "From Gynecology to GYN-Ecology: Developing a Practice Research Agenda for Women's Health." <u>Health Care for</u> <u>Women International</u>. 14 (4): 315-325.

McLaren, Angus and Arlene Tigar McLaren

1986The Bedroom and the State: The Changing Practices and
Politics of Contraception and Abortion in Canada, 1880-
1980. Toronto: McClelland and Stewart.

Millbank, Jenni

1997 "Lesbian, Child Custody, and the Long Lingering Gaze of the Law." In Susan Boyd (ed.) <u>Challenging The Public/Private</u> <u>Divide: Feminism, Law, and Public Policy</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Morton, Mildred

1990 "Controversies within Family Law." In Maureen Baker (ed.), <u>Families Changing Trends in Canada</u>. 2nd ed. Toronto: McGraw-Hill Ryerson Ltd.

Pagelow, Mildred

1992 "Adult Victims of Domestic Violence: Battered Women." Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 7 (1): 87-120.

Pollack, Sandra

1993 "Lesbian Parents: Claiming Our Visibility." In Laurel Richardson and Verta Taylor (eds.), <u>Feminist Frontiers III</u>. United States of America: McGraw-Hill, Inc.. Rigakos, George

- 1995 "Constructing the Symbolic Complainant: Police Subculture and the Nonenforcement of Protective Orders for Battered Women." <u>Violence and Victims</u>. 10: 227-257.
- 1997 "Situational Determinants of Police Responses to Civil and Criminal Injunctions for Battered Women". <u>Violence Against</u> <u>Women</u>. 3 (2): 204-216.
- Roberts, Helen
- 1985 <u>The Patient Patients: Women and Their Doctors</u>. England: Pandora Press.

Rodgers, Karen

- Schechter, Susan
- 1982 <u>Women and Male Violence: The Visions and Struggles of</u> <u>the Battered Women's Movement</u>. Boston: South End Press.
- Smart, Carol
- 1984 <u>The Ties that Bind: Laws, marriage and the reproduction of</u> patriarchal relations. Boston: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- 1989 <u>Sociology of Law and Crime: Feminism and the Power of</u> Law. London, England: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Smart, Carol and Julia Brophy

- 1985 "Locating law: a discussion of the place of law in feminist politics". In Carol Smart and Julia Brophy (eds) <u>Women in</u> <u>Law: Explorations in Law, & Sexuality</u>. Boston: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Smith, Dorothy
- 1987 "The Everyday World as Problematic: A Feminist Methodology". <u>The Everyday World as Problematic: A</u> <u>Feminist Sociology</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Snider, Laureen

1997 "The Potential of the Criminal Justice System to Promote Feminist Concerns." In Elizabeth Comack and Stephen Brickey (eds) <u>The Social Basis of Law</u>. 2nd ed. Halifax: Fernwood Publishing Ltd..

^{1994 &}quot;Wife Assault: The Findings of a National Survey". <u>Juristat</u> <u>Canadian Center for Justice Statistics</u>. 14 (9).

Sparks, Anne

1997 "Feminists Negotiate the Executive Branch: The Policing of Male Violence." In Cynthia Daniels (ed.), <u>Feminists</u> <u>Negotiate the State: The Politics of Domestic Violence</u>. Lanham: University Press of America, Inc.

Syers, Maryann and Jeffrey Edleson

1992 "The Combined Effects of Coordinated Criminal Justice Intervention in Woman Abuse." <u>Journal of Interpersonal</u> <u>Violence</u>. 7(4): 490-502.

Teghtsoonian, Katherine

1997 "Who Pays for Caring for Children? Public Policy and the Devaluation of Women's Work." In Susan Boyd (ed.) <u>Challenging The Public/Private Divide: Feminism, Law, and</u> <u>Public Policy</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Ursel, Jane and Stephen Brickey

1996 "The Potential of Legal Reform Reconsidered: An Examination of Manitoba's Zero-Tolerance Policy on Family Violence." In Thomas O'Reilly-Fleming (ed.), <u>Post-Criminal</u> <u>Criminology</u>. Scarborough: Prentice Hall Canada, Inc..

Walker, Lenore

- 1984 <u>Battered Woman's Syndrome</u>. New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- 1989 <u>Terrifying Love: Why Battered Women Kill and How Society</u> <u>Responds</u>. New York: Harper and Row.

VITA AUCTORIS

Name:	Sharron Lynne Jarvis
-------	----------------------

- Place of Birth: London, Ontario, Canada
- Date of Birth: April 16, 1949
- Education: 1968 Completed High School at H. B. Beal Secondary School, London, Ontario
 - 1992 BA (general) in Family Studies, University of Windsor, Wiridsor, Ontario
 - 1995 Certificate in Women's Studies University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario
 - 1998 BA Honours in Sociology, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario
 - 2000 Masters Degree in Sociology (Family, Sex and Gender) University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario